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PERFORMANCE REPORT 
 
Statement from the Accountable Officer 
 
Welcome to the NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning 
Group’s (CCG) 2016/17 annual report. 
 
As we come to the end of another year as a CCG, I would like to highlight some of the work we 
have been doing to improve health services for our population.  We have worked even more 
closely with our partners this year including Durham County Council, Acute and Mental Health 
hospital providers, Primary Care and the Ambulance Service to drive up the quality of care we 
deliver to our population.  We are working together more and delivering more integrated and 
focussed care for our patients.  In January 2017 we appointed a Director of Integration along 
with NHS North Durham CCG to support ongoing work with County Durham and Darlington 
NHS Foundation Trust to bring primary care, community care and social care together.  This 
will result in better care for our patients, delivered closer to home. 
 
Clinical leadership within our organisation continues to strengthen as we work with our primary 
care GP members.   Because we are a GP-led organisation, we are in a strong position to 
understand the needs of our patients and continue to improve the services we offer.  
 
We acknowledge we have some further work to do with our provider trusts so that we can 
meet our nationally set targets and this is something we are constantly working on. 
 
Emergency services regionally have been under huge pressure again this winter but some real 
positive developments have emerged over the past year to better support patient’s needs.  These 
include the launch of the 0-5 Child Health app for smart phones and ongoing work with NHS 111 
to allow them to directly book patients into their own GP appointment system.  Much of this work 
has been led through the North East and North Cumbria Urgent and Emergency Care Network 
and DDES CCG is an active member of that network and has led on many of the improvements 
that have been delivered over the last two years.   
 
Our Clinical Pharmacist pilot has been able to free up GP time to see their patients that are 
more in need of the care that only a GP can provide.  Our Clinical Pharmacists are working 
closely with their GPs and can make changes to patient’s medication and they can support the 
better management of medicines in our care homes.  They are also able to work with our 
practice nurses to manage our chronic disease management clinics such as asthma, COPD 
and Diabetic clinics.   
 
Here is what our practices say about their pharmacists: 
 
“Our Pharmacist is a great member of the team, is very flexible and highly motivated, and it 
has been a real pleasure to have her with the practice and we look forward to achieving great 
things in the coming years.” 
 
“I can see the role growing over the coming years with much more work to develop standalone 
clinics for chronic disease management and reviews in conjunction with the practice nursing 
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team.” 
 
“Our Clinical Pharmacist’s knowledge is second to none and she is a great enhancement to 
our multi-disciplinary team.” 
 
“More than ever now we are able to identify and target areas of prescribing where 
improvement can be made, and follow these through, including face to face consultations with 
a Clinical Pharmacist to make medication changes and check patient understanding and 
compliance.” 
 
We continue to work with our general practices and have an extremely high standard of 
general practice across our CCG.  CQC have rated two of our practices as ‘outstanding’ and 
thirty as ‘good’ with only one requiring improvement.  We still have seven practices to be 
assessed by CQC. 
 
Our practices are now becoming more involved in wrapping their community teams around 
their practices and are working within budgets to take on accountability for not only primary 
care, but also the acute and community care that is available to their patients.  In order to 
deliver this, our practices are working in clusters, covering populations of between 30,000 and 
50,000 people. 
 
This will all form part of our Five Year Forward Vision for Primary Care and will ultimately lead 
to what we hope will be the development of an Accountable Care Organisation across primary 
care, community services and social care. 
 
As we continue to improve access to care for our patients, we have reviewed the provision of 
urgent care services and from 1 April 2017, urgent care services during the day will be 
provided from your own GP surgery.  GPs will also work together in hubs to provide extended 
opening hours up until 8 pm each weekday and on Saturdays and Sundays.  In Easington, the 
GPs have decided to continue working in their urgent care hubs in Peterlee, Seaham and in 
Healthworks, but the ultimate aim is to improve access to patients within their own GP surgery 
where they will receive continuity of care from their own GPs and nurses. 
 
Patient and public involvement continues to be at the heart of everything we do.  Our public 
consultation on urgent care services across the area was widely praised by our stakeholder as 
being extensive, inclusive and an example of best practice and we worked with our patients to 
improve the way we deliver services across our localities. We continue to promote our work 
and involve our patients in our work through Patient Reference Groups, development events 
and our annual Commissioning Intentions event. 
 
We have again exceeded the required financial surplus in an increasingly difficult financial 
environment which we are proud of. 
 
No significant internal control issues have been identified. 
 
 
 
 
Dr Stewart Findlay  
Accountable Officer  
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Performance Overview 
About DDES Clinical Commissioning Group  
NHS Durham, Dales, Easington and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) is the 
statutory health body responsible for planning and buying (commissioning) of local NHS care 
and services to meet the needs of the local community. Our membership consists of 38 GP 
practices across 3 localities and we are responsible for a local registered population of 
290,754. 
  
As statutory organisations, CCGs should:  
 
•Offer patients greater choice and control in how their health and care needs are met;  
•Provide a greater focus on improving health outcomes;  
•Improve the quality and consistency of healthcare services delivered;  
•Understand and plan for the healthcare needs of patients now and in the future;  
•Purchase high quality services that offer value for money;  
•Develop and design services in partnership with patients, the public, clinicians and other key 
stakeholders.  
 
Durham Dales Locality  
Durham Dales has a registered population of 91,700 people, some of whom reside in small 
urban areas but the majority are in large rural areas. This locality covers 540 square miles 
and offers significant challenges to delivering healthcare. Local health services are mainly 
delivered through its 12 GP practices. 
 
Easington Locality 
Easington has a registered population of 102,321 people in a mixture of urban and rural 
areas. The two main towns are Seaham and Peterlee with populations of over 20,000 
people. This area is one of the most deprived nationally and its population has very 
significant health challenges and poorer health outcomes than most other areas across both 
the CCG and the country. The locality area covered by Easington is approximately 145 
square km and local health services are delivered mainly through 16 GP practices. 
 
Sedgefield Locality 
Sedgefield has a registered population of 96,733 people and the majority of the population 
lives within towns of Newton Aycliffe, Spennymoor, Shildon and Ferryhill. There are some 
small villages and coalfield communities in the more rural eastern area. This locality covers 
217 square km and local health services are delivered mainly through its 10 GP practices. 
Working as a CCG, we commission high-quality services that offer value for money. By 
working closely with local family doctors (GPs) we understand the needs that our patients 
have. At DDES CCG we put those GPs in a leading role, so we can use their healthcare 
knowledge to develop a range of services that will meet the needs of patients at a local level. 
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This includes health services that are delivered in both an emergency and in a planned way. 
These services include:  
 
•planned and emergency hospital care;  
•rehabilitation and intermediate care services;  
•community services such as district nurses and physiotherapists;  
•mental health services;  
•learning disability services;  
•ambulance services;  
•maternity care;  
•GP services  
 
We also arrange emergency and urgent care services throughout the area and commission 
services for any unregistered patients who live locally. CCGs are clinically-led organisations 
that bring together a range of healthcare professionals, such as GPs and nurses, with 
managers to use their collective knowledge about healthcare and the local population in order 
to develop services that meet their patient’s needs.  
 
We think it is important for local people to have a say in the kind of health services that are 
available. We involve local people, patients and carers at every stage of our healthcare 
planning and delivery decision-making processes.  
 
We are committed to improving clinical engagement in the CCG. We have from the outset had 
a clinical accountable officer and clinicians as directors of the organisation. In addition, we 
have developed further clinical roles including locality leads, quality leads, prescribing leads 
and clinical champions. They ensure clinicians are involved in leading the development of our 
strategy and our commissioning intentions. They are also involved in making sure we use our 
resources efficiently and that we drive up the quality of care that is provided for our population. 
 
The main health challenges facing the communities across Durham Dales, Easington and 
Sedgefield are linked to an increasingly ageing population that has significant and complex 
long-term conditions. In addition, an increasing number of people have poor health related 
conditions such as obesity, diabetes, respiratory disease, depression, dementia and coronary 
heart disease resulting in premature death, all of which result in significant health inequalities.  
 
The population also faces higher than average unemployment rates, severe deprivation, poor 
housing and isolation in many of our rural communities. 
  
At least 50% of our population has at least one long term condition. 
 
Our priorities 
 
The main health challenges facing the communities across Durham Dales, Easington and 
Sedgefield are linked to an increasingly ageing population that has significant and complex 
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long-term conditions.  
 
The amount of money we have to spend on healthcare services for local people is limited 
and we know how important it is to get the best value for money when we are planning 
healthcare services. That is why we make sure all our decisions take account of the need to 
get the most out of all the services we pay for. 
 
Our vision is to: ‘Work together for excellent health for the local communities of Durham 
Dales, Easington and Sedgefield’. 
 
We regularly review our local healthcare needs by continuously talking to our patients, 
carers, doctors and other healthcare professionals, and the public. Our priorities are also 
informed by the needs and inequalities identified for our area in the Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy for County Durham.   
 

DDES CCG is involved in the development of both the strategy and the associated delivery 
plan.  The Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy delivery plan includes a number of specific 
strategic actions that describe how the CCG will contribute towards delivery and these 
actions are monitored on a quarterly basis.   We take the opportunity to regularly review 
outcome data with our partners to understand if our joint actions are having a positive 
impact. 
 
Our CCG aims and objectives are aligned with the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy for 
County Durham to ensure an integrated approach to the improvement of health and wellbeing 
across our localities.  Updates are provided to the Health and Wellbeing Board on a regular 
basis on key CCG developments. 

Preventing ill health from occurring in the first place and enabling residents to access the right 
services in their local community to maintain their own health and independence is 
fundamental.  Working closely with communities and wider stakeholders such as pharmacy 
and the Voluntary Community Sector are key mechanisms for the CCG to work to address the 
health inequalities we face.  By focusing on the whole person and not just the illness someone 
presents with, we appreciate the importance of working collaboratively with other 
commissioners to provide joined up support and care. 

We have consulted with a member of the Health and Wellbeing Board who has added to our 
report and confirmed this report accurately reflects the way in which we work together. 
 
Top 6 national clinical priorities set by NHS England are shown below. More details are shown 
in our performance analysis: 
 
1. Diabetes 
2. Cancer 
3. Learning Disabilities 
4. Mental 
5. Maternity 
6. Dementia 
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Working in Partnership  
 
DDES CCG has effective and active collaboration arrangements with a range of NHS, 
local government, community and voluntary providers with strong links with the Health and 
Wellbeing Board, evidenced by the production of a credible Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment and Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 
 

 
The CCG has a close working relationship with organisations across Darlington, Durham and  
Tees and has worked in partnership with these organisations for several years on what is 
now called the Better Health Programme (previously Securing Quality in Health Services).   
 

 
To support the development of our 16/17 operational plans, the CCG has used the information 
produced by ‘Right Care’ to determine its priority areas and understand variation in demand 
and outcomes. (Right Care is an established NHS England programme, designed to increase 
the value from the resources allocated to healthcare and directly address variations in spend, 
activity and outcomes by improved clinical involvement in commissioning and stronger patient 
involvement through shared decision making). 
 

 
This will be tackled through a range of initiatives identified in this document covering primary 
care, acute care, community care and social care and has close links with the Better Health 
Programme (BHP) to ensure all organisations are working towards the same standards to 
reduce unwarranted variations.  
 

 
As part of the BHP, organisations across Darlington, Durham, Teesside, Hambleton, 
Richmondshire and Whitby are reviewing and consulting on the services that are provided 
to make sure that; 
 
• They meet the needs of the population, 
• They are of a consistently high standard across all providers, 
• They have the staffing and resources to be sustainable into the future. 
 

 
As part of the programme, commissioners are working with clinicians across the area to 
identify what the best possible care should look like and the standards required to ensure that 
this care is achieved. The focus of this work is around acute in-hospital care supported by 
care outside of hospital including services which will help reduce the number of people who 
require hospital care, and help people maintain independent lives. The Better Health 
Programme now forms part of the Sustainability and Transformational Plan for the southern 
part of the region.  
 
The CCG is also part of the North East Urgent Care Network (NEUCN), covering a population 
of 2.71 million spread across diverse geographies, incorporating large pockets of both densely 
populated and dispersed populations. 
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The NEUCN vision is to reduce unwarranted variation and improve the quality, safety and 
equity of urgent and emergency care provision by bringing together local A & E Delivery 
Boards and group stakeholders to radically transform the system at scale and pace which 
could not be delivered by a single group. 
 
NHS DDES CCG is also part of a wider transformation plan to: 
 
• Improve services for people with learning disabilities, enhancing community 

provision and reducing reliance on hospital treatment beds. 
• implement the Children and Young People’s Mental Health Transformation Plan 

placing the emphasis on resilience, prevention and early intervention, improving 
access to effective support, caring for the most vulnerable. This will be supported 
by workforce development. The transformation plan includes a number of schemes 
such as improving access to community based care, enhancing community eating 
disorder services, further development of crisis services and support for the most 
vulnerable patients with complex needs. 

 
County Durham and Darlington Local A&E Delivery Board (LADB) 
 
The LADB replaces the System Resilience Group (SRG) and acts as a forum where partners 
from across the health and social care economy come together to discuss strategic aims, 
objectives and a systems approach in relation to improving Accident and Emergency (A&E) 
performance.  This transformation was mandated by NHS England in their correspondence to 
Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) Accountable Officers in July 2016 following a review of 
SRGs which identified the need for local leadership structures to focus specifically on Urgent 
and Emergency Care and to be attended at the Executive level by member organisations. The 
County Durham and Darlington LADB was formed in September 2016 with Sue Jacques, 
Chief Officer, County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust (CDDFT) as Chair and 
Stewart Findlay Chief Clinical Officer, NHS DDES CCG as Vice Chair to deliver the national 
A&E Improvement Plan. 
 
The LADB takes a whole system approach to improve A&E performance. Primarily this is 
about recovery of the 4 hour target but the LADB is also working with Sustainable 
Transformation Plan (STP) groupings and the Urgent and Emergency Care Network (UECN) 
on the longer term delivery of the Urgent and Emergency Care Strategy. 
It is the LADB’s responsibility to coordinate and oversee five mandated improvement 
initiatives, which have been developed by experts in the field of emergency care, with a focus 
on outcomes and processes, as follows: 
 

1. Streaming at the front door – to ambulatory and primary care: This will 
reduce waits and improve flow through emergency departments by allowing staff 
in the main department to focus on patients with more complex conditions. 

2. NHS 111 – increasing the number of calls transferred for clinical advice: 
This will decrease call transfers to ambulance services and reduce A & E 
attendances. 
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3. Ambulances – Review of computer coding and workforce: This will help us 
move towards the best model to enhance patient outcomes by ensuring all those 
who contact the ambulance service receive an appropriate and timely clinician 
and transport response. The aim is for a decrease in conveyance and an 
increase in “hear and treat” and “see and treat” to divert patients away from the 
Emergency Department (ED). 

4. Improved patient movement through services: Our providers are working 
hard to reduce the length of a patient’s stay in hospital, and are implementing 
the S.A.F.E.R principles (Senior Review. All Patients. Flow of Patients. Early 
Discharge. Review).  This aims to facilitate clinicians working more 
collaboratively in the best interests of patients. 

5. Discharge from hospital -  All of health and social care developing a 
“Discharge to Assess” model will greatly reduce delays in discharging and points 
to home as the first port of call if clinically appropriate. This will require close 
working with local authorities on social care to ensure successful implementation 
for the whole health and care system. 
 

As part of the A&E Improvement Plan, the Emergency Care Improvement Programme (ECIP) 
Team carried out an intensive whole system diagnostic in November 2016.  As a 
consequence four key priority areas for improvement across the system have been identified:  
 

a) Leadership 
b) Assessment prior to admission 
c) Doing today’s work today 
d) Discharge to assess 

 
A dedicated Lead from the ECIP Team will work with system leads across the County to 
implement the agreed priorities and high impact recommendations over the next 12 months. A 
LADB Operations Group has been set up with membership made up of the designated leads 
for specific aspects of taking forward and implementing the ECIP recommendations. 
 
Sustainability and Transformational Plans  
 
Transformational schemes and local CCG ambitions have been aligned to STP priority areas 
which are Early Intervention and Prevention, Neighbourhood & Communities, Acute 
Reconfiguration and Digital Care & Technology. This ensures the strong connection to the 
STP which supports joined up delivery, whilst ensuring consistency and alignment.  
 
Through The Better Health Programme, experienced clinical staff from the local NHS – 
including hospital consultants and GPs - have been looking at how we provide consistently 
high standards of hospital care. These plans are being fed into the Sustainability and 
Transformational Plans so we can meet the emerging challenges around workforce pressures 
required to deliver clinical standards within a 7-day service.  Primary Care, Local Authorities, 
Public Health, Voluntary Sector and all providers are involved in developing these plans.  
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The NHS Five Year Forward View set out a requirement for local NHS organisations to work 
with partner organisations on the development of Sustainability and Transformation Plans 
(STPs), which must focus on four areas for improvement:  
 
• Preventing ill health and increasing self-care (this will mean a much greater focus on 

supporting people to stay at home) 
• Health and care in communities and neighbourhoods (this will result in better access to 

local services and much more care being provided in communities and in people’s own 
homes to reduce avoidable hospital admissions and support people to stay 
independent) 

• Quality of care in our hospitals (this will be delivered through the “Better Health 
Programme”) 

• Use of technology in health care. 
 
It is clear that services we provide cannot continue in their present form . They are unable to 
address the key challenges of health and wellbeing, care and quality, and finance and 
efficiency which we are currently facing. The clinical strategy is a system wide solution, 
(Figure 1) – from effective screening and prevention to more integrated community models of 
care and finally hospital based services transformed so that more local services are provided 
closer to home but access to specialist Consultants is enhanced (Figure 2). Less variation, 
with an associated improvement in quality, would be a key outcome at every stage of a 
patient’s pathway with services delivered in an extended day, 7 days per week. 
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Some of the discussions we have been having through the Better Health Programme have 
been around ensuring that people with serious or life threatening needs receive the right level 
of specialist care to maximise their chances of survival and a good recovery – even if it means 
going past the nearest hospital. 
 
In July 2016 the Better Health programme announced that this could mean specialist 
emergency care being provided from fewer sites in the future. The programme is looking 
seriously at the development of proposals for how hospital services could be provided in the 
future to ensure they meet national standards and provide the best possible care to give 
patients, particularly those with life threatening conditions. Proposals could impact on each of 
the three hospitals in Darlington, Durham and Tees. There is public awareness that proposals 
could result in two emergency centres (instead of the current three), one of which would offer 
highly specialist care for seriously ill or injured people. 
 
To date we have relied more on hospital based care than other parts of the country. We want 
to strengthen care outside of hospital so that neighbourhoods, communities and individuals 
are able to take more control of their health and maintain independence for longer whilst 
preventing or delaying the need for more services in acute and community care.  
The development of Community Hubs for the DDES population supports a shared 
commissioning vision across Health and Social Care to improve access, continuity and 
coordination of community-based health and care services.  
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The 9 Must Dos 

 
 
Better Health Programme - what patients have been telling us  
 
NHS staff have been visiting communities to talk about what the NHS does well, and where it 
could improve. Many people were concerned about access to their local doctor and the 
national and local shortage of doctors. We are working on plans to improve our recruitment of 
doctors, and to develop new roles to support them in caring for their patients. We are also 
looking at how GP practices and other services can work together more effectively. People 
were also concerned about access to mental health services, and felt that more support 
should be available locally. We asked people what issues we should consider when services 
need to change. They thought the most important issues were: 
 
Over the next few months, more work will be done to develop the draft STP plan, working with 
local councils and other partners including the voluntary sector, with the Better Health 
Programme continuing as an important part of the process. 
 
Another important theme was information and communication. People didn’t feel they 
understood the services that were available, which they should use, and when. This was a 
problem in urgent care and emergency care. They also expressed frustration at the frequent 
need to retell the background to their illness and care when they came across a new 
professional. People were surprised that hospitals did not have routine access to GP records 
that would provide this background – particularly in an emergency. They were supportive of 
the NHS sharing their records, where this would improve their care, and with safeguards and 
opt-outs in place. 
 



NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Group Annual report 2016/17 

 

Page 14 

Consultation is expected to begin in the Summer of 2017. To find out more about the Better 
Health Programme please email necsu.betterhealthprogramme@nhs.net. To find out more 
about the STP in Durham Dates, Easington, Sedgefield, Darlington, Tees, Hambleton, 
Richmondshire & Whitby please email necsu.stp@nhs.net.  
A summary booklet explaining the STP can be found on the www.nhsbetterhealth.org.uk 
website under the header ‘About Better health’. 
 

Commissioning Intentions  

Commissioning intentions indicate to current and potential new providers how, as a 
commissioning organisation, we intend to shape the healthcare system that serves the 
population of Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield. They demonstrate how we will 
respond to health needs, local clinical priorities and the national priorities for the NHS 
outlined by NHS England. 

In 2016/17 our priorities were: 

• Mental Health 
• Learning Disabilities 
• Cancer 
• Community Services 
• Urgent and Emergency Care 
• Developing Sustainable Primary Care 

 
In November 2016 we held our annual Commissioning Intentions Event, an event for 
voluntary organisations, Trusts, The Health Networks, Durham County Council, 
Healthwatch and the public.  We shared with them what we had achieved over the past 12 
months and the proposed commissioning intentions based on national and local analysis. 
These intentions have been developed with our local authority stakeholders and will also be 
included in the local Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 

Our local priority areas for the next two years will be: 

• Development of community teams around practices (TAPs) 
• Mental Health 
• Maternity Services 
• Learning Disabilities 
• Self-care 
• Cancer 
• Primary Care 

These intentions and feedback from the event are also included in the CCG’s Operational and 
Sustainability Transformation Plans and form the basis of our delivery plan over the next few 
years. 

 

mailto:necsu.betterhealthprogramme@nhs.net
mailto:necsu.stp@nhs.net
http://www.nhsbetterhealth.org.uk/
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RightCare  

 
In line with the NHS Improvement and Assessment Framework, NHS RightCare is a proven 
approach that delivers better patient outcomes and frees up funds for further innovation. 
RightCare highlights areas of variation where spend and/or outcomes differ from similar 
populations.   In 2016/17 we focused on the following areas: 
 

• Maternity – women smoking at the time of delivery 
• Respiratory disease including unplanned admissions and the cost of prescribing  
• Musculoskeletal admissions including treatment for back pain, admissions for tests and 

hip and knee procedures  
• Falls and fractures in older people  
• Dementia Prevalence;  

 
 

Transforming Primary Care 

The CCG published a Primary Care Strategy to set the direction of travel for developing 
general practice, the main objectives being: 

 
• Development of access to healthcare services seven days a week around the patient; 
• Improving services for frail and vulnerable patients 
• Encouraging GP practices to work together 
 
The General Practice Forward View will be implemented over the next five years and NHS 
England expect to invest an extra £2.4bn per year annually by 2021.  This money will be 
invested in the following areas: 

 
• Practice resilience programme  
• Services for doctors with burn out  
• Workforce measures  
• Redesign of services  

 
The CCG ensured that the Primary Care Strategy and Delivery Plan were aligned to the 
General Practice Forward View and also made a submission to NHS England on the 23rd 
December 2016 to outline their plans for delivering on the elements contained within the view. 
 
Objective 1: Development of access to healthcare services seven days a week and 
wrapping services around the patient 

Primary Care Access and Additional Extended Opening Hours 
 
Changes will take place in the way Urgent Care Services are delivered from 1st April 2017. 
This means that Urgent Care centres will be closed during the day and additional 
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appointments made available within GP Practices. This will build on the work that has already 
been done to ensure that patients have the opportunity to be seen in General Practice on a 
Saturday. From 1st April 2017 GP Practices, or groups of practices known as Hubs, will be 
offering additional appointments between the hours of 8am and 8pm Monday to Friday and 
from 8am - 1pm on both Saturday and Sunday.  
 
Objective 2: Improving services for frail and vulnerable patients, minimising the 
number of people involved in their care and ensuring that all professionals work from a 
common care plan 
 
Over 2016/17 the CCG has been committed to the development of ‘at Scale’ working with the 
aim of meeting the above objective.  
 
Primary Care Mental Health Workers  
 
Primary Care Mental Health Workers - Mental Health is a high priority for both CCGs. There 
are a large number of services provided by Tees Esk and Wear Valley NHS Foundation Trust 
(TEWV), voluntary and community sector organisations plus some private providers. It is 
therefore difficult when a patient presents at general practice for the practitioner to have 
knowledge of all available services and this results in some patients not being referred into the 
most appropriate service for their needs first time. To aim to address this issue DDES CCG 
has proposed working with TEWV and the DDES GP Federations to develop a service model 
that would see Community Psychiatric Nurses (CPN’s) aligned to work in and alongside 
general practice. The service went live on 1st April 2016 and every practice now has an 
allocated nurse that provides advice, support and a signposting service to improve the mental 
health and wellbeing to all patients across DDES.  The service is in high demand and 
receiving around 40 referrals a week ensuring that patients are referred into the most 
appropriate service for their needs first time, providing care closer to home, improving patient 
access, outcomes and experience. 
 
Objective 3: Encouraging GP practices to work together. GPs have traditionally worked 
separately yet there is a growing realisation that general practice has to work at a 
larger scale to extend access beyond core hours and compete for community based 
services as they move out of hospital. 
 
To ensure that our GP Practices can work together as the objective states we need to ensure 
that practices are both resilient and have the appropriate workforce they require.  
 
Practice Resilience 
 
DDES CCG is committed to working with our practices to ensure that they are sustainable and 
resilient in the future. During 2016/17 this has been done in a variety of ways.  
 

• Vulnerability Index - This is an initiative developed by DDES to identify practices 
requiring support. 
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• Practice resilience Funds – In September 2016 NHS England released the practice 
resilience fund. A number of practices from across the CCG areas were successful in 
their bids to this fund as were the CCG themselves. The CCG has funding to develop a 
support infrastructure.   

• Vulnerable Practice Fund – a separate vulnerable practice fund was also released by 
NHS England and again a number of practices within NHS DDES CCG were 
successful with their bids. 

 
Primary Care Workforce 
 
The Primary Care workforce is a predominant element of the General Practice Forward View 
and has an impact on other areas such as work load and practice sustainability. The CCG has 
developed a ‘5 Point Plan’ that will aim to develop the GP specific workforce aspect. This 
includes:- 
 

• International Recruitment – both EU and non-EU 
• GP Career Start  
• GP Career Extension 
• Practice Resilience 
• Federation Salaried GP’s. 

 
Geographically the area does not offer the same economic or lifestyle choices that other parts 
of the North East can offer a GP and their family when making a life commitment to a 
workplace.  With the support of Health Education England we committed to reverse this 
downward spiral by launching ‘Career Start’.  By offering newly qualified GPs the opportunity 
of guaranteed continuing education DDES has recruited seven new GPs.  
 
We will promote the career start scheme as an employment route for aspirant/trainee GPs 
who are in their final stages (ST3) of training. We will explore portfolio opportunities with other 
providers as part of the GP career start development. 
 
DDES CCG is seeking to recruit GPs from overseas. This is a nationally driven initiative and 
the CCG will align its work to these requirements. 
 
The wider Primary Care Workforce is also important and therefore the CCG have also 
developed a Primary Care Workforce Work Plan which looks at Nursing, Practice Managers, 
Pharmacists, Healthcare Assistants and Clerical/Administrative staff.  
 

• Clerical and Administrative Staff – As part of the NHS England workforce funds outlined 
in the General Practice Forward View, funds are dedicated specifically to the 
development of Clerical and Admin staff. There are two elements of this, the first is 
skilling up clerical and admin staff to undertake appropriate duties from the clinical staff, 
therefore freeing up time for them to carry out clinical responsibilities. The second 
element of this was to train clerical and admin staff to become Care Navigators. The 



NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Group Annual report 2016/17 

 

Page 18 

newly formed Community Education Provider Network (CEPN) is taking responsibility 
for deciding on the best way to use this money to gain the most beneficial outcome.  
 

• Pharmacists – DDES CCG is committed to supporting our member practices and 
federations with the NHS Clinical Pharmacy Pilots. Two out of three federations were 
successful within the first wave and that has resulted in eleven practices receiving the 
support of clinical pharmacists. The CCG Medicines Optimisation (MO) Team have 
supported with inductions, training and any mentor requirements the pharmacists have 
had. The role of the pharmacist varies according to the needs of the practices. 
However, they are all involved in shifting workload away from GP’s by completing 
discharge reconciliations, medication reviews and clinics covering many therapeutic 
areas.  After only 8 months the practices are already reporting significant benefits of 
employing clinical pharmacists, in time saved and also patient benefits with regard to 
safety of medicines. 

 
Primary Care Investment 

 
The CCG has invested more in Primary Care as this is where the future delivery is community 
services will be centred around.  This investment will continue subject to affordability. To date 
this investment has been by way of a quality scheme which focusses on key areas on 
improvement and Enhanced Services that allow GP Surgeries to be able to do more work in 
the practice rather than sending people to hospitals.  
 

Teams around Practices (TAPs) 
(Formerly referred to as Community Hubs).   

Services for some of our patients are currently fragmented and there is significant duplication 
in care. There is also an over reliance on hospital based services for the DDES population 
and higher than expected rates of admission to hospital. There is an opportunity for more pro-
active management of patients with a long term condition, those at risk of admission to 
hospital. Preventing admissions to hospital will free up funding to invest in enhanced 
community based services and to meet the expected number of patients that will require 
healthcare services. 

We want to improve access, continuity and coordination of community based health care 
services by using healthcare teams that work in support of our GP practices.  These teams 
will manage the health budget for their population. The teams in these services will include 
community services, allied health professionals, social services, and specialist nurses and will 
be linked to GP practices using the Primary Care Home model. High risk patients such as the 
frail and elderly and those with chronic conditions will be targeted and intense resource 
allocated accordingly with a focus on self-management, so patients are not passive recipients 
of care and are supported to co-manage their care. 
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Review of urgent and emergency care services 
 
North East and Emergency Care Network 
 
All NHS organisations in the North East are part of the North East Urgent and Emergency 
Care Network. In 2016/17 the network received £2.9m from NHS England’s New Care Models 
programme to implement various schemes across the North East. 

Some of these schemes included: 

• Respond - simulation training package for mental health crisis care which rolled out 
across the region following its successful launch in September. Its aim is to transform 
professional responses to mental health crisis through better collaboration and 
knowledge 

• Under 5 app (NHS child health) – the app gives easy to understand guidance on 
childhood illnesses and recognising when your child is unwell, as well as advice on 
when and where to seek treatment 

• Behavioural analysis - A key element of the network’s approach is undertaking high 
quality market research to understand the views and behaviours of patients and NHS 
staff in relation to urgent and emergency care services 

• Great North Care Record - The Great North Care Record (also known as MIG – 
Medical Interoperability Gateway) aims to bring the region up to a common standard of 
information-sharing, saving time and improving patient safety. The MIG enables real-
time access to key primary care patient information at the point of care (emergency 
departments, GP out of hours services, mental health trusts, NHS 111 and the 
ambulance service) 

• Flight deck - a real-time application displaying the current status of emergency care 
across the region as well as predicting the likely scenario four to twelve hours ahead 

• Clinical hub - the clinical hub involves Emergency Department consultants working 
within the hub on Monday and Friday 6–10pm and Saturday and Sunday 8am– 4pm to 
provide enhanced clinical assessment of patients who would otherwise be directed to 
their nearest Emergency Department 

 
Local Implementation 
 
In July 2015, the North East Urgent & Emergency Care Network (UECN) was confirmed 
as one of eight new urgent and emergency care Vanguards which the CCG is part of.  
The programme is an important part of the NHS Five Year Forward View, which sets out 
the health, quality of care and funding gaps that will open up if the NHS does not change. 
 
During 2016/17, the CCG as part of the UECN has successfully delivered a number of 
initiatives that are designed to improve the quality of care and contribute to addressing the 
funding gaps identified. 
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Such initiatives include: 
 

• The introduction of a Clinical Advice Service that is available to call handlers for 
patients who have called 111 and health care professionals seeking further clinical 
advice, which ensures that patients can be better provided with the Right Care in the 
Right Place First time and also supports clinicians ensuring no decisions are made in 
isolation. 

 
• RESPOND mental health training which improves the way multiple services work 

together to provide care for patients in crisis. 
 
• Direct booking of appointments into GP Practices for patients calling 111. 
 
• System wide social marketing developing activities aimed at changing or maintaining              

people’s use of health services. 
 

• Enhancing how health care providers utilise the Directory of Services to improve 
referral pathways for patients. 

 
• The development of a region wide IT system which allows providers to understand 

system wide pressure collectively and collaborative where possible. 
 
To ensure that we continue to improve urgent and emergency care services, the CCG are 
contributing to the development of the UECN strategy for 2017 to 2020. 
 
Review of urgent care services 
 
Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Group (DDES CCG) began 
a review in 2014 of their urgent care services.  As part of the review, we asked local people 
what was important to them and developed alternative proposals for service delivery.   
The CCG undertook a twelve week consultation and  will be providing an improved service to 
meet the urgent care needs of our population, resulting in some changes to services currently 
being delivered. Continued provision of minor injury (nurse led) and GP out of hours services 
(GP led) will be complemented by extended and enhanced GP services. Appointments will be 
extended from 6-8pm and there will be extended weekend provision on a Saturday and 
Sunday. In addition to this there will be enhanced availability of same day urgent 
appointments within GP practices in Primary Care Services centres. 
 
This new service model went live on April 1st 2017 and will be monitored and reviewed  upon 
implementation.  The new service will encourage patients to ‘talk before you walk’ to book 
appointments to avoid having to wait and to use the NHS111 service outside of GP opening 
hours. 
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Services for Frail and Elderly Patients 

In March 2015 NHS England published guidance on avoiding unplanned admissions: 
proactive case finding and patient review for vulnerable people. The enhanced service is 
designed to help reduce avoidable unplanned admissions by improving services for vulnerable 
patients and those with complex physical or mental health needs, who are at high risk of 
hospital admission or readmission.  
 
To support people to live independently for as long as possible we need to work more closely 
with the local authority. The Everyone Counts, Planning for Patients (2014/18) planned to 
‘Transform the care of patients aged 75 or older and reducing avoidable admissions by 
providing funding/support to do so’. This funding is £5 per head of NHS DDES CCG 
population and equates to £1.4m annually. We have worked with our GP Federations to 
develop services to support frail and vulnerable elderly patients that are tailored to the needs 
of our specific communities. These services have now been in place for 3 years and have 
proven very successful and have provided invaluable support to our care homes. 
 

The GP federations have developed and implemented services that can target health needs 
based on a detailed knowledge of the at risk population. The models have elements in 
common in that advanced nurse practitioners are providing proactive support for patients to 
reduce risk of admission to hospital and care coordinators to ensure patients are signposted 
to the most appropriate services for their needs 7 days per week. 
 
The core aim of the Vulnerable Adults Wrap Around Service (VAWAS) is to provide new care 
plans, regularly carry out patient medication reviews and review those care plans at least 
every six months. 
 

The services have contributed to: 

• Reduction in in-hours and out-of-hours avoidable admissions 
(reduce by set target %); 
 

• Reduction in admissions for dementia patients living in care homes; 
 

• Reduction in hospital lengths of stay and lengths of stay of less than 
one day for patients over 65 years of age; 

 
• Reduction in A&E attendances (including UCC) in the at risk group; 

 
• Prevention of falls; 

 
• Reduction in demand on A&E on a Monday from self- 

referrals (through named GP); 
 

• Reduction in delayed transfers to support patient flow. 
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Dementia 
 
We continue to work closely with neighbouring CCGs and Tees, Esk and Wear Valley NHS 
Foundation Trust so we can plan and support people with dementia. 
 
Summary for NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield dementia registers  

  
People Diagnosed with Dementia (Age 65+) 2,811 

Estimated Prevalence (Age 65+) 3,513 

Gap - Number of addition people who could benefit from diagnosis (all 
ages)  751 

NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield  - Dementia Diagnosis 
Rate (Age 65+) 80.0% 

National estimated Dementia Diagnosis Rate 67.3% 

 
We have an ageing population in DDES and the lack of awareness in available services 
remains a focus. We are aiming to bring together people living with dementia, their carers, 
care providers, commissioners and other stakeholders to help them understand what is 
available to support them. This will create a shared understanding of dementia care 
pathways for patients and carers 
 
We are looking at developing strong messages around dementia prevention and third 
sector groups are also working with us to share their first hand insight to identify needs of 
dementia patients when they are in the early stages of dementia, 
 
We want to ensure that there is adequate health provision in place to support patients both 
in and out of hours and when crisis support becomes necessary.  This in turn, will reduce 
the emergency re admissions and ensure better outcomes for our patients 
 
The Dementia Strategy for County Durham and Darlington is available on the NHS DDES 
CCG  website 

 

Diabetes 

Commissioners and clinicians from NHS DDES CCG, NHS North Durham CCG and NHS 
Darlington CCG have agreed on a new model of care for diabetes in County Durham and 
Darlington which has begun to be implemented across all areas of the CCG. This has been 
developed with insights gathered from patients, their families and carers, gathered over the 
past three years. 
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The new model will focus on increasing patients’ awareness and understanding of diabetes 
and supporting patients to self-manage their condition, ensuring a seamless service 
between primary care and secondary care and reducing avoidable complications such as 
amputations, renal failure and retinopathy. In NHS DDES CCG early results show that 
patients are being supported to achieve better diabetic control. 
 

Work began to commence the new ways of working from June 2016, and a phased 
implementation will ensure all GP practices in NHS DDES CCG offered the new integrated 
service during 2016/17.   GPs and practice nurses have begun to receive training and 
support from dedicated hospital diabetes specialists (Consultants and Specialist Nurses) to 
enable more care to take place in community settings. This will mean fewer patients having 
to attend appointments at hospital and will improve the levels of care available in patients’ 
local GP practices.  
 
County Durham was chosen as one of the first areas to introduce a new national diabetes 
prevention programme to identify and support people who are at risk of developing Type 2 
diabetes. This programme includes information relating to diabetes and healthy lifestyles 
including diet and exercise and supports people to make changes to their lifestyle to reduce 
the risk of developing diabetes. 

 

Learning Disability  

County Durham has the highest proportion of people identified with a learning disability across 
the North East and Cumbria with high admissions to learning disability inpatient beds, so we 
are looking to reduce that number in the first instance by promoting greater physical health 
independence and choice.  

Community based housing and support is critical to enabling people to be discharged 
effectively and prevent avoidable admission/ readmission. The North East and Cumbria 
Learning Disability Transformation Plan and the Yorkshire Transforming Care Plan has the 
fundamental aim of reducing the reliance on inpatient care and when out of hospital having a 
greater quality of life. 

Our ambition is that people with a learning disability have the same life choices and life 
chances as the rest of the population and that we prepare and support them throughout, 
providing accessible and timely healthcare. 

 

Transforming Cancer services  

We recognise that there’s a significant life expectancy gap between our localities and the 
national average and that cancer is a significant contributor to this. In our area we have higher 
than national average rates for smoking, including during pregnancy and there are significant 
inequality gaps with too many people being diagnosed at a late stage. 
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We are commissioning world class cancer services and focusing particularly at prevention and 
links to smoking, alcohol and obesity. Patients will have better experience of their cancer care 
and support to live well after treatment. Cancer pathways are being improved with particular 
attention on diagnostics mainly around diagnosing stage 1 and 2 cancer, by increasing uptake 
in cancer screening programmes, reducing the emergency diagnosis and improving one and 
five year survival rates. 

 

Mental Health 

Due to the prevalence of disease and long term illness coupled with high levels of deprivation, 
individuals are more susceptible to developing mental health problems in our footprint. 
Recognising that within our footprint there are a significant number of armed forces personnel 
and veterans who may require enhanced mental health support – it is therefore essential to 
ensure more is done to provide early identification and support to access the care that is in 
place. NHS DDES CCG are committed to ensuring investment levels defined by the Five Year 
Forward View are committed to Mental Health Services in order to close the gap between 
mental and physical health provision. 

Mental Health and the health needs of our population are increasing. We are looking to build 
high quality services and a highly skilled workforce that not only delivers value for money but 
is financially sustainable and provides early intervention and increased access across all 
treatment areas.  
 
This is our focus to meet the standards set out in the Five Year Forward View for Mental 
Health by 20/21.  At least 25% of people with common mental health conditions will get 
access to psychological therapies. 

 
• Ensure 95% of children and young people with and Eating Disorder receive treatment 

within four weeks. 
• Ensure that at least 60% of people experiencing a first episode in psychosis begin 

treatment within two weeks. 
• 35% more children and young people with a mental health condition will receive 

treatment. 
• Deliver Mental Health access and quality standards including 24/7 access to 

community crisis services. 
• Continue to develop integrated healthcare through achieving mental health liaison core 

standards by 20/21. 
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Commissioning for safe and effective care 

Care home support 

We are committed to supporting high quality care home provision and ensuring they have 
competency and capability to provide high quality care, thereby reducing unnecessary 
admission to hospital ensuring dignity and safeguarding standards are met. 

In 2016/17 we built upon the success of previous years with our care home training 
programme for nursing and senior care staff to enhance or maintain staff competency which 
links to our frail elderly services. This training continues to evaluate well therefore the CCG 
have agreed to fund the programme in 2017/18. In addition the CCG commissioned Teesside 
University to provide specialist training for care home staff. 

Supporting carers 

Census data tells us that our carer population in County Durham is growing, and in addition to 
this we also recognise that there is an unaccounted for hidden carer population who also need 
support.  Recognising the value and contribution that carers make to the health and social 
care economy, we are committed to improving their support mechanisms to enable them to 
maintain their caring role and their own health and wellbeing, addressing the expected 
changes to the Care Act. We also support young carers and as a CCG we have achieved the 
Young Carer’s Charter with the Bridge Young Carers Organisation. 

Social isolation 

Through an asset-based approach, we will work to increase community capacity and 
resilience working with third sector and community services with the potential to transform 
services at a pre-health and social care delivery stage, diverting people away from formal 
health and social care services and preventing the need for such in the future. We will work 
with local communities to reduce the impact of loneliness and social isolation on the residents 
of County Durham. Durham County Council is implementing a new Wellbeing for Life Model 
which is a key part of this programme of work. We are looking at the links with existing 
services to ensure referral pathways are developed and understood by GP practices. 

 

Quality Monitoring 

Quality is at the centre of NHS DDES CCG’s vision and values, and the CCG is dedicated to 
ensuring that the services we commission on behalf of the people of Durham Dales, 
Easington and Sedgefield are of the highest quality in being safe and effective and providing 
patients with a good experience of care. The quality of care for patients is measured against 
the five domains of the NHS Outcomes Framework. 

Assurance on the quality of care delivered by the commissioned services is summarised in the 
quarterly deep-dive quality reports and monthly quality, performance and finance reports. The 
report contains a wide range of data sources that monitor the effectiveness of services, this 
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includes safety thermometer, incident data, complaints and quality dashboards. These reports 
are received by the CCG Commissioning, Quality, Finance and Performance Committee and 
Governing Body. 

As part of the contractual process with providers, clinical quality review group (CQRG) 
meetings are also held with each acute, ambulance and mental health provider organisation, 
and these meetings are chaired by CCG executive leads. The focus of CQRG meetings is on 
quality assurance and provides the CCG with the opportunity to review and monitor areas for 
improvement, good practice and allows for challenge if areas of concern arise. The CQRGs 
are key to the positive relationships that have been developed with providers since the CCG 
was formed in April 2013 and ensures that quality is reported on in an honest and transparent 
way. 

Building on the success of the CCG’s 2015/16 commissioner assurance visit programme, 
NHS DDES CCG has continued to work collaboratively with neighbouring CCGs in County 
Durham and Darlington on a programme of commissioner assurance visits across our care 
providers. This year, we have given particular focus on learning disabilities and intermediate 
care provision as well as visiting acute hospitals, mental health services and independent and 
community care providers. This has enabled CCG representatives to experience first-hand the 
quality of service delivery and discuss experiences with both patients and staff.  

High level risks and issues are reported to the County Durham, Darlington and Tees quality 
surveillance group (QSG) which brings local CCG commissioners, local authorities, NHS 
England and regulators, Care Quality Commission (CQC) and Monitor together into one forum 
for sharing local intelligence. 

Further examples where the CCG has been engaged in driving quality improvements and 
supporting the national quality agenda are as follows: 

Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN)  

CQUIN was introduced in 2009/2010 to encourage providers to improve the quality of care 
provided to patients. The framework enables commissioners to reward excellence by linking a 
proportion of a provider’s income to the achievement of national and local quality improvement 
goals. The CCG CQUIN schemes for 2016/17 were centred on safety, clinical effectiveness 
and innovation which were outcome based, including improvements in the screening and early 
treatment of sepsis, reducing antimicrobial resistance, staff health and wellbeing initiatives, 
promotion of healthy food options for NHS staff, visitors and patients and flu vaccination 
uptake within healthcare workers. The schemes were aligned with the CCG’s commissioning 
priorities. 

 

 

 

 



NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Group Annual report 2016/17 

 

Page 27 

Serious Incidents 

NHS DDES CCG is responsible for ensuring that when a serious incident occurs that there 
are measures in place to safeguard patients and to investigate the incident to prevent 
reoccurrence. The monitoring of serious incidents takes place at the combined County 
Durham and Darlington CCG serious incident panel which is led by the CCG Executive 
Nurses. 

Safeguarding 

Throughout the year, the CCG has worked very closely with our agency partners in both the 
Local Safeguarding Children Board and Local Safeguarding Adults board thereby ensuring 
that we meet all statutory requirements for safeguarding children, young people and adults 
at risk of abuse or neglect. Multi agency working is essential to support the CCG’s robust 
approach to safeguarding and it is a key priority to keep adults and children safe. A CQC 
inspection of safeguarding and looked after children took place in November 2016 and will 
be reported on in due course. 
 
We have developed/revised our safeguarding policies for the CCG and have shared them with 
GP practices via GP team net, newsletters and protected learning time sessions.  
 
As a CCG, we have responsibility for ensuring that our commissioned services meet the 
statutory requirements for safeguarding. We gain assurance for this through contract 
monitoring and quality review groups where safeguarding is a standing agenda item.  
 
The CCG participates fully in the learning lessons reviews and serious case review 
processes for Durham County Council, but also works with other safeguarding teams 
locally and nationally to implement the findings from serious case reviews to improve care 
for children, young people and adults at risk. 
 
Children and Young People 

Giving every child the best start in life 
 
This is a priority for NHS DDES CCG as we are not meeting all of the areas set out in the 
recommendations of Better Births, however there is scope to improve through the Rightcare 
focus pack for the CCG. Over the last few years we have seen an increase in planned 
caesareans; smoking at time of labour; There are 7 recommendations set out in Better Births: 
Personised Care; Continuity of Carer; Self Care; Better postnatal care and perinatal mental 
health care; multi-professional working; working across boundaries; A payment system. 
Collectively this is a priority for County Durham as it reports above the national average 
highlighted in the annual National Child Measurement Programme (NCMP) reports, 
particularly for children in Year 6. Data from the NCMP 2012/2013 show us that the most 
deprived 4-5 year olds and 10-11 year olds are twice as likely to be obese than the least 
deprived. Data from PHE shows that the CCG has significant child poverty and several 
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worsening areas of health e.g. mortality; MMR immunisations uptake; levels of child 
development; rise in children in care. 

We want all children and families to be able to access improved services for: maternal mental 
health, mental health, breastfeeding, maternal obesity, maternal smoking, parental drug and 
alcohol issues, parenting programmes, school readiness. Coupled with this we are also 
supporting organisations to realise the benefits of physical activity as communication skills 
depend on well-developed physical skills. This piece of work will also improve school 
readiness and reduce teenage pregnancies. 

All children and families need to be able to access a child heath prevention programme, so by 
working with other commissioners i.e. NHSE/LA public health and the new NHSE screening & 
imms oversight group this will support them to have the best start in life. 

We’re implementing prevention pathways in maternity contracts and improving poorly child 
pathways to improve mental health across the life course for mothers and children and 
reduction in self-harm emergency admissions, A & E attendances and suicide rates.  These 
pathways will help us decrease maternal smoking and increase breastfeeding rates .in line 
with Better Births recommendations. We believe that all children and families should have 
access to food in settings and were supporting organisations promoting healthy weight 
declarations so we can reduce the number of overweight and obese children of reception age 
and year 6. 

Lifestyle, Early intervention and Prevention 
 
Key themes have been identified through analysis of RightCare that has identified key areas 
such as respiratory, CVD and cancer. Survival rates following cancer diagnosis are worse 
than the England average Alcohol misuse contributes significantly to 48 health conditions, 
wholly or partially, due either to acute alcohol intoxication or to the toxic effect of alcohol 
misuse over time. Smoking is the single largest cause of health inequalities and premature 
death, within NHS DDES CCG, over 1 in 5 adults smoke (21.3%). Smoking is the primary 
reason for the gap in life expectancy between those in the most deprived quintile and those in 
the least deprived quintile. Obesity rates for the CCG are high for children at Year 6 and for 
adults (16+) Poor diet and physical inactivity are causal factors of obesity and obesity 
disproportionately affects the most deprived communities. Themes identified to improve 
outcomes focus on preventative interventions specifically screening and early diagnosis, 
lifestyle changes, vaccinations 
 
We will be ensuring that there’s a greater focus on screening initiatives to improve effective 
early detection and management of long term conditions  
 

• Improved support services for people admitted with alcohol related admissions along 
with provision of brief advice in primary and secondary care settings and sustained 
engagement with high-impact users..  
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• Refocus of local tobacco control efforts and smoking cessation services on priority 
groups; the poorest 10% of our community, people with long term conditions including 
mental health illness and smoking in pregnancy  

 
• Integrate weight management and mental health services  

 
• Care pathways will endure referral to appropriate support services at key trigger points 

in the patient journey and where possible provide support proactive self-management  
 

• Secondary prevention in all acute contracts and audited to monitor delivery  
 

• Extending the use of personal health and social care budgets and supporting people to 
use and manage these effectively to ensure people will have increased choice and 
control over all aspects of their life.  

 
• Scaling up wellbeing / wellness programmes in the community and expanding capacity 

to deliver as part of self-care as system default building upon existing programmes with 
an equal focus on mental health  

 
• Increase the role of physical activity as prevention, early intervention, rehabilitation and 

rehabilitation for physical and mental health.  
 

• Include the uptake of HPV and the 3 cancer screening programmes to help avoid late 
presentation and improve survival rates  

 
Workforce 

 
There is duplication in the delivery of out of hospital care with some patients receiving multiple 
visits from health care staff in the same day. We would like to reduce duplication wherever 
possible and have teams focussed on the care of the individual rather than being constrained 
by the contractual requirements and specifications of individual health care services.  
 
Individual sectors struggle with staffing in some cases. Creation of an integrated workforce will 
enable the development of rotational roles. 
 
In addition to this the CCG is continuing a programme of work to sustain General Practice 
including work on recruitment and productivity. 

The system change required is the creation of functionally integrated holistic teams at a hub 
level. These teams will include community services, allied health professionals, social 
services, and specialist nurses and will be linked to GP practices following the Primary Care 
Home model. This will require a flexible and integrated workforce with the ability to 
Organisational development addressing cultural change and new ways of working is essential 
for the new model. Modelling of staffing structures for hub models is underway. Further work 
is required on a cross sector workforce model. The CCG will co-ordinate a mapping exercise 
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that will ascertain the community nursing, specialist nurses and social care staff required at 
hub or wider population level. This will also be within the aligned notional budgets from each 
provider in the integrated hub.  
 
The CCG has developed a primary care workforce strategy and has developed a career start 
scheme for GPs and nurses. Further work is required on a health and social care workforce 
model. There’s a continuation of schemes to support recruitment in General Practice. We’ll be 
supporting practices to train or use Physicians Associates and extend clinical pharmacy 
working within General Practice as well as using mental health therapists . 
 
NHS DDES CCG and the three primary care federations have been successful in becoming a 
Community Provider Network for Durham. This will increase our focus as a learning 
organisation and increase the opportunity for more GP and nurse trainee primary care 
placements. We will give flexibility to community hubs to determine their own staffing structure 
in future. Vacancies will be filled in services based on the needs of the local population. The 
three GP Federations are fully supportive of the workforce strategy and work closely with the 
CCG for their constituent practices. 
 
Winter campaign 
 
As a North East region, all CCGs have worked together to develop a regional marketing 
campaign for winter. This work was developed using a social marketing approach using the 
insight developed through the behavioural analysis as part of the North East Urgent and 
Emergency Care Network. 
 
The campaign used ‘plasticine people’ will help to highlight good self-care, raise awareness of 
the expert advice available free at every pharmacy in the region, and promote the new NHS 
Child Health app, which helps parents of under-fives look after their children’s health.  
The campaign started on 14 November 2016, to coincide with National Self-Care Week and 
will continue until the end of March 2017. 
 
The CCG also supported the Stay Well this Winter campaign which was launched by NHS 
England and focused on people aged 65 years and over or people with long-term health 
conditions and their carers, family and friends to take specific actions to stay well over the 
winter, including seeking advice from a pharmacist at the first signs of illness and having the 
flu jab. 
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Infection Control  
 
The CCG Infection Prevention and Control Team (IPCT) works through effective leadership, 
education and training and surveillance of alert organisms. The IPCT has carried out 
surveillance of healthcare associated infections (HCAI) and root cause analysis on all pre-72 
hour clostridium difficile and pre-48 hour MRSA bacteraemia cases. Lessons learnt from all 
HCAI are discussed at significant event meetings within general practice and at County 
Durham and Darlington Health and Social Care HCAI group. Training has been offered and 
delivered to a range of staff including medical, nursing, health and social care and 
administration. Unannounced visits to care homes have identified areas of infection control 
standards and practices which require improvement in some homes. Support has been 
provided to make improvements and information shared with other healthcare professionals.  
 
The team has been available to work with architects, staff within general practice and relevant 
associates to ensure that any new builds and refurbishments meet the required infection 
control standards and taken part in assurance visits to provider organisations to observe 
standards and make recommendations for improvement where necessary. Many challenges 
remain across health and social care and it is important that the CCG remains focused in 
ensuring that Infection Prevention and Control is seen as part of patient safety wherever care 
is delivered. 
 
Medicines Optimisation 
 
The decision to prescribe is the most common intervention in the NHS DDES CCG work 
collaboratively with other health professionals and social care providers to deliver evidence-
based cost effective use of medication to maximise patient outcomes from medication 
prescribed to them. This is facilitated through the North Region Treatment Advisory Group, 
County Durham and Darlington Area Prescribing Committee and its shared formulary process 
with secondary care along with individual funding request processes for medication. Within 
the last year, these processes have produced some key clinical guidance for our prescribers 
in Type 2 Diabetes and Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease both diseases that have high 
prevalence within our CCG.  There has also been agreed guidance to ensure safe and 
effective prescribing in important clinical areas of: Erectile Dysfunction and Nutritional 
supplements, there is also a ‘Grey Medicines” list (a list of medications that should only be 
prescribed in very limited circumstances) and a “Do not prescribe” medicines list (a list of 
medicines with a very poor evidence base). 
 
All GP practices in the CCG receive practice pharmacist support.  Many practices have 
increased the amount of pharmacist support that they receive by being part of the NHS 
England national pilot for clinical pharmacist in GP practices. This is an initiative that sees 
pharmacists with enhanced clinical skills working within GP practices to support practices 
and patients by taking on patient caseloads, and managing long term conditions.  
 
The CCG has a three year strategy for medicines optimisation that is delivered by a more 
detailed annual delivery plan. The clinical engagement of healthcare professionals is 
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central to the delivery of the medicines optimisation agenda and the longer term strategy. 
This is achieved by the use of prescribing support software, regular prescribing 
newsletters and memos, practice visits and promotion of the formulary and medicines 
optimisation websites along with the associated agreed prescribing guidelines. All of the 
practices in the CCG are members of one of the three Locality Prescribing Groups.   Over 
the past year the prescribing group meetings have included education sessions delivered via 
case studies with peer reviews on Acute Kidney Injury, Heart Failure, Asthma, Type 2 
Diabetes, Pain Management and Proton Pump Inhibitors. The CCG Medicines 
Optimisation Team produced and promoted ‘sick day’ cards for patients taking certain 
medicines with advice on how to prevent Acute Kidney Injury.  These have been 
distributed by GPs, nurses and community pharmacists when carrying out medication 
reviews with patients. 
 
A major challenge has been faced in the past year manging the cost of prescribed 
medication. As in previous years pressures have been from the growth in medication costs 
for diabetes, respiratory, and pain management medication and the costs of dressings, 
stoma related prescribing. The CCG has a Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Prevention 
(QIPP) implementation plan for medicines optimisation as well as horizon scanning for 
future budgetary pressures. The plan for NHS DDES CCG incorporates national, regional 
and local level programmes designed to support clinical teams and NHS organisations to 
improve the quality of care they deliver while making efficiency savings that can be 
reinvested into the NHS. One significant example is the CCG have worked with secondary 
care providers to implement the use of “biosimilar medicines” to support the delivery of 
QIPP within the local health economy. Biosimilar medicine is a biological medicine that is 
similar to another biological medicine that has already been authorised for use. Biological 
medicines are medicines that are made by or derived from a biological source, such as a 
bacterium or yeast. 
 
All practices receive monthly prescribing reports, detailing budget and performance against 
the indicators in the County Durham Prescribing Engagement Scheme. Importantly these 
indicators include antibiotic prescribing rates, this links with the National Antimicrobial 
Resistance Strategy.  The CCG has recognises that it is has one of the highest antibiotic 
prescribing rates within England but over the past year it has successfully reduced antibiotic 
prescribing from being 2nd highest Clinical Commissioning Group in England to the 8th 
highest overall.  This has been achieved by organising several antimicrobial resistance 
workshops supported by one of the national leads as well as local consultant 
microbiologists.  Every practice prescribing lead has attended one session and then 
cascaded to clinicians within the practice.  The CCG has supported research and innovation 
with a rapid, point of care test that uses a capillary blood sample to help identify a clinically 
significant immune response to Acute Respiratory Infections and differentiate viral from 
bacterial infection.  This will help to target the prescribing of antibiotics more accurately to 
bacterial infections. 
 
The CCG has continued to work to reduce medicines waste.  A poster and leaflet were 
developed to support a paracetamol waste reduction campaign.  The CCG has also worked 
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closely with the Local Pharmaceutical Committee that represents all community pharmacists 
in County Durham and Darlington to look to minimize medicines waste as a result of third 
party ordering or managed repeats.  Third Party ordering or managed repeats is the system 
by which some pharmacies manage the ordering, collection and sometimes the delivery of 
patients’ prescriptions and medication. 
 
The Medical Adviser is accountable for the safe management of controlled drugs within the 
responsibilities of the CCG.  Assurance is provided via detailed review of quarterly 
prescribing reports, supported by the North of England Commissioning Support (NECS) 
medicines management team   This is further enhanced as the CCG is an active member of 
the NHS England Local Intelligence Network. 
 
Performance analysis 
  
Performance summary 
Measuring our performance helps us to ensure our services are delivered to a quality 
standard and provide value for money. The CCG has internal processes in place to manage 
performance against the range of indicators including a mechanism to work with internal and 
external colleagues to identify areas of risk, and implementation of action plans to mitigate 
these. This ensures improvements in performance are delivered.  
 
Throughout the year, reports are provided to our Governing Body setting out our performance 
against the agreed local and national measures. This ‘Quality, Performance and Finance 
Report’ describes how, in partnership with our providers, we are meeting the CCG’s 
commitment to ensure that the commissioning decisions and actions we take improve 
healthcare for the people of NHS DDES CCG and ensure patients receive the highest quality 
of care.  
 
NHS England has a statutory duty to make an annual assessment of each CCG’s 
performance. It meets this duty through its CCG Improvement and Assessment Framework 
and CCG performance dashboard. 
 
The Five Year Forward View, NHS Planning Guidance, and the Sustainability and 
Transformation Plans (STPs) for each area, are all driven by the pursuit of the “triple aim”:  
 

(i) improving the health and wellbeing of the whole population;  
(ii) better quality for all patients, through care redesign; and  
(iii) better value for taxpayers in a financially sustainable system. 

 
In the CCG we have worked with our partners and stakeholders to ensure that the health and 
wellbeing of patients remained a priority and to improve performance against national and 
local targets and the requirements of the NHS Constitution. 
 
We have again exceeded the required financial surplus in an increasingly difficult financial 
environment which we are proud of.  Details of our financial performance can be found in our 
financial review and accounts. 
 
Details of our performance against national constitutional standards can be found in the 
performance analysis section. 
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Performance against NHS Constitution targets 
 
Referral to treatment 
 
Patients have the legal right to start their NHS consultant-led treatment within a maximum of 
18 weeks from referral. 
 
Year to date CCG performance to March 2017 for referral to treatment incomplete pathways 
treated within 18 weeks is above target, reporting 92.7% against the 92% threshold. 
 
No patients should be waiting more than 52 weeks for treatment. NHS DDES CCG has 
reported zero breaches up to March 2017. This is the same position compared to the previous 
year, where zero cases were recorded in 2015/16. 
 
Diagnostic test waiting times 
 
No more that 1% of patients should wait over 6 weeks for a diagnostic test.  
 
NHS DDES CCG has achieved this target for ten of the twelve month in 2016/17. For 
diagnostic tests the latest available 2016/17 performance is 0.86% of the CCG patients 
waiting over six weeks. 
 
The target was met by the main provider, County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation 
Trust (CDDFT) reporting 0.07% in March 2017. 
 
Cancer waiting times 
 
NHS DDES CCG has met the year-to-date targets as at March 2017 for eight out of the nine 
categories for cancer waiting times. Performance against the Cancer 62 day wait for urgent 
GP referral is the area that is reported under target. 
 
Performance for the 62 day wait urgent GP referral category remains the main concern, 
currently reporting the year-to-date position as 81.7% against the 85% target. This standard 
has remained non-compliant in nine of the twelve months in 2016/17. 
 
Patient level breach analysis is being undertaken to try and identify any trends within the 
breach reasons which can then inform further actions with the Trusts. 
 
Although there are some capacity issues there are an increasing number of complex 
pathways which seriously impact Trusts ability to achieve the target. Performance continues to 
be monitored through contract meetings and the CCG performance framework. 
 
Ambulance response times 
 
All ambulance trusts are expected to respond to 75% of immediately life threatening calls 
within eight minutes. The performance of the North East Ambulance Service for the period to 
March 2017 against this indicator is reported as 62.5%. 
 
Where onward transport is required, 95% of life-threatening calls will receive an ambulance 
vehicle capable of transporting the patient safely within 19 minutes of the request for transport 
being made. The performance of the North East Ambulance Service for the period to March 
2017 against this indicator is reported as 89.3%. 



NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Group Annual report 2016/17 

 

Page 35 

 
A comprehensive action plan is in place which is monitored through the Contract Management 
Board along with the Clinical Quality Review Group. The action plan is broken down into three 
main areas/themes: 

• Demand 
• Capacity 
• Efficiency 

 
The action plan will deliver incremental improvements on performance over the coming year. 
 
Healthcare associated infection 
 
Reducing healthcare associated infection remained a key challenge for the CCG and the local 
NHS throughout the year. 
 
• MRSA (Methicillin Resistant Staphylococcus Aureus) 
 
There is a zero tolerance of MRSA which means that all commissioner and provider targets 
are zero. The CCG have reported 3 cases in year, 1 case in April 2016, 1 case in May 2016 
and 1 case in August 2016. 
 
• Clostridium difficile 
 
The year to date position to March 2017 for the CCG shows 61 cases in total against a 
trajectory of 74, the CCG was therefore under its annual target. 
 
Accident and emergency (A&E) performance 
 
Provider organisations have a number of targets in relation to emergency care. One key target 
is that 95% of patients should wait no longer than four hours for treatment in an emergency 
department. Although this is not one of the CCG‟s constitutional indicators, it is unfortunately 
an area where performance against the target has not been achieved due to it not being met 
by the CCGs main provider, County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust (CDDFT). 
 
CDDFT achieved the target in quarter 2 of the financial year, but was non-compliant in quarter 
1, quarter 3 and quarter 4. Performance declined in quarter 4, a trend experienced both at a 
regional and national level as a result of increased pressures and rise in demand for 
emergency care. However, performance improved in March 2017 and met the 95% target, 
with actual performance of 96.5%. 
 
A number of proactive steps have been put in place to help prepare for surges in demand and 
to ensure robust arrangements for reviewing and challenging performance are in place. 
 
The CCG is not complacent about the performance of our providers as this seriously impacts 
on the experience of our local population. Whilst we expect that the final 2016/17 performance 
to be an improvement from 2015/16 the challenges have been so great that we have not seen 
the improvements we wish to see. This will be an area of continued focus for 2017/18 with 
plans in place to improve delivery during the year. 
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Six Clinical Priority Areas 
 
The Forward View and the planning guidance set out national ambitions for transformation in 
six clinical priority areas. The CCG progress against these areas is reported to NHS England 
through the CCG Improvement and Assessment Framework and further information can be 
found on the My NHS website, https://www.nhs.uk/Service-Search/performance/search  
The initial assessment of the CCG against the six clinical priority areas, as published on My 
NHS, is shown below.  
 
Clinical priority area  CCG assessment  
 
Mental health  

 
Greatest need for improvement  

Dementia  Performing well  
Learning disabilities  Needs improvement  
Cancer  Needs improvement  
Maternity  Greatest need for improvement  
Diabetes  Performing well  
 
The areas noted as needing improvement are recognised by the CCG and work is ongoing to 
address these areas, in conjunction with providers, and further improve services for patients. 
 
The CCG progress against these areas is reported to NHS England through quarterly updates 
on the Improvement and Assessment Framework. The overall assessment against these six 
clinical priorities will be refreshed as part of the overall 2016/17 assessment, these are 
expected to be available from July 2017.  
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Financial review 
 
NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG was licenced from 1 April 2013 under 
provisions enacted in the Health and Social Care Act 2012, which amended the National 
Health Service Act 2006. 
 
The CCG continues to focus on commissioning high quality services, making every 
effort to ensure we have used resources economically and with effectiveness and 
efficiency. 
 
Objectives and performance for the year 
CCGs have a number of financial duties under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as 
amended).  Note 23 of the financial statements refers to the financial performance of the 
CCG in relation to its statutory duties. 
 
The CCG is pleased to report that it has successfully met all of its statutory financial 
duties in 2016/17. This has been delivered through effective financial management and 
planning within the organisation. Financial controls were agreed with NHS England Cumbria 
and North East local area team during the course of the year. The CCG has successfully 
managed a number of financial risks during the year to ensure successful delivery of these 
control totals. 
 
CCG surplus position 
In addition to the requirement to fulfil its statutory duties, the CCG is expected by NHS 
England to deliver a cumulative surplus of at least 1% of its funding allocation.  This surplus is 
carried forward from one year to the next. 
 
For NHS DDES CCG, the cumulative surplus at 31 March 2016 was £7.973million, which 
carried forward to 2016/17, with the agreed financial plans utilising £1m of this carried forward 
surplus as part of financial planning for the year.   
 
In addition, as set out in the 2016/17 NHS Planning Guidance, CCGs were required to hold a 
1% reserve uncommitted from the start of the year, created by setting aside the monies that 
CCGs were otherwise required to spend non-recurrently. This was intended to be released for 
investment in Five Year Forward View transformation priorities to the extent that evidence 
emerged of risks not arising or being effectively mitigated through other means. 
  
In the event, the national position across the provider sector has been such that NHS England 
has been unable to allow CCGs’ 1% non-recurrent monies to be spent.  Therefore, to comply 
with this requirement, NHS DDES CCG has released its 1% reserve to the bottom line, 
resulting in an additional surplus for the year of £4.837m.  This additional surplus will be 
carried forward for drawdown in future years. 

Effectively this means the CCG has only been able to spend 99% of its original confirmed 
funding allocation for the year on commissioning healthcare for the population of Durham 
Dales, Easington and Sedgefield. 
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A summary of the CCG’s final surplus position at the end of the year is as follows: 
 

 

 
It is important to note that this final surplus balance of £11.810 million is not a ‘profit’ or 
surplus generated during the financial year.  The majority of it reflects a historical balance 
carried forward from previous years, with an additional £4.837 million of surplus generated 
during 2016/17 as a result of NHS England requirements.  In accordance with NHS England 
financial planning guidance, the CCG is required to deliver a surplus of at least 1% of 
available resources.   
 
The CCG’s successful results in 2016/17 are set out in the table below with further detail 
included within the full annual accounts attached to this annual report. 
 
 

Target Achievement Target 
met? 

To deliver a minimum 1% surplus 
against the revenue allocation. 

Revenue surplus of £11.810 million against 
a revenue resource limit of £503.976 million 
(2.3%). 

 
Yes 

To contain capital spending with the overall 

capital resource limit. 

The CCG was allocated a minimal capital resource limit 

of £10,000 in 2016/17, but did not incur any capital 

expenditure. 

 
Yes 

To contain cash usage within its cash limit set 
by NHS England. 

Cash drawdown has been within the allocation  
set by NHS England. 

 
Yes 

To pay valid invoices on time in line with the better 
payment practice code. 

The CCG is exceeding its target of paying 95% 
of NHS and non-NHS invoices within 30 days. 

Yes 

To contain the running costs of the CCG within the 
running cost allowance set by NHS England. 

Running costs have been contained within the 
running cost allowance of 
£6.265million. 

 
Yes 

 
Expenditure not to exceed resource limits 
Unlike commercial companies that make a profit or loss, CCGs are set resource limits within 
which they must contain net expenditure for the year. There are separate resource limits for 
revenue and capital expenditure. Revenue expenditure is further broken down into 
programme (healthcare) expenditure, and running costs expenditure. 
 
Operational financial balance 
The CCG’s overall revenue resource limit (RRL) for the year was £503.976 million. The value 
of the RRL is calculated by NHS England and is based upon the weighted capitation formula. 
This formula is based on the population served by the CCG amended for factors including age, 
need and market forces. This funding is used to pay for hospital services, community services, 
mental health services, prescribing costs for drugs and appliances, and CCG running costs. 

 £ million % of total 
funding 

Surplus brought forward from prior year 
Agreed usage of brought forward surplus 

7.973 
(1.000) 

1.6% 
(0.3%) 

   
Total funding allocation received for the year 503.976 100% 
Total spent by the CCG (499.14) 99% 
Additional surplus delivered in year 4.837 1% 
   
Final surplus carried forward to 2017/18 11.810 2.3% 
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Relevant costs amounted to £492.166 million and resulted in an under-spend or surplus 
delivery of £11.810 million or 2.3% of our overall allocation. This is consistent with requirements 
to deliver a minimum surplus of at least 1% of the RRL. 
 
Capital resource limit 
The CCG was allocated a minimal capital resource limit of £10,000. The CCG has not incurred 
any capital expenditure in-year, and therefore the requirement to contain capital expenditure 
within the capital resource limit has been met. 
 
Other financial targets and disclosures 
In addition to the above statutory duties, CCGs have similar responsibilities to other NHS 
organisations to record performance against the Department of Health’s better payment 
practice code. 
 
Compliance with better payment practice code 
The CCG is an approved signatory to the prompt payment code. All NHS organisations are 
required to make payments to their creditors within their contract terms or within 30 days where 
no terms have been agreed. The target is to pay all valid invoices within this timescale, and 
performance is monitored during the year. 
 
Performance against this code has been good, with the CCG achieving close to 100% of valid 
invoices paid within timescales. Details of the performance against the code can be found in 
note 5.1 of the accompanying annual accounts. 
 
Running costs 
Actual running costs for 2016/17 amount to £5.702 million or £19.60 per head of population for 
commissioning services.  This running cost is within the running cost allowance set out by NHS 
England, which amounted to £6.265 million. 
 
Expenditure in 2016/17 financial year 
In 2016/17, the CCG has spent £486.464 million in the year on healthcare services for the 
population of Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield, and a further £5.702 million on 
administration for the running of the CCG. The areas of spend are shown in the pie chart below 
and each of the areas is described in further detail below: 
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• Acute healthcare represents the majority of the CCG’s costs and includes the cost 
of contracts with hospitals to provide services such as accident and emergency, 
maternity, general medicine and surgery. 

• Ambulance services costs include the costs of emergency ambulances, the costs 
of patient conveyance to and from hospitals, and the NHS111 service. 

• Prescribing and primary care includes the cost of drugs prescribed and provided by 
GPs as part of the service they provide for our residents, plus the costs of services 
provided by GPs and community pharmacies. The cost of the contract for the Out 
of Hours and Walk In Centre services are also included here. 

• Community services includes the cost of the services provided in a community 
setting or in patients’ own homes, such as District Nurses, Therapists and 
Community Clinics. 

• Mental Health and Learning Disability services include the costs of our main 
contracts to provide mental health and learning disability support services. This 
includes psychological therapies (counselling services) and inpatient medical care 
for patients with mental health conditions. Also included are bespoke packages of 
care for mental health and learning disability clients. 

• Continuing Healthcare is a package of medical care arranged and funded solely by 
the NHS. It can be delivered in any setting and can include the full cost of a place 
in a nursing home. The CCG has a number of residents who meet the criteria, and 
have been assessed as eligible for fully funded NHS care. 

• Primary Care Co-commissioning costs are the costs of core contractual primary 
medical services delivered by GP Practices.  The CCG has taken on co-
commissioning responsibility for primary care from 1 April 2015 from NHS 
England. 

• Organisation running costs are the costs of the functions within the CCG which 
support the process of commissioning the healthcare services described above.  
This includes services bought from the North of England Commissioning Support 
Service. 

 

NHS DDES CCG Expenditure Profile 2016/17 

Acute healthcare 44%

Ambulance services 2%

Community services 11%

Continuing healthcare 6%

Mental health and learning disability
11%

Organisation Running Costs 1%

Other 4%
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Key financial investments 
Financial pressures arise each year. The CCG has been able to manage these by prudent 
financial planning and careful financial management. The CCG has continued to ensure 
financial stability and probity while ensuring that resources were used as efficiently and 
effectively as possible in meeting the objectives set out in the CCG’s plan for 2016/17. 
 
The CCG has continued to support its main providers of secondary care services and in overall 
terms the majority of funding continues to be spent on acute hospital services. 
 
Taking into account the challenging financial outlook, the CCG set itself an ambitious target to 
deliver efficiencies under the quality, innovation, productivity and prevention (QIPP) 
programme.  In 2016/17 the CCG has delivered QIPP of £15.4m, against a target of £22.9m.  
Although the CCG has not delivered in full against this ambitious internal target despite 
significant transformation work and release of efficiencies via contracts, effective financial 
management has ensured full delivery of the CCG control total for the year.  The work already 
undertaken in-year will support delivery of QIPP in the forthcoming 2017/18 financial year, 
enabling ongoing re-investment into priority areas. 
 
Pensions 
Details of the accounting for pension liabilities can be found in the employee benefits notes in 
the full set of the CCG accounts (note 3.5). Further details of directors’ pension benefits can be 
found in the remuneration report section of this document. 
 
Audit and assurance committee 
The CCG operates an audit and assurance committee which reports to the Governing Body. 
The role of chair of the audit and assurance committee was undertaken by the lay member on 
the Governing Body with responsibility for governance and audit, with the deputy chair role 
undertaken by the lay member for patient and public engagement. Details of the membership 
and attendance at the Audit and Assurance Committee are shown in the members’ report 
section within this annual report. 
 
Directors’ disclosure of information to auditors 
The statement of directors’ responsibilities in respect of the accounts can be found in the 
remuneration report. 
 
Summary 
The CCG has focused upon the challenging delivery agenda in 2016/17, seeking to improve 
the health of its population, whilst ensuring value for money is ensured through available 
resources.  A copy of the full set of the CCG’s annual accounts for 2016/2017 is published 
within this annual report. The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 
2016/17 Financial reporting manual issued by HM Treasury. 
 
 
External auditors 
Following a procurement and selection process undertaken by the former Audit Commission, 
Ernst & Young LLP were appointed auditors to the CCG for both 2015/16 and 2016/17 financial 
years. The cost of audit services can be found in note 4 of the CCG’s financial statements. The 
auditors bring an annual work plan to the audit and assurance committee for approval. This 
states that the audit team are independent of the CCG and also would include any details of 
non-audit work if applicable. When considering whether the level of any non-audit work is 
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appropriate the CCG would consider the composition of the team (and whether any audit team 
members are involved) and the level of fees. 
 
Annual accounts 
The accounts of the CCG are included within this annual report and have been prepared 
under a direction issued by the NHS commissioning board under the National Health 
Service Act 2006 (as amended). 
  
The next 12 months 
The financial pressures facing the NHS are substantial and well documented, with the impact 
of an ageing and growing population leading to significantly increased costs against a 
backdrop of limited financial resources. 
 
These pressures are set out in NHS England’s document ‘Delivering the Forward View: NHS 
planning guidance 2016/17 – 2020/21’.  Published estimates suggest that if current models 
of care continue the NHS will face a funding gap of around £30 billion between by 2020/21 
(approximately 22% of projected costs in 2020/21).  This equates to an average funding gap 
of approximately £150m per CCG. 
 
Taking these pressures into account the CCG is continually reviewing services to ensure 
best value is achieved from public monies.  This work includes the Better Health 
Programme, continued work on Sustainability and Transformation plans (STP), the use of 
Right-Care methodology, and the North East Urgent Care Network Vanguard. 
 
NHS DDES CCG has a close working relationship with organisations across Darlington, 
Durham and Tees and has worked in partnership with these organisations for several years 
on what is now called the Better Health Programme (BHP) (previously Securing Quality in 
Health Services). 
 
As part of the BHP, organisations across, Darlington, Durham and Tees are reviewing the 
services that are provided to make sure that; 
• They meet the needs of the population, 
• They are of a consistently high standard across all providers, 
• They have the staffing and resources to be sustainable into the future. 

 
As part of the programme, commissioners are working with clinicians across the area to 
identify what the best possible care should look like and the standards required ensuring 
that this care is achieved. The focus of this work is around acute in-hospital care supported 
by care outside-of-hospital including services which will help reduce the number of people 
who require hospital care, and help people maintain independent lives. 
 
The Sustainability and Transformation plans (STP) drawn up across the NHS cover a larger 
geographical area than any single CCG, and NHS DDES CCG forms part of the DDTHRW 
STP covering which includes Durham, Darlington, Teesside, Hambleton, Richmondshire and 
Whitby.  These STP plans will continue to develop over the coming year, with continued close 
alignment to the Better Health Programme. 
 
NHS DDES CCG is using the Right Care programme to determine its priority areas of work 
and understand variation in demand and outcomes.  This variation will be tackled through a 
range of initiatives covering primary care, acute care, community care, and social care and 
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Sustainable Development   
Sustainability has become increasingly important as the impact of people’s lifestyles and 
business choices are changing the world in which we live. As a public body, we acknowledge 
this responsibility to our patients, local communities and the environment by working hard to 
minimise our footprint. 
 

Working in a sustainable way has meant rethinking a lot of what we do. It affects not only the 
major strategic decisions we take but also how we go about our daily business. 
 
As an NHS organisation, and as a spender of public funds, we have an obligation to work in a 
way that has a positive effect on the communities for which we commission and procure 
healthcare services. Sustainability means spending public money well, the smart and efficient 
use of natural resources and building healthy, resilient communities.  By making the most of 
social, environmental and economic assets we can improve health both in the immediate and 
long term even in the context of rising cost of natural resources. Spending money well and 
considering the social and environmental impacts is enshrined in the Public Services (Social 
Value) Act (2012). 
 
We acknowledge this responsibility to our patients, local communities and the environment by 
working hard to minimise our footprint. 
 
As a part of the NHS, public health and social care system, it is our duty to contribute towards 
the level of ambition set in 2014 of reducing the carbon footprint of the NHS, public health and 
social care system by 34% (from a 1990 baseline) equivalent to a 28% reduction from a 2013 
baseline by 2020. It is our aim to meet this target by reducing our carbon emissions 28% by 
2020 using 2013 as the baseline year. 
 
Getting these decisions right will not only help us save money, eliminate unnecessary waste in 
the system and reduce our carbon footprint; it demonstrates to partners and the public that the 
CCG is dedicated to enhancing individuals’ wellbeing through our work as commissioners of 
high quality health services, but also by enhancing the wellbeing of the local and global 
community through taking seriously our corporate responsibilities. 
 
The CCG’s base is at Sedgefield Community Hospital. The CCG monitors its energy usage 
with the support of its landlord, NHS Property Services and uses renewable resources where 
feasible including solar panel energy at our main site.  
 
Modelled Carbon Footprint 
The majority of the environmental and social impacts are through the services we commission. 
Therefore, the following information uses a scaled model based on work performed by the 
Sustainable Development Unit (SDU) in 2014/15. More information available here: 
http://www.sduhealth.org.uk/policy-strategy/reporting/nhs-carbon-footprint.aspx 

http://www.sduhealth.org.uk/policy-strategy/reporting/nhs-carbon-footprint.aspx
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Resulting in an estimated total carbon footprint of 31 tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent 
emissions (tCO₂e). The majority of this impact is from the services we commission 
 

 
 
Energy and water usage 
The utilisation of energy, water is shown in the table below. 

 

Workforce development 
All staff are encouraged to work sustainably, we promote environmental awareness, encourage 
low carbon travel and facilitate flexible working where possible. We also encourage paper-light 
working and recycling to reduce waste. 
 

Partnerships 
As a commissioning and contracting organisation, we will need effective contract mechanisms 
to deliver our ambitions for sustainable healthcare delivery. The NHS policy framework already 
sets the scene for commissioners and providers to operate in a sustainable manner. Crucially 
for us as a CCG, evidence of this commitment will need to be provided in part through 
contracting mechanisms. 
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Travel 
We can improve local air quality and improve the health of our community by promoting active 
travel – to our staff, through our providers and to the patients and public that use the services 
we commission. 
 
Every action counts and we are a lean organisation trying to realise efficiencies across the 
board for cost and carbon (CO2e) reductions. We support a culture for active travel to improve 
staff wellbeing and reduce sickness. 
 

Category Mode 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 

Business Travel 
miles 12461 203987 169015 0 

tCO2e 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

Staff commute 
miles 0 0 52,834 53,795 

tCO2e 0.00 0.00 19.11 19.44 
 

Improving Quality 

The Governing Body are aware of the CCGs position on quality at all times through regular 
reporting and have the opportunity to scrutinise the CCG’s performance across quality, safety, 
outcomes and delivery of the constitutional standards.  This allows increased scrutiny of 
providers and ensures they are sighted on and able to discuss issues at CCG/provider level. 
 
Quality Review Group meetings are attended by the CCG Director of Nursing and involve the 
further discussion and analysis of quality outcomes for patients.  Providers are challenged and 
subsequent actions taken forward for ongoing improvement. 
 
The CCG conducts regular commissioner assurance visits at provider organisations using an 
eleven step model that highlights where there may be areas of concern.  These visits involve 
senior CCG managers working with providers on visits to wards and services so they can make 
judgments about the service being delivered.  Staff feedback and patient feedback is taken on 
board as part of this process.  Our Director of Nursing led on the development of the 
programme of visits which other members of our Governing Body play an integral role in.  Visits 
are made to the wards and services of our providers and quality information observed and 
obtained from patients, relatives and staff is triangulated.  The visits have enabled the CCG to 
monitor the quality of the services we commission and importantly the patient experiences and 
outcomes.  Working with our providers during the visit and in addressing any issues identified 
following them has helped to develop our relationships and has encouraged a transparent 
partnership approach between ourselves as commissioners and our providers. 
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Patient and Public Involvement  

Engaging In Local Communities 
 
In April 2016 the CCG launched its new Engagement Strategy which sets out the CCG’s 
Vision for Engagement which is:- 
 

• To develop meaningful, inclusive and transparent processes for engaging local 
people and communities within the NHS DDES CCG area. This will support the 
achievement of the overall CCG vision, which is to work together for excellent health 
for the local communities of the CCG. 
 

Several Values are also contained within the strategy which will inform the CCG approach to 
engagement. These include:- 
 

a. Our communities are at the heart of our decisions. 
b. Inclusiveness and accessibility 
c. Openness, transparency and clarity 
d. Professionalism 
e. Continuity and consistency 
f. Respect 
g. Creativity and innovation 
h. Empowerment 

 
An Engagement Strategy Task and Finish Group (composed of the CCG Engagement Team, 
the PRG Chairs as well as representatives from key local voluntary organisations) has 
actively contributed to the development of the Strategy and subsequent Engagement 
Delivery Plan. 
 
How we engage 
 
We use a large number of methods for engaging with local communities, encouraging 
participation by as many people as possible, expressing concerns and raising awareness about 
the CCG responsibility to listen to local people’s views and making sure that they can influence 
the design of local health services: 
 

• Our CCG website; 
• Patient Reference Groups (PRGs) represent useful platforms to discuss areas of 

concerns, put people in contact, share information amongst our communities 
members and ensure that local voices gets an opportunity to shape their 
practice services as well as having involvement in the development of other local 
health services; 

• Three Health Networks (East Durham Trust, the Pioneering Care Partnership and 
Groundworks North East)have a responsibility to ensure that voluntary and 
community organisations across the CCG area have a role in determining the 
shape and delivery of health services within their local area. 
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• Investing in Children is an organisation that creates spaces for children and 
young people to come together and discuss ways of developing and improving the 
services and activities that are provided for them. 

• Healthwatch is a statutory organisation created to gather and champion the views of 
local communities, and see what works well and what can be improved. 

• Fourteen Area Action Partnerships (AAPs) cover all areas of County Durham and 
have been set up to give people a greater choice and voice in local affairs. The 
partnerships allow people to have a say on services, and give organisations the 
chance to speak directly with local communities. By working in partnership they help 
ensure that the services of a range of organisations - including the county and town 
and parish councils, police, fire, health, and voluntary organisations - are directed to 
meet the needs of local communities and focus their actions and spending on issues 
important to these local communities; 

• My NHS is an online membership providing information about health care services 
in the CCG area, PPGs and PRGs meetings and any relevant opportunity to 
listen to, get information, have a say and influence your local NHS; 

• Practice Participation Groups (PPG’s) Many of our GP practices have patient 
groups themselves that meet to discuss local health related issues and to help 
improve practice services. 

• The CCG may arrange other events and meetings throughout the year if there is 
a need to gather local people’s views, or to inform the communities, about a specific 
topic or area of concern; 

 
 
Everyone’s view matters 
 
We organise regular events where members of the public can meet with the CCG and give 
their views about local services. This year, we held a full public consultation relating to the 
proposed changes in Urgent Care services. This involved not only a large number of public 
events but also other opportunities to speak to our public such as supermarket and library 
stalls. CCG staff, with the support of the Health Networks and Healthwatch also engaged with 
hard to reach groups within their own environments (e.g. Gypsy Romany Travellers, Young 
People etc), help specific focus groups or spoke to people in the waiting areas of the Urgent 
Care Centres. A large proportion of this engagement work is being repeated in February and 
March 2017 to ensure that the public are aware of the changes that are being made to the 
services from the 1st April following the outcome of the consultation. 
 
On the 4th November 2016 the CCG also held its annual Commissioning Intentions event. This 
gives members of the public a chance to come and meet with a range of CCG clinician staff 
and officers to discuss the CCG’s priorities for the next financial year. It is vital for the CCG to 
have the opportunity to have such discussion with our public as it helps us to identify areas of 
good practices and way to overcome barriers that may otherwise not have been identified.  
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Reducing health inequality 
 
In order to discharge its duties under Section 14T of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as 
amended) to have regard to the need to reduce inequalities Durham Dales, Easington and 
Sedgefield has regard to the need to reduce inequalities between patients in accessing health 
services for our local population. 
 
We understand our local population and local health needs, through the use of joint strategic 
needs assessments (JSNAs) and we collate additional supporting data including local health 
profiles as well as qualitative data through our local engagement initiatives which aim to 
engage hard to reach groups. 
 
Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG is made up of 39 member GP practices and 
serves a registered population of approximately 290,754 spread across a large and diverse 
geographical area. As a CCG, we want to provide local models of service that meet the needs 
of the distinct communities in our three localities.  The main health challenges facing the 
communities across Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield are linked to an increasingly 
ageing population that has significant and complex long-term conditions.  
 
In addition, an increasing number of people have poor health related conditions such as 
obesity, diabetes, respiratory, depression, dementia and coronary heart disease resulting in 
premature death, all of which result in significant health inequalities.  
 
The population also faces higher than average unemployment rates, severe deprivation, poor 
housing and isolation in many of our rural communities, all of which contribute to the significant 
health inequalities across the CCG and a complex health profile. At least 50% of our population 
has at least one long term condition. 
 
Through our Equality Analysis process we carry out evidence based service reviews impacting 
the risks for our protected groups when reviewing and developing our services. Our Equality 
Impact Assessment (EIA) tool is developed to make these considerations at the beginning of 
the decision making process and throughout all of the appropriate stages of work. 
 
The EIA is embedded into our governance process and sign off from the Executive Team is 
required for monitoring and completion. 
 
We work in partnership with local NHS Trusts as well as local voluntary sector organisations 
and community groups to identify the needs of the diverse local community we serve to 
improve health and healthcare for the local population.  
 
We seek the views of patients, carers and the public through individual feedback/input, 
consultations, working with other organisations and community groups, attendance at 
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community events and engagement activity including patient surveys, focus groups and 
Healthwatch. 
  
As the local commissioners of health services, we seek to ensure that the services that are 
purchased on behalf of our local population reflect their needs. We appreciate that to deliver 
this requires meaningful consultation and involvement of all our stakeholders.  We aim to 
ensure that comments and feedback from our local communities are captured and, where 
possible, acted upon and give local people the opportunity to influence local health services on 
their terms and enable people to have their say using a variety of methods; from completing 
surveys to attending events and providing feedback either online, via post, text or telephone. 
We invite people to be involved as little or as much as they like, enabling them to help shape 
and influence the way NHS health services are commissioned.  
 
This year, through our Commissioning Support Unit, we have continued to work closely with 
other local NHS organisations to support the regional working that has been a legacy of the 
Equality, Diversity and Human Rights Regional Leads Meetings. Also nationally we have been 
awarded NHS Employers E&D Partner status for 2016/17.  
Further information can be found at: 
 
Health Profiles: www.healthprofiles.info 
Public Health England – Local Health: http://www.localhealth.org.uk 
Durham, Dales and Easington JSNA: http://www.durham.gov.uk/JSNA 

 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.healthprofiles.info/
http://www.localhealth.org.uk/
http://www.durham.gov.uk/JSNA
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ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT  
Corporate Governance Report  

Members report 

Council of Members 

NHS DDES CCG is a membership organisation made up of 39 GP practices. Each practice has 
an identified commissioning lead that together makes up the DDES Council of Member 
practices (COM). The commissioning lead identified represents the practice at the Council of 
Member practice meetings and has the authority to represent the practice’s views and to act on 
its behalf in its dealings between the practice and the CCG. The CCG covers a large and 
diverse geography and it therefore makes good sense for practices to work together in locality 
groups to improve clinical care and patient experience. 

The Council of Members role is to: 

• provide strategic oversight and direction to the organisation as a whole; 
• contribute to, change and approve the CCG’s Constitution; 
• ensure an effective Governing Body is in place and review its performance annually; 
• review and agree the CCG annual delivery plan; 
• contribute to and agree the commissioning intentions; 
• hold an annual general meeting that is open to the public at which the annual report and 

annual accounts are presented. 

The three localities have also identified lead roles and these representatives also sit on the 
Governing Body, representing the views of member practices in each of the three localities. 

Governing Body 

The Governing Body is responsible for ensuring that the CCG has appropriate arrangements in 
place to exercise its functions effectively, efficiently and economically, and in accordance with 
the principles of good governance. In the CCG, the Governing Body is responsible for the 
CCG’s £504 million budget which is spent as efficiently as possible to provide high quality 
healthcare for the local population. 

Further details of the governance framework and organisational structure operating within the 
CCG, including the role of the Governing Body and related committees can be found in the 
Governance Statement. The membership and attendance of the Governing Body is outlined in 
the table below. Details of the membership and attendance of all other committees held 
throughout the year are also included: 
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Governing Body and Committee members 2016/17 

This table highlights the committees of the CCG and the Governing Body members who have 
attended each committee during the year. 

It is important to note that because three of the CCG’s Governing Body members work across 
both NHS DDES CCG and our neighbouring NHS North Durham CCG, their attendance at 
some meetings can appear less than other members.  Assurance can be given that this at no 
time affects their contribution to either Governing Body and that over the course of each 
financial year their contribution to each CCG and its committees is well balanced. 

This relates to the CCG’s: 
 
Chief Operating Officer 
Director of Nursing 
Director of Primary Care, Partnerships and Engagement 
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Stewart Findlay Chief Clinical Officer 6 24 5 7 8 
 

0 
Nicola Bailey Chief Operating Officer 5 20 4 6 6 0 0 
David Taylor-Gooby Lay Member 7   6     5 1 
Ian Spencer Secondary Care Clinician 7         0 0 
Dr Jonathan Smith Clinical Chair 7 

 
4   1 1 

Dr James Carlton Medical Advisor 6 19 
 

7 1   
Dr Winny Jose Clinical Locality lead 4 3 2 1 1 0 

 Gillian Findley Director of Nursing 4 19 2 6 7   
Mark Pickering Chief Finance Officer 8 23 6 9 8 6 0 
Sarah Burns Director of Commissioning 8 23 6 7 11   

Joseph Chandy 
Director of Primary Care, 
Partnerships and Engagement 6 21 5 10 11   

Dr Dilys Waller Clinical Locality Lead 3 2 2 8 
 

0 
 Anna Lynch Director of Public Health 1   1     0   

Dr Helen Moore Clinical Locality Lead 3 1 1 4 
 

0 
 Dr Robin Armstrong Clinical Locality Lead 6 3 4 8 

 
0 

 
Lesley Jeavons 

Durham County Council 
Representative 3 3   3   

John Whitehouse Lay Member 7         5 0 
Dr Hrushikesh 
Mudalagiri Clinical Locality Lead 3 2 1 5 

 
0 

 Carol Hardy Clinical Locality Lead 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Dr Colin Scott Clinical Locality Lead 0 

 
0   0 

 Andrew Atkin Lay Member 1   0      1 0 
Gill O Neill Interim Director of Public Health 0   2         
Judith Mashiter Healthwatch Representative     0         
Christine Keen NHS England Representative     0         

 

Governing Body Declarations of Interest at 31st March 2017 

A link to the CCG’s Declarations of Interest register can be found here: 

http://www.durhamdaleseasingtonsedgefieldccg.nhs.uk/about-us/declaration-of-conflicts-of-
interests/  

  

http://www.durhamdaleseasingtonsedgefieldccg.nhs.uk/about-us/declaration-of-conflicts-of-interests/
http://www.durhamdaleseasingtonsedgefieldccg.nhs.uk/about-us/declaration-of-conflicts-of-interests/
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Governing Body member profiles 
 
Andrew Atkin – Lay Member of Governing Body 
 
Andrew worked in local government for over 25 years.  For the last 14 years he was Assistant 
Chief Executive for Hartlepool Borough Council with a focus on performance management, 
effective governance and leading major change programmes in the Council.  Andrew is 
committed to making all services to the public the best they can be. 
 
Lee Alexander – Head of Adult Services 
 
Lee started his adult social care career in 1992 working for Durham County Council. He has 
remained with the local authority since and undertaken a wide variety of role during this time. In 
2001 Lee became the Carers Lead and managed the commissioning and development of a 
range of service to support carers in the caring roles. In 2007 Lee took the lead for 
‘safeguarding adults’ and subsequently went on to strategically manage Practice Development 
in the Adult Care service as well as Direct Payments, and the Access Service (Social Care 
Direct).  
 
Throughout Lee’s career he has been committed to developing professional practice to support 
individuals who have health and social care needs, based on high quality person centred care. 
 
Lee is currently employed as the interim Head of Adult Care. 
 
Robin Armstrong, GP Locality Lead for Easington 
 
Robin has been a partner in the Blackhall practice since 1992. He has spent much of the past 
16 years (alongside practice work) in non-clinical activity in Cancer and palliative care in the 
locality as a Cancer lead and Macmillan GP facilitator. He has been locality lead for Easington 
for the past year 
 
Nicola Bailey, Chief Operating Officer 
 
Nicola was the acting Chief Executive for Hartlepool Borough Council and has previously held 
posts such as Director of Child and Adult Services. Nicola began her early career by training 
and working as a nurse in the NHS before moving to working in integrated services between 
the NHS and the Local Government in Cheshire. With over 20 years of working in a managerial 
and leadership capacity within Health and Local Government she has had extensive 
experience of managing and leading organisations through change, developing integrated 
services and solutions and working at a senior board level. Nicola now works as a shared Chief 
Operating Officer between NHS DDES CCG and NHS North Durham CCG. 
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Sarah Burns - Director of Commissioning 
 
Sarah has worked in the public sector for 19 years, with the past 13 years in the NHS. During 
her time in the NHS, Sarah has worked in a range of roles including performance management, 
intelligence, contract management and commissioning. Sarah lives in Durham with her 
husband and two young sons. 
 
Dr James Carlton, Medical Adviser 
 
James is a GP; he is the Medical Adviser to DDES CCG supporting clinical input to the CCG on 
the wide range of responsibilities in the CCG remit, with particular emphasis on clinical quality 
and clinical leadership. James was a GP in Bishop Auckland from 2002 to 2013. He currently 
works as a salaried GP for a practice 1 ½ days per week in Darlington, with a role working for 
Darlington CCG as Lead GP for Cancer and Safeguarding Adults. 
 
Mr Joseph Chandy MBA MInstLM, Director of Primary Care, Partnerships and 
Engagement 
 
Joseph joined the NHS in 1996 as a Practice Manager in Easington. He led on GP Fundholding 
within his practice which developed his interest in commissioning. He always worked 
collaboratively within in his locality which lead to working with the GPs in developing his local 
GP Out of hours co-operative from 1998-2004. He subsequently brought together GP 
Consortiums that have developed Health Centre properties in 2001 and 2015. He became the 
Chair of Easington Practice Based Commissioning Group from 2005 to 2012. During this time 
he was also Director of Practice Based Commissioning for Durham PCT. Before taking up his 
role in the CCG, Joseph founded one of the GP Federations which now exists as South 
Durham Federation. With commissioning organisations Joseph has had advisory roles on 
Commissioning, Estates, IM&T, Clinical and Patient engagement and Primary Care. As Joseph 
is a part time director he is also currently the Management Partner in three local East Durham 
GP practices. 
 
Lesley Jeavons, Head of Adult Social Services – (replaced in 2017 by Lee Alexander) 
 
A nurse by profession Lesley left the NHS and moved to Local Government in 1994. She has 
worked in a variety of roles including frontline services, staff development and project 
management. She took up her current role which includes responsibility for care management, 
safeguarding and in-house provision in 2007.  She has significant experience of managing 
large budgets and multi-agency partnerships and has a keen interest in leading change and 
service development. 
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Dr Stewart Findlay, Chief Clinical Officer 
 
Stewart was a GP Partner at Bishopgate Medical Centre in Bishop Auckland from 1983 and 
retired from clinical practice in August 2015. He has been involved in commissioning health 
care services for the local population for over 25 years.  In addition to his current role as Chief 
Clinical Officer, he is on the leadership group of NHS Clinical Commissioners. He is also Vice 
Chair of the County Durham Health and Wellbeing Board and Chair of both our County Durham 
and Darlington System Resilience Group and the North East and North Cumbria Urgent and 
Emergency Care Network. 
 
Gill Findley, Director of Nursing/Nurse Advisor 
 
Gill has held various nursing posts in the community, secondary and tertiary care settings. 
Recent posts have included Associate Director of Nursing at County Durham and Darlington 
NHS Foundation Trust covering safeguarding, risk and clinical governance, a spell at the North 
East Leadership Academy and working in North East Ambulance Service NHS Foundation 
Trust as A&E Business Manager. Gill trained as a Registered General Nurse and Registered 
Sick Children’s Nurse at Great Ormond Street hospital in London.  Following a period of time as 
a research nurse at St.James’s hospital in Leeds, she moved to the North East and has lived 
here for 20 years. Gill lives with her husband in Chester le Street and has two daughters 
 
Dr Winny Jose, MRCGP Clinical Locality Lead for Sedgefield 
 
Winny is a full time GP partner at Jubilee Medical Group, Newton Aycliffe since 2008. He has 
been involved in commissioning for the last six years. He is passionate about Diabetes, Care 
Closure to Home and Community Services and is committed to working together for a better 
future. Winny lives in Tudhoe Village, is married and has two young girls. He loves the 
outdoors, walking and free climbing mountains. 
 
Anna Lynch, Director of Public Health, County Durham, Director of Public Health, County 
Durham 
 
Anna has been the Director of Public Health for County Durham since 2006. From 1 April 2013 
the role and related statutory functions transferred to Durham County Council under the Health 
& Social Care Act 2012 legislation. Anna has worked in County Durham since 1993 firstly as 
Head of Health Promotion and then Director of Public Health for Easington from 2002 to 2006. 
Prior to this she worked in the NHS in Teesside and Trafford, Greater Manchester and also in 
local authority in the North West. Anna represents colleague Directors of Public Health as a 
north east member of the Association of Directors of Public Health, is chair of the North East 
Directors of Public Health Network and is a member of the Health Equity North Steering Group. 
Anna is committed to ensuring that the health inequalities agenda remains a focus in the 
commissioning of health care services across County Durham and leading the transformation 
of public health across the range of services provided by Durham County Council. 
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Helen Moore, Sedgefield Locality Clinical Lead 
 
Helen has been a partner at Ferryhill and Chilton Medical Practice since 1996. She also works 
as a GP specialist in dermatology and skin surgery, vasectomy and endoscopy, and is a Fellow 
of the Royal College of Surgeons Glasgow. She did her initial medical training in Newcastle, 
after growing up in London, and after a short spell in Wales, gravitated back to the North East. 
She has been actively involved in the PCG and then PCT for 18 years as a clinical lead for 
dermatology and endoscopy, advising on pathway development and other clinical issues. When 
the PCT became the CCG, Helen was voted deputy clinical lead for the locality, and 
subsequently clinical lead. She lives with her husband in Darlington and has two children at 
University. 
 
Dr Hrushikesh Mudalagiri, Locality Lead 
 
Dr Mudalagiri is a GP in the Easington area and recently joined the CCG as Locality Lead.  He 
also has former experience as a consultant surgeon. 
 
Mark Pickering, Chief Finance Officer ACMA CGMA CPFA 
 
Mark is a qualified accountant, and an associate member of the Chartered Institute of 
Management Accountants. He has worked in finance and performance for a variety of NHS and 
Local Government organisations over a 26 year career (with 14 years spent working in the NHS 
in County Durham), covering various sectors including healthcare commissioning, acute 
secondary care, mental health services and community care. He has a Master’s Degree in 
Applied Financial Management and lives in Washington with his wife and son. 
 
Jonathan Smith, Clinical Chair 
 
Living in the North East all of his life and originally from Stockton-on-Tees, Jonathan went to 
Medical School in Newcastle, and qualified in 2003. During his work as a hospital doctor and 
GP trainee he has spent time in most of the hospitals in our region. As a GP trainee Jonathan 
worked in practices in Gateshead, Derwentside, Sunderland and Durham Dales. He has been a 
full time GP Partner in South Hetton since 2008, and has been involved in Medical student 
teaching and research as well as clinical work during this time. Within the 
 CCG he is currently the Clinical Chair, holding a previous post as Locality Lead for Easington 
and is currently leading the CCG’s GP Career Start training scheme. Recently Jonathan was 
also appointed to the newly formed NHS England Senate Council. Outside of work he enjoys 
spending time with his young family, and tries to keep fit running and rowing. 
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Ian Spencer, Secondary Care Clinician 
 
Ian Spencer was a Consultant Anaesthetist for almost 30 years before retiring in 2011. Initially 
his medical career was in the Royal Air Force, where he was promoted to Group Captain and 
was made the RAF Consultant Adviser for his specialty. Following the closure of military 
hospitals, he became a NHS Consultant in 1995 and worked thereafter at CDDFT (formerly 
Dryburn Hospital) in Durham. Additionally, he was an Examiner for the Royal College of 
Anaesthetists for 13 years, Chairman of his hospital's Medical Advisory Committee and also its 
BMA Representative.  Since retiring he has worked as a Volunteer for the CAB, dealing with 
clients who wish to claim medically-related benefits, and enjoys walking and his new pastimes 
of bowls and ukulele. In his role in the CCG he hopes his wide experience in Secondary Care, 
as well as risk management, quality and audit, will be of benefit to the Board. 
 
David Taylor-Gooby, Lay Member (Responsible for Patient and Public Engagement) 
 
Originally a senior lecturer at East Durham College, David has also worked in public 
involvement in the health sector and served as councillor in Easington. He was Chair of the 
social housing organisation East Durham Homes. He has published a book about the future of 
the NHS and also writes columns for the Newcastle Journal. David was born in Watford, 
Hertfordshire, but moved to the North East in 1969. He lives in Peterlee with his wife Maureen. 
David was previously a member of the Durham County Council Health Scrutiny Committee. He 
also chairs the Apollo Pavilion Community Association. He feels the NHS faces considerable 
challenges in the future, and Patient and Public Engagement is crucial if it is to successfully 
meet them. 
 
Dr Dilys Waller, Clinical Locality Lead (Durham Dales) 
 
Dilys has been a GP partner at Woodview Medical Practice in Cockfield and Staindrop since 
1990. She has been involved in working with those who commission health care services for 
the local population for more than 10 years. She works as locality lead for the Dales Locality as 
well as working in her practice and is particularly interested in improving the management of 
long term conditions. 
 
John Whitehouse, Lay Member Governance and Audit 
 
John is a qualified public finance accountant. In a career spanning 36 years he has worked in 
local government, the private sector and the NHS. Within the NHS he held a number of senior 
roles in finance but most significantly in internal audit. He lives in Hartlepool with his wife. He 
has two daughters and a growing number of grandchildren with whom he spends a great deal 
of his time. 
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Members that have left or joined the CCG during 2016/17 
 
During the year, Anna Lynch left her role as Director of Public Health and was replaced 
temporarily by Gill o Neill. 
 
James Carlton, the CCG’s Medical Adviser took up additional responsibilities as a Locality Lead 
for Durham Dales. 
 
Lesley Jeavons was replaced by Lee Alexander as Head of Adult Services (Durham County 
Council). 
 
Nari Pindolia resigned from his post as Locality Lead (Durham Dales). 
 
Disclosure of information to auditors  
 
In the case of each of the persons who are members at the time the report is approved: 
 
• so far as the members are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the 

NHS body's auditor is unaware; 
• members have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a member in order to 

make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the 
entity's auditor is aware of that information. 

 
Audit and Assurance Committee 
 
Membership includes: 

• Lay member – governance and audit (Chair) 
• One additional lay member  
• One of the three clinical locality leads 
• Secondary care clinician 
• Other non-officer member of the Governing Body 
• The CCG may also co-opt non-officer members onto the committee from other local 

CCGs as and when required to achieve quoracy. 
 
Remuneration Committee 
 
Membership includes, the following minimum membership is required: 

• Chair of the Governing Body 
• Lay member – Governance and Audit 
• Lay member – Patient and Public Involvement 
• Third lay member on the Governing Body 
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Governing Body 
 
Details of the membership and meetings of the Governing Body can be found in the 
Governance Statement. 
 
Member Practices 
Durham Dales Locality 

Practice Name Address 
Bishopgate Medical Centre 
 

178, Newgate Street, Bishop Auckland, County Durham. 
DL14 7 EJ 
 
The Eden Centre, Victoria Lane, Coundon, DL14 8NP 
 

Evenwood Surgery 
 

Copeland Lane, Bishop Auckland, County Durham DL14 9SU 

Auckland Medical Group 
 

Toft Hill, Bishop Auckland, County Durham DL14 0JA 
 
The Old Firehouse, Watling Road, Bishop Auckland, County 
Durham, DL14 6RP 
 
St Helens Surgery, 16 Manor Road, Auckland, DL14 9EP 
 

Station View Medical Centre 
 

29A, Escomb Road, Town Centre, Bishop Auckland, County 
Durham. DL14 6AB 
 

Pinfold Medical Practice 
 

Pinfold Lane, Butterknowle, Bishop Auckland, County 
Durham. DL13 5NX 
 

Woodview Medical Practice 
 

Woodview, Cockfield, Bishop Auckland, County Durham. 
DL13 5AF 
 
Staindrop Surgery, Dovecote Street, Staindrop, Co Durham, 
DL2 3JT 
 
Evenwood Surgery, Copeland Lane, Evenwood, County 
Durham, DL14 9SU 
 

Barnard Castle Surgery 
 

Barnard Castle Surgery, Victoria Road, Barnard Castle, 
County Durham. DL12 8HT 
 

The Old Forge Surgery, 
Middleton In Teasdale 
 

The Surgery/Hill Terrace, Barnard Castle County Durham. 
DL12 0QE 
 

The Weardale Practice 
 

Market Place, Wolsingham, Bishop Auckland, County 
Durham. DL13 3AB 
 
Weardale Practice, Stanhope Health Centre, Dales Street, 
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Stanhope, DL13 2XD 
 
St John's Chapel Surgery, Hood Street, 1 St Johns Chapel, 
DL13 1QW 
 

Willington Medical Group 
 

The Surgery, Chapel Street, Willington, Crook, County 
Durham. DL15 0EQ 
 

North House Surgery 
 

North House Surgery. Hope Street Crook Co Durham. DL15 
9HU 
 

Gainford Surgery 
 

Gainford Surgery, Main Road, Gainford, Darlington, County 
Durham. DL2 3BE 
 

 

Easington Locality 

Practice Name Address 
Station Road Surgery 
 

Station Rd, Shotton Colliery, Durham, County Durham. DH6 
2JL 
 

Horden Group Practice 
 

Sunderland Rd, Peterlee, County Durham. SR8 4QJ 
 
Peterlee Surgery, Bede Way, Peterlee, County Durham, SR8 
1AD 
 

Blackhall & Peterlee Practice 
 

Peterlee Community Hospital, O'Neill Drive, Peterlee, County 
Durham, SR8 5TZ 
 

Phoenix Medical Group 
 

The Surgery, 2 The Green, Woodland Crescent, Kelloe, 
Durham, DH6 4NU 
 
Dunelm Road, Thornley, Durham, DH6 3HW 
 
Wheatley Hill Practice, Thornley Road, Wheatley Hill, County 
Durham, DH6 4NU 
 

The Carodoc Surgery 
 

Front St West, Wingate. TS28 5PZ 

Marlborough Surgery 
 

Marlborough, Seaham, County Durham. SR7 7SA 
 

Shotton Medical Practice 
 

Bevan Grove, Shotton Colliery, County Durham DH6 2LQ 
 

William Brown Centre 
 

Manor Way Peterlee, County Durham. SR8 5TW 
 

New Seaham Medical Centre 
 

Seaham Primary Care Centre, 1-2 Adelaide Row, Seaham 
SR7 7EF 
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Deneside Medical Centre 
 

The Avenue, Seaham, County Durham. SR7 8LF  
 

Southdene Medical Centre 
 
 
 

56 Front Street Shotton Colliery Durham. DH6 2LT 
 
Haswell Branch Surgery, Front Street (East), Haswell, County 
Durham, DH6 2BL 
 
Peterlee Health Centre, Peterlee, County Durham, SR8 1AD 
 

Murton Medical Group 
 

20 Woods Terrace East, Murton, Seaham, County Durham, 
SR7 9AB 
 

Avenue Family Practice 
 

The Avenue, Seaham, County Durham. SR7 8LF  
 

Silverdale Family Practice South Hetton Health Centre, Front St, Hetton-le-Hole, 
Durham, County Durham DH6 2TH 
 

Wingate Medical Centre Front Street West Wingate County Durham. TS28 5PZ 
 

Shinwell Medical Group 
 

Shinwell Medical Practice, Fourth Street, Peterlee, Co 
Durham, SR8 4LD 
 
Shinwell Medical Group, Peterlee Health Centre, Fleming 
Place, Peterlee, SR8 1AD 
 

 

Sedgefield Locality 

Practice Name Address 
The Peaseway Medical Centre 
 

2 Pease Way, Newton Aycliffe, County Durham. DL5 5NH 
 

Jubilee Medical Group 
 

Burn Lane, Newton Aycliffe, County Durham. DL5 4SE 
 

Ferryhill & Chilton Medical 
Practice  
 

Durham Road, Ferryhill, County Durham. DL17 8JJ 

Skerne Medical Group 
 

Harbinson House, Front Street, Sedgefield, Stockton-on-
Tees, Cleveland, TS21 3BN 
 
Fishburn Surgery, Beveridge House, Butterwick Road, 
Fishburn, TS21 4AP 
 
Trimdon Colliery Surgery, Carroll House, Grosvenor Terrace, 
Trimdon Colliery, TS29 6DH 
 
Trimdon Village Surgery, 18 Wynyard Road, Trimdon Village, 
TS29 6JH 
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Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities 
 
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical 
Commissioning Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be 
appointed by the NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England).  NHS England has 
appointed the Chief Clinical Officer to be the Accountable Officer of the Clinical 
Commissioning Group. 
 
The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer, including responsibilities for the 
propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable Officer is 
answerable, for keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning Group and 
enable them to ensure that the accounts comply with the requirements of the 
Accounts Direction) and for safeguarding the Clinical Commissioning Group’s assets 
(and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and 
other irregularities), are set out in the Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable 
Officer Appointment Letter. 
 
Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has 
directed each Clinical Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year 
financial statements in the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. 
The financial statements are prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and 
fair view of the state of affairs of the Clinical Commissioning Group and of its net 
expenditure, changes in taxpayers’ equity and cash flows for the financial year. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is required to comply 
with the requirements of the Manual for Accounts issued by the Department of Health 
and in particular to: 
 

• Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the 
relevant accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable 
accounting policies on a consistent basis; 

• Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis; 
• State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Manual for 

Accounts issued by the Department of Health have been followed, and 
disclose and explain any material departures in the financial statements; and, 

• Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis. 
To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the 
responsibilities set out in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable 
Officer Appointment Letter. 
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Governance Statement 
Governance Statement by Stewart Findlay as the Accountable Officer of NHS 
Durham Dales Easington and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Group 
 
Introduction and context 
Durham, Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG is a body corporate established by 
NHS England on 1 April 2013 under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as 
amended). 
 
The clinical commissioning group’s statutory functions are set out under the National 
Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).  The CCG’s general function is arranging the 
provision of services for persons for the purposes of the health service in England.   
 
The CCG is, in particular, required to arrange for the provision of certain health 
services to such extent as it considers necessary to meet the reasonable 
requirements of its local population.   
 
As of 1 April 2016, the clinical commissioning group is not subject to any directions 
from NHS England issued under Section 14Z21 of the National Health Service Act 
2006. 
 
Scope of responsibility 

As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of 
internal control that supports the achievement of the clinical commissioning group’s 
policies, aims and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for 
which I am personally responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned 
to me in Managing Public Money. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out 
under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and in my Clinical 
Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. 
I am responsible for ensuring that the clinical commissioning group is administered 
prudently and economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively, 
safeguarding financial propriety and regularity. I also have responsibility for reviewing 
the effectiveness of the system of internal control within the clinical commissioning 
group as set out in this governance statement. 
 
Governance arrangements and effectiveness 
The main function of the governing body is to ensure that the group has made 
appropriate arrangements for ensuring that it exercises its functions effectively, 
efficiently and economically and complies with such generally accepted principles of 
good governance as are relevant to it. 
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The CCG has a Constitution based on the Department of Health’s Model Template 
that has been amended and approved to take into account subsequent guidance. 
Review of the CCG’s Constitution confirms that it complies with the elements of the 
self-certification checklist, including: 

• specifying the arrangements made by the CCG for the discharge of its 
functions; 

• specifying the arrangements made by the CCG for the discharge of the 
functions of the Governing Body; 

• the procedures to be followed by the CCG in making decisions; 

• the arrangements it has made to secure that individuals to whom health 
services are being, or may be, provided pursuant to its commissioning 
arrangements are involved; 

• arrangements made by the CCG for discharging its duties in respect of 
registers of interests and management of conflicts of interests; 

• arrangements made by the CCG for ensuring that there is transparency about 
the decisions of the group and the manner in which they are made. 
 

During the year 2016/17, the CCG Governing Body met on 8 occasions both in 
private and in public for which there was an annual cycle of business. Agendas are 
structured to deal with strategic, performance, quality assurance, risk and 
governance issues. The arrangements meet the requirements of best practice 
guidance in respect of risk management and ensure that a strong accountability 
framework has been established. They reflect the public service values of 
accountability, probity and openness and specify as Accountable Officer my 
responsibility for ensuring that these values are met within the CCG. The members’ 
report section of the annual report outlines the detail relating to the membership 
practices and Governing Body and their committee and sub-committees and 
meetings attendance record. 
 
The CCG has continued to operate with a committee structure which reflects 
guidance and best practice, including Governing Body; Executive Committee; Audit 
and Assurance Committee; Primary Care Commissioning, Quality, Finance and 
Performance (within Executive Committee); and Remuneration Committee. Terms of 
reference have been agreed for these committees that support the organisation in 
the delivery of effective governance. The organisational structure including key 
committees is set out below. 
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Description of the established Governing Body Committees 
 
The roles of each of the Governing Body committees are set out broadly below. The 
Governing Body committees have authority under the Scheme of Delegation to 
establish sub committees or sub groups to enable them to fulfil their role. Each of the 
Governing Body Committees has detailed Terms of Reference. Each committee is 
authorised by the Governing Body to pursue any activity within their terms of 
reference which are subsequently approved by the CCG’s Council of Members.  
Each committee is authorised by the Governing Body to operate within the scheme 
of reservation and delegation. 
 
Executive Committee 
 

 The Executive Committee, which is accountable to the group’s Governing Body, 
meets every two weeks to manage operational issues and provide executive support 
for the Governing Body. Each committee meeting addresses CCG Strategic and 
Operational issues and the fourth meeting in the month is a themed agenda covering 
Quality Finance & Performance items. The Formal Executive Committee met 39 
times during the financial year and 11 times ‘in common’ with NHS North Durham 
CCG.  The Council of Members has approved and keeps under review the terms of 
reference for the Executive Committee, which includes information on the 
membership of the Executive Committee. In addition, the group or the Governing 
Body has conferred or delegated the operational management of the following 
functions, connected with the Governing Body’s main function, to its Executive 
Committee: 

 
• Planning. 
• Strategy. 
• Financial management. 
• Risk management. 
• Quality. 
• Clinical governance. 
• Performance. 
• Corporate governance including Information Governance 

 
 
Audit and Assurance Committee 
 
In line with the requirements of the NHS audit committee handbook and NHS codes 
of conduct and accountability, the committee provides the CCG with an independent 
and objective review of systems of internal control, risk and governance processes 
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and arrangements, and compliance with laws, guidance, and regulations governing 
the NHS. The committee is a non- executive committee of the Governing Body and 
has no executive powers. 
 
The Audit and Assurance Committee, which is accountable to the group’s Governing 
Body, provides the Governing Body with assurance on the effective, efficient and 
economic operation of the CCGs financial systems, financial information and 
compliance with laws, regulations and directions governing the group in so far as 
they relate to finance. The committee will report annually to the Governing Body. The 
Council of Members has approved and keeps under review the terms of reference for 
the Audit and Assurance Committee, which includes information on the membership 
of the Audit and Assurance Committee. 
 

 The Audit and Assurance Committee, as part of its terms of reference, provides 
regular updates of its work to the Governing Body via Audit Chair updates. The 
principal purpose of this is to give the Governing Body an assurance as to the work 
carried out to support the accountable officer’s review of the internal control 
arrangements. The committee’s cycle of business enables the Audit and Assurance 
Committee to carry out its key objectives necessary to support its assurances 
regarding the effectiveness of the organisation’s internal controls. 

 
 Details of membership of the committee are contained within the members’ report 

section of this annual report. 
 
 The Audit and Assurance Committee met 6 times during the financial year 2016/17, 

and highlights from the year’s work include agreeing strategic work programmes for 
internal and external audit and the counter fraud service; reviewing the 
enhancements made to the risk and assurance frameworks for the CCG to provide 
assurance to the Governing Body; receiving updates from internal and external 
auditors in respect of key systems and processes; and received updates on the 
financial position of the CCG. The confirmed minutes from the committee are shared 
with the Governing Body of the CCG. 
 
 
Remuneration Committee 
 

 The Remuneration Committee, which is accountable to the group’s Governing Body, 
makes recommendations to the Governing Body on determinations about the 
remuneration, fees and other allowances for employees and for people who provide 
services to the group, and on determinations about allowances under any pension 
scheme that the group may establish as an alternative to the NHS pension scheme. 
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The Council of Members has approved and keeps under review the terms of 
reference for the Remuneration Committee, which includes information on the 
membership of the Remuneration Committee. 

 
 Details of membership of the committee are contained within the members’ report 

section of this annual report. 
 
 The Remuneration Committee met once during the financial year 2016/17. The 

committee has not yet formally carried out a self-assessment of performance for this 
financial year. 

 

Primary Care Commissioning Committee 

 The Primary Care Commissioning Committee, which is accountable to the group’s 
Governing Body, has been established in accordance with the statutory provisions 
enabling NHS England to delegate to the CCG authority to exercise the primary care 
commissioning functions set out in Schedule 2 in accordance with section 13Z of the 
NHS Act. The committee makes collective decisions on the review, planning and 
procurement of primary care services in Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield 
under delegated authority from NHS England. The role of the Committee is to carry 
out the functions relating to the commissioning of primary medical services under 
section 83 of the NHS Act, including: 

 

• GMS, PMS and APMS contracts  

• Newly designed enhanced services  

• Design of local incentive schemes as an alternative to the Quality Outcomes 
Framework (QOF); 

• Decision making on whether to establish new GP practices in an area; 

• Approving practice mergers; and 

• Making decisions on ‘discretionary’ payment (e.g., returner/retainer 
schemes). 

 

In addition the committee carries out the following activities: 

• Planning, including needs assessment, primary medical care services in 
Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield. 

• Undertaking reviews of primary medical care services in Durham Dales, 
Easington and Sedgefield; 
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• Co-ordinating a common approach to the commissioning of primary care 
services generally; 

• Managing the budget for commissioning of primary medical care services in 
Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield. 

The Primary Care Commissioning Committee met 7 times during the financial year 
2016/17. 

 

Joint committees 
 

 We meet regularly ‘in common’ with North Durham CCG’s Audit and Risk Committee 
as well as meeting as Executive Committees ‘in common’. 

 Collaborative working arrangements have been developed with a number of other 
CCGs, including joint arrangements with the CCGs in the North of England to 
determine commissioning for health gain policies and to review and approve 
individual funding requests, including conducting an appeals process.  

 These joint working arrangements do not represent formal joint committees and the 
CCG retains responsibility for making any relevant decisions in line with the scheme 
of reservation and delegation and its statutory obligations. 

The Governing Body approved delegated authority to a Joint CCG Committee for the 
Sustainability and Transformation Plan via the Clinical Chair and Chief Clinical 
Officer.  Details of the delegated functions can be found under ‘Delegation of 
Statutory Functions’. 
 

UK Corporate Governance Code  

 
This Governance Statement is intended to demonstrate how the CCG had regard to 
the principles set out in the code appropriate for CCGs for the financial year ended 
March 2017. 
 
In reviewing and assessing the effectiveness of the Governing Body, the guidance 
contained within The UK Corporate Code of Governance (2012) has been further 
developed into a Governing Body “self-assessment” questionnaire which will be 
undertaken during the 2017-18 financial year.  Previous assessments have involved 
development sessions complimented by questionnaires. 
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The guidance contained within the code enables assessment of Governing Body 
effectiveness against the following criteria; leadership, effectiveness, accountability, 
remuneration and relations with stakeholders on a ‘comply or explain’ basis.  
 
Leadership development of the Governing Body has taken place previously with an 
external facilitator to enable a discussion about effectiveness of relationships to take 
place.   
 
In particular, having reviewed the effectiveness of the CCG’s governance framework 
and arrangements in relation to The UK Corporate Code of Governance, I consider 
that the organisation complies with the principles and standards of best practice 
contained within the guidance on a ‘comply or explain’ basis   
 

Discharge of Statutory Functions 

 
Arrangements put in place by the CCG and explained within the Corporate 
Governance Framework were developed with extensive expert external legal input, 
to ensure compliance with all relevant legislation. That legal advice also informed the 
matters reserved for Membership Body and Governing Body decision and the 
scheme of delegation. 
 
In light of the Harris Review, the CCG has reviewed all of the statutory duties and 
powers conferred on it by the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and 
other associated legislative and regulations. As a result, I can confirm that the CCG 
is clear about the legislative requirements associated with each of the statutory 
functions for which it is responsible, including any restrictions on delegation of those 
functions. 
 
Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead director. 
Directorates have confirmed that their structures provide the necessary capability 
and capacity to undertake all of the CCG’s statutory duties. 
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Risk management arrangements and effectiveness  
 
Our comprehensive approach to risk management employs best practice in 
compliance with accepted standards.  A Risk Management Policy is in place which 
takes into account current guidance on risk management best practice and 
incorporates guidance provided by ISO 31000:2009 (formerly AZ/NZ Standard 
4360:2004) and the former National Patient Safety Agency in its approach to 
assessing risk.  It is also consistent with NHS England’s Risk Management Policy 
and Process guidance. 
 
Our risk management framework is the systematic application of management 
policies, procedures and practices to the tasks of identifying, monitoring, mitigating 
and managing risk. All CCG risks are recorded and managed in the electronic 
Safeguard Incident Risk Management System (SIRMS). North of England 
Commissioning Support Unit provides our risk reporting and management via 
SIRMS. Additionally, the CCG assurance framework enables the Executive 
Committee, Audit and Assurance Committee, and the Governing Body to ensure 
effective arrangements are in place for the management of risks to principal strategic 
objectives and for the sound governance of the organisation. 
 
Our approach to risk management ensures: 
 

• risk management is a cohesive element of the internal control systems within 
the corporate governance framework supported by robust risk management 
systems and processes, 

• the organisation meets statutory obligations including those relating to health 
and safety and data protection, 

• all stakeholders, staff and partner organisations are assured that the CCG is 
committed to managing risk appropriately, 

• staff can access support and risk management training and development is 
provided across the organisation by the NECS governance team, 

• updates and guidance reviews are communicated to all staff. 
 

The Risk Management Policy sets out the CCG’s position in respect of risk appetite, 
this being the amount of risk that the organisation is prepared to accept, tolerate or 
be exposed to at any point in time. The CCG endeavours to reduce risks to the 
lowest possible level reasonably practicable.  Where risks cannot reasonably be 
avoided, every effort will be made to mitigate the remaining risk.       
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All our policies are assessed utilising a nationally recognised Equality Impact 
Assessment (EIA) tool, this process of analysing a new or existing service, policy or 
process enables us to identify what is the (likely) effect of implementation for different 
groups within the community (including patients, public and staff).  
 
The CCG has a well-established and transparent incident reporting and management 
system which is embedded across the organisation. The CCG openly encourages 
and supports incident reporting by ensuring that there a robust Incident Reporting 
and Management Policy and  Standard Operating Procedure (SOP) in place which is 
reviewed annually and that the appropriate training is proved in a timely manner. 
 
Capacity to Handle Risk  
 
Strong leadership and an effective governance structure are vital elements of the 
CCGs capacity to handling risk. The governance arrangements as outlined in the 
introduction of this report meet the requirements of best practice guidance in respect 
of risk management and ensure that a strong accountability framework has been 
established and is maintained.  
 
The CCG has clear lines of accountability with defined responsibilities and objectives 
relating to the all aspects of risk reporting and management. The Accountable Officer 
has overall responsibility for ensuring the implementation of an effective risk 
management strategy, systems and controls. Each of the directors/ senior managers 
of the CCG is responsible for the management of strategic and operational risk in 
their specific areas, including ensuring that all areas of risk are assessed 
appropriately, in a timely manner and action taken to implement improvements. 
 
The Governing Body has been delegated overall responsibility for governance, 
assurance and management of risk and therefore a clear oversight of the CCGs 
performance. The Governing Body has a duty to assure itself that the CCG has 
properly identified the risks it faces and that it has processes and controls in place to 
mitigate those risks and the impact they have. The Governing Body monitors high 
level, principal risks relating to the achievement of the strategic objectives through 
the Governing Body Assurance Framework. 
 
The Audit and Assurance Committee is responsible for reviewing and providing 
assurance to the Governing Body on the systems in place across the CCG for 
governance and risk management including internal control.  
 
The Executive Committee is responsible for ensuring that all risks relevant to their 
area of responsibility are identified, addressed and reported to the Governing Body 
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as appropriate. The CCG governance infrastructure supports and enables effective 
risk management. The Executive Committee, chaired by the Chief Clinical Officer, 
has overall responsibility for overseeing the implementation of this policy. The 
committee will also: 
 

• review all risks on the risk register and monitor progression of stated action on 
a monthly basis; 

• review trend analysis for all risks; 
• ensure the established processes to manage risk by each team/committee is 

in place and provide support for action where necessary; 
• ensure the processes for managing risk within the CCG are clearly 

understood, appropriately delegated and effective and    
• escalate issues to the governing body as appropriate, in particular the 

identification of new, significant risk or areas of concern of risks graded high or 
extreme to the governing body.  

 
Each of the Executive Committee members of the CCG are responsible for: 
 

• co-ordinating operational risk in their specific areas in accordance with the 
Risk Management policy; 

• ensuring that all areas of risk are assessed appropriately and action taken to 
implement improvements; 

• ensuring that staff under their management are aware of their risk 
management responsibilities in relation to the Risk Management policy; 

• incorporating risk management as a management technique within the 
performance management arrangements for the organisation. 

 
All managers within the CCG are responsible for implementing the risk management 
policy within their span of control and for ensuring that staff understand and apply the 
relevant policy and strategy in relation to risk management. All staff within the CCG 
are responsible for assisting in the implementation of the Risk Management Policy 
and for highlighting any areas of risk through the incident reporting procedures, a 
principal means through which the CCG manages risk and learns lessons.  Handling 
risk and risk reporting and management is “everybody’s” responsibility within the 
CCG and all staff are familiar with the main risks in their area of activity which 
ensures the submission of timely and accurate information to supports the 
assessment of CCG risks to ensure compliance with statutory obligations.  
 
Risk management training is offered to all executive members and risk leads / risk 
coordinators on an annual basis. An annual training requirements discussion is 
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undertaken led by the CCG risk lead and  NECS Senior Governance Manager (lead 
for Risk Management), based on the findings of the discussion, the CCG risk 
management training plan was developed for staff for 2016/17. To further support 
staff and share lessons learnt relating to risk and incident activities an individually 
tailored CCG Risk Register standard operating procedure and a range of risk 
management guidance materials have also been provided within the CCG for staff.      
 
Whenever risks have been identified it is important to assess and record the risk so 
that appropriate controls are put in place to eliminate the risk or mitigate its effect.  
To do this, a standard risk matrix is used, as outlined in the CCG Risk Management 
Policy, the matrix in our risk assessment guidance is based on current national 
guidance and also adapted to suit the CCG risk appetite.  
 
Risk is identified and embedded in the organisation via a number of mechanisms 
including a comprehensive risk register which identifies current and prospective risks 
to the organisation.  The risk register incorporates the full comprehensive list of all 
risks facing the organisation at an operational and strategic level, aligned to the CCG 
strategic objectives.   
 
The risk register captures details of the assessment of each risk in terms of 
consequence and likelihood to produce an overall risk score, together with the 
mitigating action then being taken to manage those risks. 
 
Each risk is assigned to a responsible director/ senior manager who maintains 
overall responsibility for the risk, with each risk also aligned to a Governing Body 
committee based on the respective delivery area. 
 
All risks are reviewed on a monthly basis by the respective aligned committee to 
ensure that risks are appropriately assessed and that where required action is being 
taken, with the Executive Committee and Governing Body performing an overall 
review of all risks. 
 
All corporate red risks, identified as having the potential to have a significant impact 
on the CCG corporate objectives, are then escalated and specifically reviewed by 
Governing Body. 
 
The Audit and Assurance Committee ensures the CCG works within and adheres to 
robust risk reporting and management processes and systems. An annual review 
and update of the CCGs Risk Management Policy ensures that risk management 
processes and systems are updated in line with current best practice guidance. 
However, if there was a need to change or update risk management practice outside 
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the review period to further support a change in good practice or process this would 
be reviewed as required and updated accordingly.  
 
Current major risks to governance, risk management and internal control 
 
There is one risk of concern outlined below. 
 
Description of Risk Risk Rating 

NHS Constitutional Standards 

Risk to health, wellbeing and patient experience of the local 
population as a result of non-achievement of national targets, 
particularly the limited capacity of ambulance service provision 
and linked performance and achievement of A&E 4 hour 
targets. 

Consequence  = 4 (Major) 

Likelihood = 4 (Likely) 

Total Risk rating of 16 (Red) 

 

During the financial year, the CCG has also managed an area of risk associated with 
achievement of the financial control total.  This has previously been reflected with a 
red risk rating of 16, although this has been reduced as the financial year-end 
approached and the financial control total has been delivered. 
 

How the CCG has acted to manage major risks and how outcomes are 
assessed  
 
The CCG’s approach to the management of all risks in fulfilment of its overall 
objectives is the adoption and embedding within the organisation of an effective risk 
management framework and processes will ensure that the reputation of the CCG is 
maintained and enhanced, and its resources are used effectively to ensure business 
success, continuing financial strength and to ensure continuous quality improvement 
in its operating model 

 
The outcomes and assessment of all risks reported and managed across the 
organisation are firmly aligned to good management practice and ensuring that 
effective management techniques for managing the risks are clear within the 
organisation. All risks are managed and aligned actions assessed on and individual 
risk by risk bases. The CCG is keen to ensure that risk management is not seen as 
an end in itself, but rather a part of an overall management approach that supports 
the organisation in developing achievable management action plans. 
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Other sources of assurance  
 
Internal Control Framework 

A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the 
clinical commissioning group to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives. It 
is designed to identify and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks 
being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them 
efficiently, effectively and economically. The system of internal control allows risk to 
be managed to a reasonable level rather than eliminating all risk; it can therefore only 
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system of 
internal control has been in place in the CCG for the year ended 31 March 2017 and 
up to the date of approval of the Annual Report and Accounts. 

The CCG’s system of internal control includes the governance framework and 
arrangements highlighted in the Governance Statement, with the Scheme of 
Reservation and Delegation, Standing Financial Instructions and supporting financial 
and operational policies. The Audit and Assurance Committee plays a key role in 
reviewing the adequacy of the internal control framework and providing assurance to 
the Governing Body on the effectiveness of internal control arrangements. 

This includes, but is not limited to, reviewing the work of internal audit who evaluate 
the effectiveness of the design and operation of the CCG’s system of internal control. 

During the 2016-17 period a review of the CCG’s Business Assurance Framework 
was undertaken.  This resulted in some changes to the framework that enabled the 
CCG to focus better on national priorities and to re-focus internal operational efforts.  
The revised framework was approved by Audit and Assurance Committee and the 
Governing Body and has enabled the CCG to better assess their level of actual risk 
whilst having better oversight of their priorities both nationally and locally. 

 

Annual audit of conflicts of interest management  

 

The revised statutory guidance on managing conflicts of interest for CCGs (published 
June 2016) requires CCGs to undertake an annual internal audit of conflicts of 
interest management. To support CCGs to undertake this task, NHS England has 
published a template audit framework.  

An internal audit was undertaken during February and March 2017.  The audit looked 
at all CCG processes including registers, meeting reports and additional processes 
over and above the requirements of the guidance that the CCG has put into place. 
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We are pleased to confirm that internal audit gave the CCG a ‘good’ assurance rating 
for their conflicts of interest processes meaning that no areas were found to be non-
compliant.  Any specific recommendations made by internal audit around how the 
CCG can improve and work towards a rating of ‘substantial’ assurance in future will 
be developed over the next financial year.  

 
Data Quality 
 

NECS Data Management service have processes and systems in place to assess 
the quality and completeness of data managed on behalf of the CCG. Data is 
checked at all stages of processing through CSU systems and finally on publication 
of reports/analysis. Data is compared against historic and planned levels to provide 
assurance on completeness as well as with peer organisations in the form of 
benchmarking analysis. 

Processes are in place to raise any data quality issues with providers on a monthly 
basis, feedback from these challenges is utilised to alter any processing routines as 
required. The CCG utilises contract levers where necessary to ensure high quality 
data is captured at source and to minimise any updating of data once received by 
commissioners. Reconciliation accounts for each contract highlight any 
discrepancies between provider and commissioner data that are then investigated 
and resolved. 

Significant validations steps are in place in all routine data processing tasks to 
ensure poor quality data is not made available for analysis and then subsequently 
used as the basis for commissioning decisions. 

 
Information Governance 
 
The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and procedures by 
which the NHS handles information about patients and employees, in particular 
personal identifiable information.  The NHS Information Governance Framework is 
supported by an information governance toolkit and the annual submission process 
provides assurances to the clinical commissioning group, other organisations and to 
individuals that personal information is dealt with legally, securely, efficiently and 
effectively.  

We place high importance on ensuring there are robust information governance 
systems and processes in place to help protect patient and corporate information.  
We have established an information governance management framework comprising 
an approved strategy, a suite of approved policies and procedures, a programme of 
mandatory training, an Information Governance Handbook for staff, information risk 
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management, incident management and has also adopted and implemented the 
Health and Social Care Information Centre’s (HSCIC)  Checklist Guidance for 
Reporting, Managing and Investigating Information Governance and Cyber Security 
Serious Incidents Requiring Investigation. 

The organisation has in place a standard operating procedure for the reporting of 
level 2 Information Governance incidents to the Information Commissioner. This 
procedure outlines the scope of responsibilities and details the reporting procedures 
to be used in the event of a data security breach. There have been no Information 
Governance serious breaches during 2016/17. 

The Information Governance agenda is heard at the Executive Committee which also 
oversees the day-to-day management of IG systems and processes. The CCG has 
also appointed a Caldicott Guardian (Dr. James Carlton) and Senior Information Risk 
Owner (Nicola Bailey). 

The Information Governance Toolkit has been provided by NHS Digital to support 
performance monitoring of progress on Information Governance in the NHS. The 
CCG has published the HSCIC Information Governance Toolkit Version 14 and has 
self-assessed as being satisfactory. 

The CCG complies with its statutory duty to respond to requests for information. 
During the year, the CCG received 278 requests under the Freedom of Information 
Act 2000 and 9 subject access requests 8 of which were CHC requests under the 
Data Protection Act 1998. All the requests were responded to within the statutory 
timescales. 

 

Business Critical Models 
 
The CCG is aware of the quality assurance requirements in respect of business 
critical models contained within the recommendations in the Macpherson report and I 
consider that appropriate arrangements are in place to provide sufficient quality 
assurance. 

Business critical models identified, together with information relating to the quality 
assurance processes for those models, will be provided to the Analytical Oversight 
Committee chaired by the Chief Analyst in the Department of Health, as appropriate. 

 

Third party assurances 
 
The CCG outsources many of its functions.  The process by which the CCG obtains 
assurances in relation to these outsourced services is provided below: 
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Payroll Services are provided by NHS Payroll Services hosted by Northumbria 
Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust.  The CCG receives an annual assurance letter 
setting out the results of the internal audit work carried out during the year. 

Many of the CCG support services are outsourced to the North of England 
Commissioning Support Unit (NECS), hosted by NHS England.  Assurance is 
provided by NHS England’s internal auditors, Deloitte LLP, via two ISAE 3402 Type II 
reports.  The two reports cover a combined period of 1 March 2016 to 28 February 
2017.  In addition, healthcare procurement assurances have been provided via an 
ISAE 3402 Type 1 report as at May 2016. 

The CCGs financial ledger is outsourced via a national contract to Shared Business 
Services (SBS).  An ISAE 3000 Type II report covering the operation of the system is 
issued on an annual basis and this has now been received for the financial year 
2016/17 with significant control issues have been identified. 

The Electronic Staff Record (ESR) service is provided by McKesson UK.  An ISAE 
3000 Type II report covering the operation of the national system is issued on an 
annual basis.  This has now been received for the financial year 2016/17 and no 
significant control issues have been identified. 

The ISAE3000 report issues in respect of services provided in respect of Capita in 
respect of primary care support teams did not provide assurance about the operation 
of effective controls during the year. This was largely expected due to the operational 
issues Capita have experienced during the year and additional substantive work has 
been performed by the CCGs external auditors to mitigate this risk and provide 
additional assurance. 

 
Control Issues 
 
No significant control issues have been identified. 
 
Review of economy, efficiency & effectiveness of the use of 
resources 
 
The CCG has well developed systems and processes in place for managing its 
resources. Robust financial governance arrangements have been maintained 
throughout the year, including the Standing Orders, Scheme of Reservation and 
Delegation, and Prime Financial Policies incorporated within the CCG Constitution, 
supplemented by the CCG’s Standing Financial Instructions and detailed financial 
limits, all of which provide the framework through which the CCG discharges its 
business. This is supported by comprehensive and well established systems of 
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internal control which help to govern the effective use of resources. 
 

Annual budgets were set by the CCG prior to the start of the financial year, based 
on the medium term financial plan, which set the basis on which resources will be 
utilised. The strategic and operational planning process incorporates a review and 
prioritisation of commissioning intentions and investment decisions to enable the 
most effective and efficient use of available resource. Annual budgets, and the 
longer term financial plans, are reviewed and approved by the Governing Body.  
This includes plans to deliver against the Quality, Innovation, Productivity and 
Prevention (QIPP) agenda. 
 
 

Both the Executive Committee and Commissioning, Quality, Finance and 
Performance themed Executive Committee meetings play a key role in managing 
performance and delivery against financial plans, ensuring appropriate action is 
taken to address any issues as required and providing assurance to the Governing 
Body that resources are being utilised in line with plans, and that expected 
outcomes are being delivered.  In addition, monthly reports are also reviewed by 
the Governing Body, showing performance against budgets and financial targets, 
including the QIPP plan. 
 
 

The Audit and Assurance Committee also plays a key role in providing assurance 
to the Governing Body in relation to financial governance arrangements and the 
effectiveness of systems and processes of internal control. A significant 
component of this assurance is the work of the CCG’s internal and external 
auditors. 
 
 

Specifically, as part of their annual audit, the CCG’s external auditors are required 
to satisfy themselves that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of its resources. They do this by 
examining documentary evidence and through discussions with senior managers. 
Their audit work is made available to and reviewed by the Audit and Assurance 
Committee. 
 
 

The CCG also makes use of benchmarking information produced both nationally 
and locally to enable comparison of expenditure and patient outcomes against its 
peers. This benchmarking is a key element of all commissioning processes to help 
determine value for money for new services.   
 
The CCG self assessed as Green Star for the annual Quality of Leadership 
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Assessment across all Key Lines of Enquiry and is in the process of collating 
evidence to support this.  NHSE are yet to confirm their own assessment rating for 
the CCG but this is due to be published in July.  The year-end results for the Quality 
of leadership Indicator will be available from July 2017 at www.nhs.uk/service-
search/scorecard/results/1175 and the current published rating for CCG Leadership 
is green. 
 
Delegation of functions 
 
The Governing Body approved delegated authority to the Chief Operating Officer, 
Audit Chair and Clinical Chair to approve Terms of Reference for the Joint CCG 
Committee in relation to the Sustainability and transformation plan. 
 
In relation to this programme of work only, specific delegated functions are 
highlighted below. 
 
The role of the BHP Joint Committee shall be to carry out the functions relating to 
undertaking formal public consultation and making decisions on the issues which are 
the subject of the consultation in relation to the BHP. 

This includes the following key responsibilities: 

• Determine the options appraisal process, including agreeing the evaluation 
criteria and weighting of the criteria 

• Determine the method and scope of the consultation process 
• Act as the formal body in relation to the public consultation with the Joint 

Overview and Scrutiny Committees established for it by the relevant Local 
Authorities 

• Make any necessary decisions arising from a Pre-Consultation Business Case 
(and the decision to run a formal consultation process) 

• Approve the Consultation Plan 
• Approve the text and issues on which the views of the public are sought in the 

Consultation Document 
• Take or arrange for all necessary steps to be taken to enable the CCGs to 

comply with their public sector equality duties 
• Approve the formal report on the outcome of the consultation that incorporates 

all of the representations received in response to the consultation document in 
order to reach a decision 

• Make decisions about future service configuration and service change, taking 
into account all of the information collated and representations received in 
relation to the consultation process. This should include consideration of any 
recommendations made by the Programme Board or views expressed by the 
Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee or any other relevant 
organisations. It should also include consideration of the implications of the 
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decisions in relation to potential risk to the sustainability and viability of the 
Foundation Trusts included in the remit of the Programme. 

Prior to each Joint CCG meeting, documentation is cascaded to the Governing Body 
for comment and feedback.  This feedback is then collated on behalf of the Clinical 
Chair and Chief Clinical Officer to raise during the Joint CCG meeting as appropriate. 
 
The Chief Clinical Officer and Clinical Chair have delegated authority to act and vote 
on the CCG’s behalf in the Joint CCG meeting. 
 
Minutes of the Joint CCG meetings are shared with the Governing Body. 
 
Counter fraud arrangements 
 
The CCG adheres to NHS Protect Standards for Commissioners: Fraud, Bribery and 
Corruption. Our Counter Fraud activity plays a key part in deterring risks to the 
organisation’s financial viability and probity. An annual Counter Fraud Plan is agreed 
by the Audit and Assurance Committee which focuses on the deterrence, prevention, 
detection and investigation of fraud. Counter-fraud requirements and regulations 
have been specifically discussed with both the Governing Body and wider CCG 
employees during the year to cement their knowledge and understanding of counter-
fraud arrangements, with all employees also required to complete e-learning training. 
In addition, notifications and briefings regarding actual and potential fraud are 
circulated to key staff to ensure counter-fraud vigilance is maintained and enable 
payment systems to be reviewed for emerging risks. 
 

Head of Internal Audit Opinion 
 

Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the clinical 
commissioning group, the Head of Internal Audit issued an independent and 
objective opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the clinical commissioning 
group’s system of risk management, governance and internal control. The Head of 
Internal Audit concluded that: 
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Head of Internal Audit Opinion on the Effectiveness of the System 
of Internal Control at NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield 
CCG for the year ending 31 March 2017 

 
Roles and responsibilities 
 
The Accountable Officer is responsible for maintaining a sound system of internal 
control and is responsible for putting in place arrangements for gaining assurance 
about the effectiveness of that overall system. 
 
The Annual Governance Statement is an annual statement by the Accountable 
Officer, on behalf of the Governing Body, setting out: 
 
• how the individual responsibilities of the Accountable Officer are discharged with 

regard to maintaining a sound system of internal control that supports the 
achievement of policies, aims and objectives; 
 

• the purpose of the system of internal control as evidenced by a description of the 
risk management and review processes, including the Assurance Framework 
process; and 

 
• the conduct and results of the review of the effectiveness of the system of internal 

control, including any disclosures of significant control failures together with 
assurances that actions are or will be taken where appropriate to address issues 
arising. 

 
The organisation’s Assurance Framework should bring together all of the evidence 
required to support the Annual Governance Statement requirements. 
 
In accordance with Public Sector Internal Audit Standards, the Head of Internal Audit 
is required to provide an annual opinion, based upon, and limited to, the work 
performed, on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the organisation’s risk 
management, control and governance processes (i.e. the organisation’s system of 
internal control). This is achieved through a risk-based plan of work, approved by the 
Audit Committee, which should provide a reasonable level of assurance, subject to 
the inherent limitations described below.  
 
The opinion does not imply that Internal Audit have reviewed all risks and 
assurances relating to the organisation. The opinion is substantially derived from the 
conduct of risk-based plans, generated from a robust and organisation-led 
Assurance Framework. As such, it is one component that the Accountable Officer 
takes into account in making the Annual Governance Statement. The Accountable 
Officer will need to integrate these results with other sources of assurance when 
making a rounded assessment of control for the purposes of the Annual Governance 
Statement. 
 



NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Group Annual report 2016/17 

 

 Page 86  
 
 

 

The Head of Internal Audit Opinion 
 
The purpose of my annual Head of Internal Audit Opinion is to contribute to the 
assurances available to the Accountable Officer and the Governing Body which 
underpins the organisation’s own assessment of the effectiveness of the system of 
internal control. This Opinion will in turn assist in the completion of the Annual 
Governance Statement. 
 
My opinion is set out as follows: 
 
1. Overall opinion; 
2. Basis of the opinion; 
3. Commentary. 

 
1   Overall Opinion 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2   Basis of the Opinion  
 
The basis for forming my opinion is as follows: 
 

1. An assessment of the design and operation of the underpinning Assurance 
Framework and supporting processes for governance and the management of 
risk; 

 
2. An assessment of the range of individual opinions arising from audit 

assignments, contained within risk-based plans that have been reported 
throughout the year. This assessment has taken account of the relative 
materiality of these areas and management’s progress in respect of 
addressing control weaknesses; 

 
3. Brought forward Internal Audit assurances; 

 
4. An assessment of the organisation’s response to Internal Audit 

recommendations; and 
 

5. Consideration of significant factors outside the work of Internal Audit. 
 
3. Commentary 
 
The below commentary provides the context for my opinion and together with the 
opinion should be read in its entirety. 

From my review of your systems of internal control, I am providing good assurance 
that the system of internal control has been designed to meet the organisation’s 
objectives, and that controls are generally being consistently applied.  
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Opinion Area 
 

Commentary 

Design and operation of 
the Assurance Framework 
and supporting processes 

The Business Assurance Framework has been updated 
throughout 2016/17, and presented to both the Audit and 
Assurance Committee and the Governing Body during the year.  
 
We are currently in the process of reviewing the effectiveness of 
the assurance framework, and the underpinning risk 
management processes, in bringing together all of the activities 
and objectives of the CCG.  

Outturn of Internal Audit 
Plan 
 
 

During the year 2016/17 we have undertaken our work in 
accordance with the Internal Audit annual plan.  We have 
reported our findings to the Chief Finance Officer and Chief 
Operating Officer (and other Executive colleagues where 
applicable).  Our progress reports to the Audit and Assurance 
Committee set out the areas covered by internal audit work 
during the year, our results and matters arising. 
 
All reports issued during the year to date have been issued with 
an assurance level of either good or substantial. No significant 
issues have been identified in our work to date. At the time of 
compiling our opinion a number of audits are in the process of 
being completed.  We anticipate being able to issue these 
reports by the end of April 2017, which will ensure that they are 
reflected in the final version of the Head of Internal Audit 
Opinion. 
 

Brought forward Internal 
Audit assurances 
 

A ‘significant assurance’ Head of Audit Opinion was given for 
the year ended 31 March 2016, and there are no material 
outstanding matters brought forward that will impact on the 
Head of Audit Opinion for 2016/17. 

Response to Internal 
Audit recommendations 
 
 

There is a formal process in place to follow up on outstanding 
actions to address issues identified in internal audit reports. 
Progress against outstanding actions is reported in regular 
progress reports to the Audit and Assurance Committee, with 
specific attention drawn to any actions where the target date 
has been deferred, or where no update has been received from 
officers within the CCG.  There are no outstanding issues that 
impact upon the overall opinion.    

Significant factors outside 
the work of internal audit 
 
 

Third Party Assurances 
 
The CCG outsources many of its support services to the North 
of England Commissioning Support Unit (NECS), hosted by 
NHS England, under a signed service level agreement. 
 
Assurances on the operation of certain financial and payroll 
controls during 2016/17 are provided by NHS England’s internal 
auditors, Deloitte LLP via ISAE 3402 Type II reports covering 
the period from 1 March 2016 to 28 February 2017. 
 
To date the CCG has received one report for the period 1 March 
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Opinion Area 
 

Commentary 

to 31 August 2016, issued in December 2016.  This report 
identified some weaknesses in the operation of controls during 
the period, which was set out in their ‘Basis for Qualified 
Opinion’ section of the report.  
 
A further report for the period 1 September 2016 to 28 February 
2017 is expected to be issued in April or May 2017. 
 
It is for the CCG to decide if any of the weaknesses identified in 
the issued report, and those awaited should be included within 
the CCG’s Annual Governance Statement. 
 
Assurances on the processes outsourced to NECS in relation to 
healthcare procurement have been provided by Deloitte LLP via 
an ISAE 3402 Type I report as at 10 May 2016.  
 
It is for the CCG to decide if any of the weaknesses identified in 
this issued report should be included within the CCG’s Annual 
Governance Statement, and that this provides the CCG with 
sufficient assurance that these key controls were operating 
throughout the year. 
 
Other Assurances 
The CCG also receives assurance for other outsourced services 
including: NHS Payroll Services hosted by Northumbria 
Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust; the CCG’s financial ledger 
which is outsourced by means of a national contract to Shared 
Business Services (SBS); and the Electronic Staff Record 
(ESR) service provided by McKesson UK.  
 
At the time of writing these reports / assurance letters had not 
been published.  We have therefore not taken into account any 
unpublished reports, or for systems provided by third parties 
where no assurance has been provided for the financial year. 
 

 

 
 
Stuart Fallowfield 
Director of Internal Audit 
AuditOne 
23 May 2017 
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Review of the effectiveness of governance, risk management and internal 
control 
 
I have been advised on the implications of the result of my review of the 
effectiveness of the system of internal control by the Governing Body, the Audit and 
Assurance Committee and risk/ clinical governance/quality committee, if appropriate 
and a plan to address weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of the 
system is in place. 

 
The Board Assurance Framework itself provides me with evidence that the 
effectiveness of controls that manage risks to the CCG achieving its principal 
objectives have been reviewed. 

 
As part of the CCGs risk management processes, an Assurance Framework has 
been in place throughout the year which provides a simple yet comprehensive 
method for the effective and focused management of the principal risks and 
assurances to meeting and delivering the CCG’s objectives. The Assurance 
Framework reflects the principal risks associated with the delivery of the CCGs 
strategic objectives. This includes risks around the delivery of the CCGs strategic 
aims, financial stability including QIPP delivery, and development of effective 
corporate governance and risk management. 

 
The Assurance Framework details with the key controls and assurances in place 
against each risk, together with any relevant action being taken to address gaps in 
controls and assurances where required. This is supplemented by detailed risk 
registers that record the full comprehensive list of all risks facing the CCG at an 
operational and strategic level across the five areas of delivery, development and 
transition, finance, performance and quality. 

 
I have been advised on the implications of the result of my review of the 
effectiveness of the system of internal control by the Governing Body, Executive 
Committee, and the Audit and Assurance Committee. A plan to address any 
weaknesses identified and ensure continuous improvement of the system is in place. 

 
The majority of commissioning support services are procured from NECS, including 
risk and governance expertise, together with the management of the majority of 
internal control systems and processes, for example in relation to finance systems 
and controls. 

 
A service auditor reporting process has continued to provide assurance over the 
effectiveness of controls and processes within NECS.  Reports have been received 
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to cover the period to 29 February 2016 with a ‘bridging letter’ provided by NECS to 
give assurance over the final month to 31 March 2016. The detailed findings of the 
reports and in particular those control objectives which were not achieved for the full 
period have been reviewed and are not considered to significantly impact on the 
CCG.  Additional controls are in place within the CCG in terms of the review of 
transactions processed by NECS which mitigate any risk arising from deficiencies in 
these control objectives. 

 
The CCG also has additional systems of control and review mechanisms internally 
over the work performed by NECS which provide additional assurance that there 
have been no significant internal control issues which have impacted on the CCG. 

 
Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the clinical 
commissioning group, the Head of Internal Audit issued an independent and 
objective opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the clinical commissioning 
group’s system of risk management, governance and internal control which is 
incorporated within this report. The Head of Internal Audit opinion contributes to the 
assurances available to the Accountable Officer and the Governing Body which 
underpin the Governing Body’s own assessment of the effectiveness of the CCG’s 
system of internal control. 

 
The Head of Internal Audit concluded that: 
From my review of your systems of internal control, I am providing good assurance 
that the system of internal control has been designed to meet the organisation’s 
objectives, and that controls are generally being consistently applied.  
 
NHS Cyber Attack 
 
In May 2017 the NHS was subject to a widespread Ransomware virus attack which 
affected various health organisations.  Business continuity plans were invoked by the 
CCG and NECS, which manages the IT infrastructure across the CCG and that of 
our member practices.  Precautionary measures were taken to isolate our network 
with work then carried out to ensure the latest Microsoft Patch had been uploaded 
together with the latest anti-virus software.  Plans were implemented quickly and 
successfully with co-operation from all parties.  We do not consider that this resulted 
in a significant internal control issue but lessons will be learned from this serious 
incident.  Our member practices, whist on our network, are not currently part of the 
managed domain.  This will be one of the areas reviewed in order to ensure more 
robust arrangements should such an incident happen in the future. 
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Remuneration and Staff Report  
The Remuneration Committee 
The committee advises the governing body in relation to the pay, other benefits and 
terms of employment for the chief clinical officer and other senior staff employed 
within the CCG. In 2016/17 the committee was made up of the following voting 
members: 
 
• Dr Jonathan Smith – clinical chair for the CCG 
• John Whitehouse – vice chair and lay member for governance and audit 
• David Taylor-Gooby – lay member for patient and public involvement 
• other lay members as required 

 

Policy on remuneration of senior managers 
The remuneration committee has delegated authority from the governing body to 
make recommendations on the determination of pay and remuneration for senior 
employees of the CCG and people who provide services to the CCG. The 
remuneration for senior managers for current and future financial years is determined 
in accordance with relevant guidance, best practice and national policy. 
 

Senior managers service contracts 
Contracts of employment in relation to all senior managers employed by the CCG are 
permanent in nature and subject to between three to six months’ notice of termination 
by either party. 
 

The exceptions to the above rule are: 
 

• the Clinical Chair appointment which expires in August 2018 

• the lay member - Patient and Public Involvement appointment which expires in 

July 2018 

• the Secondary Care Clinician’s term ends on 31st March 2018 

• the lay member - Governance and Audit appointment which expires in 31st 

May 2019 

• the locality lead appointments, which expire between June 2017 and October 

2021, varying by individual locality 
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Continuation of employment for all senior managers is subject to satisfactory 
performance. Performance in post and progress in achieving set objectives is 
reviewed annually. There were no individual performance review payments made to 
any senior managers during the year and there are no plans to make such 
payments in future years. This is in accordance with standard NHS terms and 
conditions of service and guidance issued by the Department of Health. 

 

Termination payments are limited to those laid down in statute and those provided 
for within NHS terms and conditions of service and under the NHS pension scheme 
regulations for those who are members of the scheme. There have been no 
payments made during 2016/17. 

 

For the purpose of this remuneration report, the definition of ‘senior managers’ is as 
per the CCG annual reporting guidance published by NHS England, and the chief 
clinical officer has determined that the members of the governing body are the 
senior managers within the organisation. For the avoidance of doubt the definition of 
senior managers is shown below: 
 
‘Those persons in senior positions having authority or responsibility for directing or 
controlling the major activities of the CCG. This means those who influence the 
decisions of the entity as a whole rather than the decisions of individual directorates 
or departments. Such persons will include advisory and lay members.’ 

 

Salaries and allowances 
The table on the next page shows the salaries and allowances of ‘senior managers’ 
within the CCG.
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CCG senior managers salaries and allowances 2016/17 (as audited by Ernst and Young LLP) 

• Important Note regarding Pension Related Benefits stated in the table below: 
Please note the amount included here is the annual increase in pension entitlement expected over twenty years. This value has been 
determined in accordance with the HMRC method of calculation, in accordance with guidance from NHS England. Employee pension 
contributions made in 2016/17 have been deducted from the total. Pension related benefits shown in the table below relate to the NHS 
pension scheme members only.  The figure shown is not intended to reflect annual remuneration received by the individual during 
the financial year. 

Name  Title 2016/17 

   Salary 
Expense 
Payments 

Performance 
Pay and 
Bonuses 

Long-term 
Performance 
Pay and 
Bonuses 

All Pension 
Related 
Benefits * 

Total 

  (Bands of   

   

(Bands of (Bands of (Bands of (Bands of 
  £5,000) (hundreds) £5,000) £5,000) £2,500) £5,000) 

  £000 £00 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Robin Armstrong Locality Lead - Easington  55 - 60 0 0 0 22.5 - 25 75-80 

Nicola Bailey  Chief Operating Officer 70 - 75 23 0 0 22.5 - 25 95 - 100 

Sarah Burns Director of Commissioning 80 - 85 0 0 0 30 - 32.5 110 - 115 

James Carlton Medical Advisor  70 - 75 0 0 0 5 – 7.5 75 - 80 

Joseph Chandy Director of Primary Care, Partnerships and Engagement 55 - 60 0 0 0 55 – 57.5 115 - 120 

Gillian Findley Director of Nursing/Nurse Advisor 40 - 45 0 0 0 27.5 - 30 70 - 75 
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Stewart Findlay Chief Clinical Officer 160 - 165 59 0 0 0 165 - 170 

Carol Hardy Locality Lead – Easington 10 -15 0 0 0 0 10 - 15 

Winny Jose Locality Lead - Sedgefield  25 - 30 0 0 0 7.5 - 10 35 - 40 

Helen Moore Locality Lead – Sedgefield (until March 2017) 30 - 35 0 0 0 0 – 2.5 30 - 35 

Hrushikesh Mudalagiri Locality Lead – Easington 25 - 30 0 0 0 175 – 177.5 200 - 205 

Mark Pickering Chief Finance Officer 70 - 75 32 0 0 20 - 22.5 95 - 100 

Jonathan Smith Chair  60 - 65 0 0 0 12.5 - 15 75 - 80 

Dilys Waller Locality Lead - Durham Dales  25 - 30 0 0 0 2.5 - 5 30 - 35 

Ian Spencer Governing Body Secondary Care Clinician 10 - 15 0 0 0 0 10 - 15 

John Whitehouse Lay Member - Governance and Audit  5 - 10 0 0 0 0 5 - 10 

David Taylor-Gooby Lay Member 5 - 10 0 0 0 0 5 - 10 

Andrew Atkin Lay Member (from February 2017) 0 - 5 0 0 0 0 0 - 5 

*Robin Armstrong – the remuneration shown in the table above for 2016-17 consists of £25,857 Senior Manager role plus £30,420 Clinical Champion role 
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CCG senior manager salaries and allowances – Comparator Figures for 2015/16 

• Important Note regarding All Pension Related Benefits stated in the table below: 
Please note the amount included here is the annual increase in pension entitlement expected over twenty years. This value has been 
determined in accordance with the HMRC method of calculation, in accordance with guidance from NHS England. Employee pension 
contributions made in 2015/16 have been deducted from the total. Pension related benefits shown in the table below relate to the NHS 
pension scheme members only.  The figure shown is not intended to reflect annual remuneration received by the individual during 
the financial year. 

Name  Title 2015/16 

   Salary 
Expense 
Payments 

Performance 
Pay and 
Bonuses 

Long-term 
Performance 
Pay and 
Bonuses 

All Pension 
Related 
Benefits * 

Total 

  (Bands of  (hundreds) 

   

(Bands of (Bands of (Bands of (Bands of 
  £5,000) 

 

£5,000) £5,000) £2,500) £5,000) 

  £000 £00 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Ann Dolphin Governing Body Lay Chair (until August 2015) 5 – 10 0 0 0 0 5 – 10 

Carol Hardy Locality Lead – Easington 5 – 10 0 0 0 0 5 – 10 

David Taylor-Gooby Lay Member - Patient and Public Engagement 5 – 10 0 0 0 0 5 – 10 

Dr Dilys Waller Locality Lead – Durham Dales 25 – 30 0 0 0 0 – 2.5 25 – 30 

Gillian Findley Director of Nursing/Nurse Advisor 40 – 45 0 0 0 45 – 47.5 85 – 90 

Hrushikesh Mudalagiri Locality Lead – Easington (from 1 November 2015) 10 – 15 0 0 0 240 – 242.5 250 – 255 

Dr Helen Moore Locality Lead – Sedgefield  30 – 35 0 0 0 0 30 – 35  
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Dr Ian Spencer Governing Body Secondary Care Clinician 10 – 15  0 0 0 0 10 – 15 

Dr Jonathan Smith 
Chair (from August 2015). Previously Locality Lead – 
Easington (until August 2015)  50 – 55 0 0 0 10 – 12.5 60 – 65 

Dr James Carlton Medical Advisor 60 – 65 0 0 0 17.5 – 20 80 – 85 

Joseph Chandy Director of Primary Care, Development and Engagement 90 – 95  0 0 0 712.5 – 715 800 – 805 

John Whitehouse Lay Member – Governance and Audit 5 – 10 0 0 0 0 5 – 10 

Keith Tallintire Lay Member (until May 2015) 0 – 5 0 0 0 0 0 – 5 

Mark Pickering Chief Finance Officer 70 – 75  30 0 0 37.5 – 40 115 – 120 

Dr Narendra Pindolia Locality Lead – Durham Dales (until February 2016) 20 – 25 0 0 0 160 – 162.5 185 – 190 

Nicola Bailey Chief Operating Officer 70 – 75 47 0 0 0 75 – 80 

Dr Robin Armstrong Locality Lead – Easington 20 – 25 0 0 0 7.5 – 10 30 – 35 

Sarah Burns Director of Commissioning 75 – 80 0 0 0 32.5 – 35 110 – 115 

Dr Stewart Findlay Chief Clinical Officer 150 – 155 0 0 0 5 – 7.5 155 – 160 

Dr Winny Jose Locality Lead – Sedgefield 25 – 30 0 0 0 7.5 – 10 35 – 40 
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Notes (as audited by Ernst and Young LLP) 

Prior year comparatives for 2015-16 are as shown in the above table. 
The taxable benefits included in the tables for both financial years relate to lease 
car benefits. No performance related benefits have been agreed for any senior 
officers. The following senior officers are not employed by the CCG and received 
no remuneration during the year from the CCG for their role as governing body 
members: 

 
• Anna Lynch, Director of Public Health (until May 2016) 
• Gill O’Neill, Interim Director of Public Health (from July 2016) 
• Lesley Jeavons, Durham County Council representative (until November 2016) 
• Lee Alexander, Durham County Council representative (from January 2017) 

 

The following senior officers are employed in joint posts shared with North Durham 
CCG: 
 
N Bailey Chief Operating Officer 
G Findley Director of Nursing (from 11 May 2015) 
J Chandy Director of Primary Care, Partnerships and Engagement (from 1 April 

2016) 
 
The remuneration shown above for these posts represents only the share that relates 
to the NHS DDES CCG role. 
 
The total remuneration earned by each individual for all work across the two CCGs in 
2016/17 is shown below: 
 
Name  Title 2016/17 

   Salary 

Expense 
payments 
(taxable) 

Total 

     
  (Bands of (Rounded to (Bands of 
  £5,000) the nearest £5,000) 
  

 
£100)  

  £000 £ £000 
N Bailey Chief Operating Officer 140 - 145 4,600 145 - 150 
G Findley Director of Nursing 90 - 95 - 90 - 95 

J Chandy 
Director of Primary Care, 
Partnerships and Engagement 115 - 120 - 115 - 120 

 

The total remuneration paid to N Bailey as Chief Operating Officer reflects that this role 
is performed for two organisations. 
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Pay multiples disclosure (as audited by Ernst and Young LLP) 
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of 
the highest-paid director/member in their organisation and the median remuneration of 
the organisation’s workforce. 
 

The banded remuneration of the highest paid director/Member in NHS Durham Dales 
Easington and Sedgefield CCG in the financial year 2016-17 was £160-£165,000 
(2015-16 was £150-£155,000). This was 3.6 times (2015-16, 3.6 times) the median 
remuneration of the workforce, which was £44,703 (2015-16, £42,612). 
 

In 2016-17, nil (2015-16, nil) employees received remuneration in excess of the 
highest-paid director/member.  Remuneration in 2016-17 ranged from £9,852 to 
£206,765 (2015-16, £6,453 to £200,758). 

 

Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay, 
benefits-in-kind, but not severance payments. It does not include employer pension 
contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions. 
 

There has been no change to the most highly paid individual since last year, and there 
has been no pay increase for senior managers outside of national agenda for change 
pay scales.  There has been no significant change to year on year multiples. 
 
The workforce has increased by 2 people since last year without significant change to 
ratio or salary range. 
 

The average number of employees over in the CCG over the year has increased 
slightly to 44 (42 in 2015-16). 
 

Band of highest paid director’s total 
remuneration 

Median total remuneration Ratio 

£160–165,000 £44,703 3.6 

 

Off-payroll engagements disclosure 
There have been no off-payroll engagements for CCG senior managers during 
2016/17 financial year. 
 

Payments for loss of office 
There have been no payments for loss of office made during 2016/17 financial year. 
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Pension benefits disclosure (as audited by Ernst and Young LLP) 
The table below shows the pensionable benefits of ‘senior managers’ within the CCG for 2016/17 financial year. In addition, a table is 
included for prior year comparator figures for 2015/16 financial year. 

 

• Important Note regarding Pension Related Benefits stated in the table below: 
Please note the amount included here is the annual increase in pension entitlement expected over twenty years. This value has been 
determined in accordance with the HMRC method of calculation, in accordance with guidance from NHS England. Employee pension 
contributions made in 2016/17 have been deducted from the total. Pension related benefits shown in the table below relate to the NHS 
pension scheme members only.  The figure shown is not intended to reflect annual remuneration received by the individual 
during the financial year. 
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2016/17 Summary: 

Name  Title 

Real 
Increase/(Reduc
tion) in Pension 
at Pension Age 

Real 
Increase/(Reduc
tion) in Lump 
Sum at Pension 
Age 

Total Accrued 
Pension at 
Pension Age at 
31 March 2016 

Lump Sum at 
Pension Aged 
Related to 
Accrued 
Pension at 31 
March 2016 

Cash Equivalent 
Transfer Value 
at 1 April 2015 

Real 
Increase/(Reduc
tion) in Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer Value 
at 31 March 
2016 

Cash Equivalent 
Transfer Value 
at 31 March 
2016 

Employer's 
Contribution to 
Partnership 
Pension 

    (Bands of £2500) (Bands of £2500) (Bands of £5000) (Bands of £5000)         

    £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's 

Dr Robin Armstrong Locality Lead – Easington 0 - 2.5 2.5 – 5 10 - 15 30 - 35 174 37 211 0 

Nicola Bailey Chief Operating Officer 0 - 2.5 0 85 - 90 0 996 53 1,050 0 

Sarah Burns Director of Commissioning 0 - 2.5 0 - 2.5 10 - 15 35 - 40 161 24 185 0 

Dr James Carlton Medical Advisor 0 - 2.5 0 - 2.5 0 - 5 0 - 5 32 12 44 0 

Joseph Chandy 
Director of Primary Care, Partnership and 
Engagement 2.5 – 5 2.5 – 5 35 - 40 90 - 95 480 74 554 0 

Gillian Findley Director of Nursing/Nurse Advisor 0 - 2.5 0 - 2.5 35 - 40 65 - 70 453 35 488 0 

Dr Winny Jose Locality Lead – Sedgefield 0 - 2.5 0 - 2.5 5 - 10 20 - 25 98 14 112 0 

Dr Helen Moore Locality Lead – Sedgefield (Left March 2017) 0 - 2.5 0 - 2.5 20 - 25 65 - 70 427 33 460 0 

Hrushikesh Mudalagiri Locality Lead – Easington 7.5 - 10 20 - 22.5 15 - 20 50 - 55 132 117 249 0 

Mark Pickering Chief Finance Officer 0 - 2.5 0 - 2.5 25 - 30 70 - 75 373 25 398 0 

Dr Jonathan Smith Locality Lead – Easington 0 - 2.5 0 - 2.5 10 - 15 25 - 30 143 3 145 0 

Dilys Waller Locality Lead - Durham Dales 0 - 2.5 0 - 2.5 10 - 15 30 - 35 197 18 215 0 

* Nicola Bailey is Chief Operating Officer for Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG and North Durham CCG on a 50:50 basis.  The disclosure above is her total pension working across the two CCGs 
* Gillian Findley is Director of Nursing for Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG and North Durham CCG on a 50:50 basis.  The disclosure above is her total pension working across the two CCGs. 
*Joseph Chandy is Director of Primary Care for Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG and North Durham CCG on a 50:50 basis.  The disclosure above is his total pension working across the two CCGs. 
 
Pension benefits in the table above are disclosed for members of the NHS pension scheme only. 
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Comparator figures for 2015/16 financial year are shown below. 

Name  Title 

Real 
Increase/(Reducti
on) in Pension at 
Pension Age 

Real 
Increase/(Reducti
on) in Lump Sum 
at Pension Age 

Total Accrued 
Pension at 
Pension Age at 31 
March 2016 

Lump Sum at 
Pension Aged 
Related to 
Accrued Pension 
at 31 March 2016 

Cash Equivalent 
Transfer Value at 
1 April 2015 

Real 
Increase/(Reducti
on) in Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer Value at 
31 March 2016 

Cash Equivalent 
Transfer Value at 
31 March 2016 

Employer's 
Contribution to 
Partnership 
Pension 

    (Bands of £2500) (Bands of £2500) (Bands of £5000) (Bands of £5000)         

    £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's 

Dr Robin Armstrong Locality Lead – Easington 0 - 2.5 0 - 2.5 7.5 - 10.0 25 - 30 163 11 174 0 

Nicola Bailey Chief Operating Officer (0 - 2.5) 0 - 2.5 80 - 85 0 - 5 970 26 996 0 

Sarah Burns Director of Commissioning 0 - 2.5 0 - 2.5 10 - 15 30 - 35 140 21 161 0 

Dr James Carlton Medical Advisor 0 - 2.5 0 - 2.5 0 - 5 0 - 5 17 16 32 0 

Joseph Chandy 
Director of Primary Care, Partnership and 
Engagement 30 - 32.5 90 - 92.5 30 - 35 90 - 95 0 480 480 0 

Gillian Findley Director of Nursing/Nurse Advisor 2.5 - 5.0 0 - 2.5 35 - 40 65 - 70 419 35 453 0 

Dr Stewart Findlay Chief Clinical Officer 0 - 2.5 0 - 2.5 15 - 20 50 - 55 374 -374 0 0 

Dr Winny Jose Locality Lead – Sedgefield 0 - 2.5 0 - 2.5 5 - 10 20 - 25 93 6 98 0 

Dr Helen Moore Locality Lead – Sedgefield 0 - 2.5 0 - 2.5 20 - 25 65 - 70 420 7 427 0 

Hrushikesh Mudalagiri Locality Lead – Easington 2.5 - 5.0 12.5 - 15.0 10 - 15 30 - 35 0 55 132 0 

Mark Pickering Chief Finance Officer 0 - 2.5 2.5 - 5.0 20 - 25 70 - 75 345 29 373 0 

Dr Narendra Pindolia Locality Lead - Durham Dales 5.0 - 7.5 20.0 - 22.5 10 - 15 40 - 45 149 152 301 0 

Dr Jonathan Smith Locality Lead – Easington 0 - 2.5 0 - 2.5 10 - 15 25 - 30 114 29 143 0 

Dilys Waller Locality Lead - Durham Dales 0 - 2.5 0 - 2.5 10 - 15 30 - 35 189 8 197 0 

• Nicola Bailey is Chief Operating Officer for Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG and North Durham CCG on a 50:50 basis. The disclosure above is her total pension working across the two CCGs. 
• Gillian Findley is Director of Nursing for Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG and Darlington CCG on a 50:50 basis. The disclosure above is her total pension working across the two CCGs. 
• James Carlton is Medical Advisor for Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG, part of his salary was recharged to Darlington CCG until 31 October 2015 when his secondment ended. The disclosure above is his total pension working across the two CCGs. 
* Pension benefits in the table above are disclosed for members of the NHS pension scheme only. 



NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Group Annual report 2015/16  

Page 103 
 

Cash equivalent transfer values 
A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member 
at a particular point in time. The benefits valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s (or other allowable 
beneficiary’s) pension payable from the scheme. CETVs are calculated in accordance with the Occupational Pension Schemes (Transfer 
Values) Regulations 2008. 
 

Real increase in CETV 
This reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer. It takes account of the increase in accrued pension due to inflation, 
contributions paid by the employee, (including the value of any benefits transferred from another scheme or arrangement) and uses 
common market valuation factors for the start and end of the period. 
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Staff report 
 

Details of the average number of employees can be found in note 3.2 of the financial 
statements, this has been audited by Ernst and Young LLP.  
 

Staff numbers and gender split 

The CCG staff gender profile is set out in the table below. This reflects our gender 
representation on the Governing Body and total CCG staff. 
 

DDES CCG Headcount Male # Male % Female # Female % 

Governing Body 18 12 67 6 33 

Total of All Staff 56 16 28.57% 40 71.43% 

VSM Staff (Included in 
Governing Body figures) 2 2 100% 0 0% 

 

This table excludes Head of Social Services and Director of Public Health as these do 
not receive remuneration from NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG. 

 
The CCG can demonstrate fair and equitable recruitment, workforce engagement and 
employment terms and conditions to ensure levels of pay and related terms and 
conditions are fairly determined for all posts, with staff doing equal work, and work rated 
as of equal value, and being entitled to equal pay. 
 
Staff sickness absence and ill health retirements 

 

 2016 2015 

Total days lost *219 141 

Total staff years 39 39 

Average working days lost 5.6 4 

*This figure does not reflect sickness absence when part time workers have had periods of sickness.   
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The table above sets out staff sickness absence data for the period January to 
December 2016, with comparative figures for the period ending 31 December 2015. 
 
Staff policies 
 
The CCG is committed to giving full and fair consideration to all applications for 
employment received including those received from disabled persons, having regard to 
their particular aptitudes and abilities. 
 
To support the human resource function the CCG has a suite of HR policies, 
implementation of which is supported by Human Resource Team within North of 
England Commissioning Support.  They cover the full range of HR issues including 
recruitment, training and career development. 
 
All appropriate support would be provided to any employee who might become a 
disabled person during the period when they were employed by the CCG. 
 
Whistleblowing arrangements 

The CCG has effective arrangements in place in relation to whistleblowing and supports 
the recommendations of the “Freedom to Speak up” review in its Organisation 
Development Plan.  The CCG has a Freedom to Speak up (Whistleblowing) policy in 
place and has appointed: 

• Executive Lead for whistleblowing as the CCG’s Freedom to Speak up Guardian 
(CCG Director of Nursing) 

• Risk Management Lead for Whistleblowing (CCG Chief Finance Officer) 
• A Lay member champion for Whistleblowing (CCG Lay Member for Patient and 

Public Involvement) 
 

Expenditure on consultancy 
 

Details of expenditure on consultancy services can be found in note 4 of the financial 
statements, with expenditure on agency staff shown in note 3.1 of the financial 
statements. 
 

 
Off-payroll engagements 
 

There have been no off-payroll payments for CCG senior managers engagements 
during 2016/17 financial year 
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Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report 
 
NHS Durham Dales Easington and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Group is not required 
to produce a Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report. Disclosures on remote 
contingent liabilities, losses and special payments, gifts, and fees and charges are included 
as notes in the Financial Statements of this report at pages 113-130. 
  
An audit certificate and report is also included in this Annual Report at page 131. 
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NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG - Annual Accounts 2016/17

Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended
31 March 2017

2016/17 2015/16
Note £000 £000

Administration costs and programme expenditure
Gross employee benefits 3.1 2,230                2,010        
Other costs 4 489,966            480,335    
Other operating revenue 2 (30)                    (105)          
Net operating costs before interest 492,166            482,240    

Investment revenue 7 -                    -            
Other (gains)/losses 8 -                    -            
Finance costs 9 -                    -            
Net operating costs for the financial year 492,166            482,240    

Of which:
Administration costs
Gross employee benefits 3.1 1,627                1,606        
Other costs 4 4,105                3,226        
Other operating revenue 2 (30)                    (33)            
Net administration costs before interest 5,702                4,799        

Programme expenditure
Gross employee benefits 3.1 603                   404           
Other costs 4 485,861            477,109    
Other operating revenue 2 -                    (72)            
Net programme expenditure before interest 486,464            477,441    

Total comprehensive net expenditure for the year 492,166            482,240    
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Statement of Changes In Taxpayers' Equity for the year ended
31 March 2017

General fund
Total 

reserves
£000 £000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2016/17:

Balance at 1 April 2016 (23,559) (23,559)

Changes in CCG taxpayers’ equity for 2016/17
Net operating costs for the financial year (492,166) (492,166)

0
Net recognised CCG expenditure for the financial year (492,166) (492,166)

Net Parliamentary funding 492,462 492,462

Balance at 31 March 2017 (23,263) (23,263)

General fund
Total 

reserves
£000 £000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2015/16:

Balance at 1 April 2015 (19,111) (19,111)

Changes in CCG taxpayers’ equity for 2015/16
Net operating costs for the financial year (482,240) (482,240)

Net recognised CCG expenditure for the financial year (482,240) (482,240)

Net Parliamentary funding 477,792 477,792
Balance at 31 March 2016 (23,559) (23,559)
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NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG - Annual Accounts 2016/17

Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended
31 March 2017

2016/17 2015/16
Note £000 £000

Cash flows from operating activities
Net operating costs for the financial year (492,166)        (482,240)        
Decrease in trade and other receivables 11 1,404             270                
(Decrease) / increase in trade and other payables 13 (1,927)            4,473             
Net cash outflow from operating activities (492,689)        (477,497)        

Net cash outflow before financing (492,689)        (477,497)        

Cash flows from financing activities
Net funding received 492,462         477,792         
Net cash inflow from financing activities 492,462         477,792         

Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents 12 (227)               295                

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 333                38                  

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 106                333                
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Notes to the financial statements

1 Accounting Policies
NHS England has directed that the financial statements of CCGs shall meet the accounting requirements of the  
Group Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health. Consequently, the following financial statements 
have been prepared in accordance with the Group Accounting Manual 2016/17 issued by the Department of 
Health. The accounting policies contained in the Group Accounting Manual follow International Financial Reporting 
Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to CCGs, as determined by HM Treasury, which 
is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board.  Where the Group Accounting Manual permits a choice of 
accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the particular circumstances of 
the CCG for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular policies adopted by the 
CCG are described below. They have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in 
relation to the accounts.

1.1 Going Concern

These accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis.

Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the 
future is anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents.

Where a CCG ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be provided (using the same 
assets, by another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set 
of financial statements.  If services will continue to be provided the Financial Statements are prepared on the going 
concern basis.

1.2 Accounting Convention

These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of 
property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.

1.3 Acquisitions and Discontinued Operations

Activities are considered to be ‘acquired’ only if they are taken on from outside the public sector. Activities are 
considered to be ‘discontinued’ only if they cease entirely. They are not considered to be ‘discontinued’ if they 
transfer from one public sector body to another.

1.4 Movement of Assets within the Department of Health Group

Transfers as part of reorganisation fall to be accounted for by use of absorption accounting in line with the 
Government Financial Reporting Manual, issued by HM Treasury. The Government Financial Reporting Manual 
does not require retrospective adoption, so prior year transactions (which have been accounted for under merger 
accounting) have not been restated. Absorption accounting requires that entities account for their transactions in 
the period in which they took place, with no restatement of performance required when functions transfer within the 
public sector.  Where assets and liabilities transfer, the gain or loss resulting is recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Net Expenditure, and is disclosed separately from operating costs.

Other transfers of assets and liabilities within the Department of Health Group are accounted for in line with IAS 20 
and similarly give rise to income and expenditure entries.
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1. Accounting Policies (continued)

1.5 Pooled Budgets

Where the CCG has entered into a pooled budget arrangement under Section 75 of the National Health Service 
Act 2006, the CCG accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenditure arising from the 
activities of the pooled budget, identified in accordance with the pooled budget agreement.

If the CCG is in a “jointly controlled operation”, the CCG recognises:
•                the assets the CCG controls;
•                the liabilities the CCG incurs;
•                the expenses the CCG incurs; and,
•                the CCG’s share of the income from the pooled budget activities.

If the CCG is involved in a “jointly controlled assets” arrangement, in addition to the above, the CCG recognises:
•                the CCG’s share of the jointly controlled assets (classified according to the nature of the assets);
•                the CCG’s share of any liabilities incurred jointly; and,
•                the CCG’s share of the expenses jointly incurred.

1.6 Critical Accounting Judgements and Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

In the application of the CCG’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. 
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are 
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those estimates and the estimates and underlying 
assumptions are continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which 
the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if 
the revision affects both current and future periods.

1.6.1  Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below) that management 
has made in the process of applying the CCG’s accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the 
amounts recognised in the financial statements:
•  determining whether income and expenditure should be disclosed as either administrative or programme 
expenditure; 
•  determining whether a substantial transfer of risks and rewards has occurred in relation to leased assets;
•  determining whether a provision or contingent liability should be recognised in respect of certain potential future 
obligations, particularly in respect of continuing healthcare.

1.6.2 Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

The following are the key estimations that management has made in the process of applying the CCG’s 
accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:
•  the assumptions applied in the estimation of activity not yet invoiced, including partially completed treatment 
spells as at the Statement of Financial Position date;    
•  the estimate of potential future liabilities in respect of continuing healthcare services; and                                                   
•  to estimate an accrual for two months of prescribing expenditure based on the ten months of actual charges 
received from the Prescription Pricing Division.

1.7  Revenue

Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs, and is 
measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable.

Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following year, that income is 
deferred.



Page 115

NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG - Annual Accounts 2016/17

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

1. Accounting Policies (continued)

1.8 Employee Benefits

1.8.1 Short-term Employee Benefits

Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is received 
from employees, including any bonuses earned but not yet taken.

The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial 
statements to the extent that employees are permitted to carry forward leave into the following period.

1.8.2 Retirement Benefit Costs

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. The scheme is an 
unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies, allowed under 
the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that 
would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the 
scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the CCG of participating in the 
scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.

For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the 
scheme. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the CCG 
commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment.

1.9 Other Expenses

Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received. 
They are measured at the fair value of the consideration payable.

Expenses and liabilities in respect of grants are recognised when the CCG has a present legal or constructive 
obligation, which occurs when all of the conditions attached to the payment have been met.

1.10 Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to 
the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

1.10.1 The CCG as Lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease 
incentives are recognised initially as a liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis 
over the lease term.

Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

1.11 Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 
24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that 
are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.

In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on 
demand and that form an integral part of the CCG’s cash management.
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1. Accounting Policies (continued)

1.12 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the CCG has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, 
it is probable that the CCG will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the 
amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to 
settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties. Where a 
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the obligation, its carrying amount is the present 
value of those cash flows using HM Treasury’s discount rate as follows:

•                Timing of cash flows (0 to 5 years inclusive): Minus 2.70% (2015/16: minus 1.55%)
•                Timing of cash flows (6 to 10 years inclusive): Minus 1.95% (2015/16: minus 1%)
•                Timing of cash flows (over 10 years): Minus 0.80% (2015/16: plus 0.80%)

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third 
party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursements will be received and the 
amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

1.13 Clinical Negligence Costs

The NHS Litigation Authority operates a risk pooling scheme under which the CCG pays an annual contribution to 
the NHS Litigation Authority which in return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to 
expenditure. Although the NHS Litigation Authority is administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases 
the legal liability remains with the CCG.

1.14 Non-clinical Risk Pooling

The CCG participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk 
pooling schemes under which the CCG pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority and, in return, 
receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any excesses 
payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating expenses as and when they become due.

1.15 Continuing healthcare risk pooling

In 2014/15, a risk pool scheme was introduced by NHS England for continuing healthcare claims, for claim periods 
prior to 31 March 2013.  Under the scheme, CCGs contribute annually to a pooled fund, which is used to settle the 
claims.  Any claims after the 31 March 2013 are managed as part of the CCGs normal business.

1.16 Contingencies

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed 
only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the 
CCG, or a present obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable that a payment will be required to 
settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured sufficiently reliably. A contingent liability is 
disclosed unless the possibility of a payment is remote.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed by the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the CCG. A 
contingent asset is disclosed where an inflow of economic benefits is probable.

Where the time value of money is material, contingencies are disclosed at their present value.
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1.17 Financial Assets

Financial assets are recognised when the CCG becomes party to the financial instrument contract or, in the case of 
trade receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the 
contractual rights have expired or the asset has been transferred.

Financial assets are classified into the following categories:
•                Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss;
•                Held to maturity investments;
•                Available for sale financial assets; and,
•                Loans and receivables.

The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial 
recognition.

All CCG assets have been classified as loans and receivables.

1.17.1 Loans and Receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments which are not 
quoted in an active market. After initial recognition, they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method, less any impairment.  Interest is recognised using the effective interest method.

Fair value is determined by reference to quoted market prices where possible, otherwise by valuation techniques.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life 
of the financial asset, to the initial fair value of the financial asset.

At the end of the reporting period, the CCG assesses whether any financial assets, other than those held at ‘fair 
value through profit and loss’ are impaired. Financial assets are impaired and impairment losses recognised if 
there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events which occurred after the initial 
recognition of the asset and which has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the asset.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the revised future cash flows discounted at the 
asset’s original effective interest rate. The loss is recognised in expenditure and the carrying amount of the asset is 
reduced through a provision for impairment of receivables.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is 
reversed through expenditure to the extent that the carrying amount of the receivable at the date of the impairment 
is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

1.18 Financial Liabilities

Financial liabilities are recognised on the Statement of Financial Position when the CCG becomes party to the 
contractual provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services 
have been received. Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the 
liability has been paid or has expired.

Loans from the Department of Health are recognised at historical cost. Otherwise, financial liabilities are initially 
recognised at fair value.

1.18.1 Other Financial Liabilities

After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method, except for loans from the Department of Health, which are carried at historic cost. The effective interest 
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the life of the asset, to the net 
carrying amount of the financial liability. Interest is recognised using the effective interest method.
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1.19 Value Added Tax

1.20 Losses and Special Payments

1.21 Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted

2. Other Operating Revenue
2016/17 2016/17 2016/17 2015/16
Admin Programme Total Total

£000 £000 £000 £000

Charitable and other contributions to revenue expenditure: non-NHS -                     -                     -                     72                  
Non-patient care services to other bodies 30                  -                     30                  33                  
Total other operating revenue 30                  -                 30                  105                

Admin revenue is revenue received that is not directly attributable to the provision of healthcare or healthcare services.

Revenue in this note does not include cash received from NHS England, which is drawn down directly into the bank account of 
the CCG and credited to the General Fund.

Revenue is totally from the supply of services. The CCG receives no revenue from the sale of goods.

The application of the Standards as revised would not have a material impact on the accounts for 2016/17, were they applied in that 
year.

The Government Financial Reporting Manual does not require the following Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2016/17, all 
of which are subject to consultation:

•                IFRS 16: Leases (application from 1 January 2019)

•                IFRS 15: Revenue for Contracts with Customers (application from 1 January 2018)

Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, including losses 
which would have been made good through insurance cover had the CCG not been bearing its own risks (with insurance premiums 
then being included as normal revenue expenditure).

Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health service or 
passed legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special control procedures 
compared with the generality of payments. They are divided into different categories, which govern the way that individual cases are 
handled.

Most of the activities of the CCG are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input tax on purchases is 
not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed 
assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.

•                IFRS 9: Financial Instruments (application from 1 January 2018)

•                IFRS 14: Regulatory Deferral Accounts (not applicable to DH group bodies)
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3. Employee benefits and staff numbers

3.1 Employee benefits 2016/17

Total
Permanent 
Employees Other Total

Permanent 
Employees Other Total

Permanent 
Employees Other

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages 1,808            1,808              -         1,329     1,329           -       479  479              -    
Social security costs 200               200                 -         144        144              -       56    56                -    
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 222               222                 -         154        154              -       68    68                -    
Gross employee benefits expenditure 2,230            2,230              -         1,627     1,627           -       603  603              -    

No amounts were recovered in respect of employee benefits and no employee benefits were capitalised during the year (2015/16: none).

2015/16 Comparative figures 2015/16

Total
Permanent 
Employees Other Total

Permanent 
Employees Other Total

Permanent 
Employees Other

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages 1,666            1,658              8            1,322     1,314           8          344  344              -    
Social security costs 145               145                 -         119        119              -       26    26                -    
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 199               199                 -         165        165              -       34    34                -    
Gross employee benefits expenditure 2,010            2,002              8            1,606     1,598           8          404  404              -    

3.2 Average number of people employed
2015/16

Total
Permanently 

employed Other Total
Number Number Number Number

Total 44                 44                   -             42          

None of the above people were engaged on capital projects (2015/16: none).

3.3  Staff sickness absence and ill health retirements
2016/17 2015/16
Number Number

Total Days Lost 219                 141        
Total Staff Years 39                   39          
Average working days Lost 6 4

The staff sickness absence data for 2016/17 is based on the 12 months ended 31 December 2016 (2015/16: 12 months ended 31 December 2015).

No staff retired early on ill health grounds during the financial year (2015/16: none).

3.4 Exit packages agreed in the financial year

No exit packages have been agreed in the financial year (2015/16: none)

2016/17

Admin ProgrammeTotal

Total Admin Programme
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3. Employee benefits and staff numbers (continued)

3.5 Pension costs

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pension Scheme. Details of the benefits payable under these 
provisions can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/Pensions.

The Scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the 
direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The Scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies 
to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities.

Therefore, the Scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the CCG of participating in the Scheme is 
taken as equal to the contributions payable to the Scheme for the accounting period.

The Scheme is subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years (until 2004, every five years) and an accounting valuation every year. 
An outline of these follows:

3.5.1 Full actuarial (funding) valuation

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the Scheme (taking into account its 
recent demographic experience), and to recommend the contribution rates to be paid by employers and scheme members. The last such 
valuation, which determined current contribution rates was undertaken as at 31 March 2012 and covered the period from 1 April 2008 to 
that date. Details can be found on the pension scheme website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. 

For 2016/17, employers’ contributions of £222,259 (2015/16: £198,622) were payable to the NHS Pension Scheme at the rate of 14.3% of
pensionable pay. The scheme’s actuary reviews employer contributions, usually every four years and now based on HMT Valuation
Directions, following a full scheme valuation. The latest review used data from 31 March 2012 and was published on the Government
website on 9 June 2012. These costs are included in the NHS Pension line of note 3.1.
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4. Operating expenses
2016/17 2016/17 2016/17 2015/16
Admin Programme Total Total

£000 £000 £000 £000
Gross employee benefits
Employee benefits excluding governing body members 952              603              1,555           1,302           
Executive governing body members 675              -               675              708              
Total gross employee benefits 1,627           603              2,230           2,010           

Other costs
Services from other CCGs and NHS England 3,308           3,340           6,648           4,453           
Services from foundation trusts 30                309,804       309,834       302,088       
Services from other NHS trusts -               517              517              460              
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies -               68,512         68,512         65,638         
Chair and Non Executive Members 109              -               109              86                
Supplies and services – general 126              650              776              2,212           
Consultancy services 69                -               69                38                
Establishment 150              46                196              186              
Transport 1                  -               1                  3                  
Premises 191              2,171           2,362           2,799           
Impairments and reversals of receivables -               -               -               1                  
Audit fees 69                -               69                77                
Other non statutory audit expenditure
·          Other services 1                  -               1                  -               
Prescribing costs -               58,294         58,294         58,783         
Pharmaceutical services -               348              348              436              
Primary Medical Services Costs (GPMS/APMS and PCTMS) -               41,315         41,315         41,040         
Other professional fees excl. audit 27                -               27                30                
Grants to other public bodies -               84                84                -               
Clinical negligence 5                  -               5                  6                  
Education and training 19                -               19                49                
CHC Risk Pool contributions -               780              780              1,950           
Total other costs 4,105           485,861       489,966       480,335       

Total operating expenses 5,732           486,464       492,196       482,345       
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5.1 Better Payment Practice Code

Measure of compliance 2016/17 2016/17 2015/16 2015/16
Number £000 Number £000

Non-NHS Payables
Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the year 20,605        127,550      15,114 81,129
Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target 20,464        127,194      14,807 79,322
Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target 99.32% 99.72% 97.97% 97.77%

NHS Payables
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the year 2,329          319,520      2,066 312,556
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target 2,303          319,066      2,039 311,792
Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target 98.88% 99.86% 98.69% 99.76%

5.2 The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998

There were no payments made in respect of late payments of commercial debts in 2016/17 (2015/16: none).

6. Income Generation Activities

The CCG does not undertake any income generation activities.

7. Investment revenue

There was no investment revenue in 2016/17 (2015/16: none).

8. Other (gains) and losses

There were no other (gains) and losses in 2016/17 (2015/16: none).

9. Finance costs

There were no finance costs in 2016/17 (2015/16: none).

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the CCG to aim to pay all valid invoices by the due date or within 30 days of receipt of 
a valid invoice, whichever is later.
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10. Operating Leases

10.1 As lessee

10.1.1 Payments recognised as an expense 2016/17 2016/17 2016/17 2015/16
Buildings Other Total Total

£000 £000 £000 £000
Payments recognised as an expense
Minimum lease payments 2,291               5                     2,296               2,747
Total 2,291               5                     2,296               2,747

10.1.2 Future minimum lease payments 2016/17 2016/17 2016/17 2015/16
Buildings Other Total Total

£000 £000 £000 £000
Payable:
No later than one year -                      5                     5                     3
Between one and five years -                      -                      -                      2
Total -                      5                     5                     5

The CCG has entered into a small number of formal operating lease arrangements, relating to leased cars and the lease of 
photocopying equipment, none of which are individually significant.  Specific lease terms vary by individual arrangement but are 
based upon standard practice for the type of arrangement involved.

The CCG occupies property owned and managed by NHS Property Services Limited.  The charges shown in Note 10.1.1 from 
NHS Property Services Limited are intended to reflect the cost of occupancy, or void space, attributable to the CCG.  During 
2015/16, this was calculated on a cost recovery basis by NHS Property Services Limited.  For 2016/17 this charging mechanism 
changed with charged from NHS Property Services Limited now based on market rents.

While our arrangements with NHS Property Services Limited fall within the definition of operating leases, the rental charge for 
future years has not yet been agreed.  Consequently, this note does not include future minimum lease payments for these 
arrangements.
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11.  Trade and other receivables Current Non-current Current Non-current
31 March 2017 31 March 2017 31 March 2016 31 March 2016

£000 £000 £000 £000

NHS receivables: Revenue 473                    -                        799                    -                        
NHS prepayments 549                    -                        930                    -                        
NHS accrued income 1,238                 -                        2,743                 -                        
Non-NHS and Other WGA receivables: Revenue 485                    -                        268                    -                        
Non-NHS and Other WGA prepayments 135                    -                        103                    -                        
Non-NHS and Other WGA accrued income 703                    -                        102                    -                        
VAT -                        -                        43                      -                        
Other receivables 2                        -                        1                        -                        
Total trade and other receivables 3,585                 -                        4,989                 -                        

Total current and non current 3,585                 4,989

11.1 Receivables past their due date but not impaired 31 March 2017 31 March 2016
£000 £000

By up to three months 256                    49
By three to six months -                        285
By more than six months 281                    5
Total 537                    339

£282k of the amount above has subsequently been recovered post the Statement of Financial Position date.

The CCG did not hold any collateral against receivables outstanding at 31 March 2017 (31 March 2016: none).

11.2  Provision for impairment of receivables 31 March 2017 31 March 2016

The great majority of trade is with other NHS bodies, including other CCGs as commissioners for NHS patient care services.  As CCGs are 
funded by Government to commission NHS patient care services, no credit scoring of them is considered necessary.

The CCG has reviewed all receivables to determine whether an impairment value is required.  In determining the recoverability of a 
receivable, the CCG considers any change in credit quality of the receivable from the date credit was initially granted up to the reporting 
date.  The overall level of credit risk is considered to be relatively low due to the proportion of the customer base which is comprised of 
NHS bodies.

The CCG did not hold any provision for impairment of receivables during 2016/17 (2015/16: £nil).
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12. Cash and cash equivalents

2016/17 2015/16
£000 £000

Balance at 1 April 333              38                
Net change in year (227)             295              
Balance at 31 March 106              333              

Made up of:
Cash with the Government Banking Service 105              333              
Cash in hand 1                  -                   
Cash and cash equivalents as in Statement of Financial Position 106              333              

Balance at 31 March 106              333              

The CCG held £nil cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 2017 on behalf of patients (31 March 2016: £nil).

13. Trade and other payables
Current Non-current Current Non-current
2016/17 2016/17 2015/16 2015/16

£000 £000 £000 £000

NHS payables: revenue 5,235           -                   5,275           -                   
NHS accruals 2,343           -                   3,229           -                   
Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Revenue 2,103           -                   4,060           -                   
Non-NHS and Other WGA accruals 16,743         -                   16,186         -                   
Social security costs 30                -                   21                -                   
VAT 44                -                   -                   -                   
Tax 33                -                   24                -                   
Other payables 423              -                   86                -                   
Total trade and other payables 26,954         -                   28,881         -                   

Total current and non-current 26,954         28,881         

Other payables include £335k in respect of outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2017 (31 March 2016: £30k).

14. Provisions
There were no provisions to recognise in the financial statements at 31 March 2017 (31 March 2016: none).

15. Contingencies
There were no contingent assets or liabilities at 31 March 2017 (31 March 2016: none).

At 31 March 2017, the CCG had no liabilities due in future years under arrangements to buy out the liability for early retirement 
over 5 years (31 March 2016: none).
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16. Commitments

17. Financial instruments

17.1 Financial risk management

17.1.1 Currency risk

17.1.2 Interest rate risk

17.1.3 Credit risk

17.1.4 Liquidity risk

The CCG has no borrowings and has only limited powers to borrow funds from government for capital 
expenditure, subject to affordability as confirmed by NHS England. The CCG therefore has low exposure to 
interest rate fluctuations.

Because the majority of the CCG's revenue comes from parliamentary funding, the CCG has low exposure to 
credit risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are in receivables from customers, as 
disclosed in the trade and other receivables note.

The CCG is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which are financed from resources 
voted annually by Parliament. The CCG draws down cash to cover expenditure, as the need arises. The CCG 
is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.

Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during 
the period in creating or changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities.

As the CCG is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced 
by business entities. Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than 
would be typical of listed companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The CCG has 
limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-
day operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the CCG in undertaking its 
activities.

Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined 
formally within the CCG's standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Any 
treasury activity would be subject to review by the CCG's internal auditors.

The CCG is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities 
being in the UK and sterling based. The CCG has no overseas operations. The CCG therefore has low 
exposure to currency rate fluctuations.

There were no contracted or non-cancellable contracts entered into by the CCG at 31 March 2017 which are 
not otherwise included in these financial statements (31 March 2016: none).
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17. Financial instruments (continued)

17.2 Financial assets

Loans and 
Receivables Total

Loans and 
Receivables Total

2016/17 2016/17 2015/16 2015/16
£000 £000 £000 £000

Receivables:
·          NHS 1,711           1,711           3,542             3,542      
·          Non-NHS 1,188           1,188           370                370         
Cash at bank and in hand 106              106              333                333         
Other financial assets 2                   2                   1                     1             
Total at 31 March 3,007           3,007           4,246             4,246      

17.3 Financial liabilities

Other Total Other Total
2016/17 2016/17 2015/16 2015/16

£000 £000 £000 £000

Payables:
·          NHS 7,578           7,578           8,504             8,504      
·          Non-NHS 19,269         19,269         20,332           20,332    
Total at 31 March 26,847         26,973         28,836           28,836    

18. Operating segments

19. Pooled budgets

The CCG entered into a pooled budget arrangement with Durham County Council and North Durham CCG in 
respect of the Better Care Fund, with effect from 1 April 2015, through a section 75 agreement.  The BCF 
operates under a lead commissioner arrangement, with services being commissioned by  a lead organisation on 
behalf of the pooled budget, rather than being a jointly controlled operation or jointly controlled asset 
arrangement.

The CCG contribution to the pooled budget in 2016/17 was £21,935k which was used to commission a range of 
health and social care services in line with the agreed objectives of the Better Care Fund (2015/16: £21,967k).  
This contribution to the Better Care Fund is recognised within the financial statements as CCG expenditure.

No other pooled budget arrangements are in place.

The CCG has considered the definition of an operating segment contained within IFRS 8 in determining its 
operating segments, in particular considering the internal reporting to the CCG's Governing Body, considered to 
be the 'chief operating decision maker' of the CCG, which was used for the purpose of resource allocation and 
assessment of performance.

All activity performed by the CCG relates to its role as a commissioner of healthcare for its relevant population.  
As a result, the CCG considers that it has only one operating segment, being the commissioning of healthcare 
services.

An analysis of both the income and expenditure and net assets relating to the segment can be found in the 
statement of comprehensive net expenditure and statement of financial position respectively.

The CCG received delegated responsibility for the commissioning of certain primary medical care services from 
NHS England with effect from 1 April 2015.  The CCG has reviewed this against the definition of an operating 
segment but does not consider it to be a separate operating segment as the value of the delegated budgets 
amount to less than 10% of the total CCG budget and the performance of those budgets are reported and 
managed as part of the CCGs overall commissioning budgets.



Page 128

NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG - Annual Accounts 2016/17

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

20. Related party transactions

CCG Governing Body member Related Party

Payments to 
Related 

Party

Receipts 
from Related 

Party

Amounts 
owed to 
Related 

Party

Amounts 
due from 

Related 
Party

£000 £000 £000 £000

GP Partner Silverdale Family Practice 660 0 1 0
South Durham Health CIC 2,672 19 46 0

Dr J Smith NHS England 120 35 7 0
Clinical Chair Academic Health Science Network 192 0 0 0

Bishopgate Medical Centre 1,756 0 4 0
Dr S Findlay Durham Dales Health Federation 1,350 0 0 0
Chief Officer NHS Newcastle Gateshead CCG 24 47 0 47

N Bailey
Chief Operating Officer North Durham CCG 540 3,026 206 1,171

North Durham CCG 540 3,026 206 1,171
Shinwell Medical Practice 1,005 0 5 0
Carodoc Practice 698 0 0 0

J Chandy South Durham Health CIC 2,672 19 46 0
Director of Primary Care, Partnerships and Engagement Phoenix Medical Group 1,161 0 1 0

D Taylor-Gooby
Lay Member Durham County Council 30,561 9,905 422 1,115

Dr H Moore Ferryhill Medical Practice 1,873 0 18 0
Locality Lead - Sedgefield South Durham Health CIC 2,672 19 46 0

G Findley North Durham CCG 540 3,026 206 1,171
Director of Nursing McCardle Care Homes 59 0 0 0

M Pickering County Durham and Darlington NHS FT 152,561 0 511 271
Chief Finance Officer Tees, Esk & Wear Valleys NHS FT 48,280 11 74 0

A Lynch Durham County Council 30,561 9,905 422 1,115
Director of Public Health (DCC) - non voting North Durham CCG 540 3,026 206 1,171

G O'Neil
Acting Director of Public Health (DCC) - non voting Durham County Council 30,561 9,905 422 1,115

L Alexander
Durham County Council - non voting Durham County Council 30,561 9,905 422 1,115

L Jeavons Durham County Council 30,561 9,905 422 1,115
Durham County Council - non voting Tees, Esk & Wear Valleys NHS FT 48,280 11 74 0

Bishops Close Practice 1,095 0 6 0
Dr W Jose South Durham Health CIC 2,672 19 46 0
Locality Lead - Sedgefield Locality Jubilee Medical Practice 1,341 0 1 0

Dr D Waller Woodview Surgery 566 0 0 0
Locality Lead - Durham Dales Durham Dales Health Federation 1,350 0 0 0

Blackhall and Peterlee Practice 1,520 0 0 70
South Duham Health CIC 2,672 19 46 0
Hartlepool Hospice 317 0 6 0

Dr R Armstrong South Tees FT 10,321 0 78 0
Locality Lead Easington Astrazeneca 0 2 0 0

S Burns
Director of Commissioning Health Education North East 5 0 0 0

C Hardy South Durham Health CIC 2,672 19 46 0
Locality Lead - Easington Horden Group Practice 931 0 0 0

Dr J Carlton Evenwood Medical Practice 733 0 1 0
Medical Advisor Durham Dales Health Federation 1,350 0 0 0

J Whitehouse North Durham CCG 540 3,026 206 1,171
Lay Member Governance and Audit County Durham and Darlington NHS FT 152,561 0 511 271

Shotton Medical Practice 542 0 0 0
Dr H Mudalagiri Station Road Surgery 724 0 2 0
Locality Lead - Easington South Durham Health CIC 2,672 19 46 0

During the year the CCG has undertaken transactions with the following CCG Governing Body members or members of the key management staff, or parties related to any 
of them:
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20. Related party transactions (continued)

• NHS England;
• NHS Foundation Trusts;
• NHS Trusts;
• NHS Litigation Authority; and,
• NHS Business Services Authority.

2015/16 comparative figures:

CCG Governing Body member Related Party

Payments 
to Related 

Party

Receipts 
from 

Related 
Party

Amounts 
owed to 
Related 

Party

Amounts 
due from 

Related 
Party

£000 £000 £000 £000

NHS England 3 1 0 0
A Dolphin Durham County Council 30,306 8,395 209 177
Lay Chair (Leaver 05.08.15) Pioneering Care Partnership 258 0 0 0

Bishopgate Medical Centre 1,737 0 115 0
Durham Dales Health Federation 1,428 0 4 0

Dr S Findlay Durham County Council 30,306 8,395 209 177
Chief Officer NHS Confederation 8 0 0 0

N Bailey North of England CSU 4,384 0 143 0
Chief Operating Officer North Durham CCG 1,597 929 117 2,430

Shinwell Medical Practice 731 0 123 0
Carodoc Practice 684 0 42 0

J Chandy Jupiter House Practice 173 0 21 0
South Durham Health CIC 3,203 11 74 0
Wheatley Hill and Thornley Practice 1,148 0 50 0

K Tallintire
Lay Member (Leaver 29.05.15) Durham County Council 30,306 8,395 209 177

D Taylor-Gooby William Brown Medical Centre 1,938 0 106 0
Lay Member Durham County Council 30,306 8,395 209 177

Dr H Moore Ferryhill Medical Practice 1,971 0 140 0
Locality Lead - Sedgefield South Durham Health CIC 3,203 11 74 0

G Findley North Durham CCG 1,597 929 117 2,430
Director of Nursing Darlington CCG 183 607 186 781

M Pickering County Durham and Darlington NHS FT 149,725 7 2,643 378
Chief Finance Officer Tees, Esk & Wear Valleys NHS FT 47,157 13 87 13

A Lynch Durham County Council 30,306 8,395 209 177
Director of Public Health (DCC) - non voting North Durham CCG 1,597 929 117 2,430

L Jeavons Durham County Council 30,306 8,395 209 177
Durham County Council - non voting Tees, Esk & Wear Valleys NHS FT 47,157 13 87 13

Dr W Jose South Durham Health CIC 3,203 11 74 0
Locality Lead - Sedgefield Locality Jubilee Medical Practice 1,319 0 91 0

Dr D Waller Woodview Surgery 601 0 28 0
Locality Lead - Durham Dales Durham Dales Health Federation 1,428 0 4 0

Dr N Pindolia Station View Medical Centre 1,509 0 128 0
Locality Lead - Durham Dales (Leaver 14.02.16) Durham Dales Health Federation 1,428 0 4 0

Dr J Smith South Durham Health CIC 3,203 11 74 0
Chair (Commenced 05.08.15) NHS England 3 1 0 0
Locality Lead - Easington (Leaver 04.08.15) Silverdale Family Practice 670 0 47 0

C Hardy South Durham Health CIC 3,203 11 74 0
Locality Lead - Easington Horden Group Practice 909 0 124 0

Dr J Carlton Blacketts Medical Practice 1 0 0 0
Medical Advisor Darlington CCG 183 607 186 781

South Durham Health CIC 3,203 11 74 0
Dr R Armstrong Hartlepool Hospice 233 0 6 0
Locality Lead - Easington Blackhall & Peterlee Practice 1,361 0 55 0

J Whitehouse North Durham CCG 1,597 929 117 2,430
Lay Member Governance and Audit County Durham and Darlington NHS FT 149,725 7 2,643 378

Dr H Mudalagiri Shotton medical Practice 420 0 24 0
Station Road Surgery 639 0 36 0
South Durham Health CIC 3,203 11 74 0

Locality Lead - Easington (Commenced 01.11.15)

The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year the CCG has had a significant number of material transactions with 
entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent Department. For example:

In addition, the CCG has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and other central and local government 
bodies. Most of these transactions have been with Durham County Council.

During 2015/16 the CCG undertook transactions with the following CCG Governing Body members or members of the key management staff, or 
parties related to any of them:

Director of Primary Care, Partnerships and 
Engagement
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21. Events after the end of the reporting period

22. Losses and special payments

There has been 1 loss of £66 identified in 2016/17 relating to bank charges for late payment (2015/16: £1k).

23. Financial performance targets

CCGs have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).

The CCG's performance against those duties was as follows:

2016/17 2016/17 2015/16 2015/16
Target Performance Target Performance

Expenditure not to exceed income 503,976          492,166          490,213 482,240
Capital resource use does not exceed the amount 
specified in Directions -                      -                      -                   -                  
Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount 
specified in Directions 503,976          492,166          490,213 482,240
Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not 
exceed the amount specified in Directions -                      -                      -                   -                  

Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does 
not exceed the amount specified in Directions 43,261            41,248            42,040             41,040            
Revenue administration resource use does not 
exceed the amount specified in Directions 6,265              5,702              6,481 4,799

Performance against the revenue expenditure duties is further analysed below:

2016/17 2016/17 2016/17
Programme 

Resource
Administration 

Resource Total
£000 £000 £000

Revenue resource 497,711          6,265               503,976          
Net operating cost for the financial year 486,464          5,702               492,166          
Underspend against revenue resource 11,247            563                  11,810            

2015/16 2015/16 2015/16
Programme 

Resource
Administration 

Resource Total
£000 £000 £000

Revenue resource 483,732          6,481               490,213          
Net operating cost for the financial year 477,441          4,799               482,240          
Underspend against revenue resource 6,291              1,682               7,973              

There are no post balance sheet events which will have a material effect on the financial statements of the CCG.

The CCG received no capital resource during 2016/17 and incurred no capital expenditure (2015/16: none).

During 2016/17, all CCGs were mandated by NHS England to hold 1% of their total funding allocation uncommitted as a ‘risk 
reserve’.  For DDES CCG this equated to £4,837k.  In March 2017, NHS England confirmed that all CCGs were required to 
increase their surplus by the value of this risk reserve.  This has resulted in the increase in underspend against revenue 
resource in 2016/17 shown above.  
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